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Chairman’s Statement
FEHE

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board of directors (the "Board”) of Yues
International Holdings Group Limited (the “Company”), | am pleased
to present the annual report of the Company and its subsidiaries (the
“Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2022 (the “Year").

Since the outbreak of COVID-19 in 2020, the entire logistics industry
has been severely disrupted, especially the efficiency of logistics.
The outbreak of the epidemic has caused a slowdown in the global
economy, and the prospects for global economic recovery remain
uncertain. In 2022, global logistics and supply chains faced various
unpredictable disruptions, such as high inflation, extreme weather,
and geopolitical issues. However, with the continuous optimization
and adjustment of China’s new epidemic policy, China’s economy
has gradually returned to normal operation.

In 2022, the overall demand in Mainland China for the Group’s
operation in the provision of both domestic transportation and
international freight forwarding agency service, have yet to resume
to the normal level as in the period before the pandemic. Considering
the market uncertainty, the Group has been managing operating
expenses and reducing marketing and promotion budgets cautiously.

BUSINESS REVIEW

As a one-stop in-plant logistics services provider in Mainland China,
the Group strove to sustain relatively stable business development
by maintaining quality services and providing customers with
comprehensive solutions. Since the leasing of a warehouse with a
total gross floor area of over 54,000 square metres in Dongguan city
in 2020, the Group had two warehouses in Guangdong province with
total gross floor area of approximately 66,000 square metres. The
Group has been able to leverage the advantages of scale and
facilities of such new warehouse and further integrate its warehouse
resources in the Guangdong province and optimise its customer
base according to resource deployment. At the meantime, the
Group has been actively exploring sources of new customers to
broaden its customer base. However, the overall demand in
Mainland China for the Group’s operation in the provision of both
domestic transportation and international freight forwarding agency
service in 2022 have yet to resume to the normal level as in the
period before the pandemic. The overall revenue of the Group
decreased by approximately RMB32.3 million or approximately 15.3%
from approximately RMB211.8 million for the year ended 31
December 2021 (the “Previous Year") to approximately RMB179.5
million for the Year.
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Cha | rman ’S Statement (continuea)

In view of the aforementioned, the Group reduced the proportion of
outsourcing cost to total revenue from approximately 37.9% in 2021
to approximately 32.1% in 2022 through strict control of outsourcing
costs. The sub-contracting expenses decreased by approximately
RMB22.5 million from approximately RMB80.2 million for the Previous
Year to approximately RMB57.7 million for the Year.

In addition, the Group has not recognised any impairment loss on its
property, plant and equipment during the Year (2021: approximately
RMB16.5 million). As a result of the aforementioned, the Group's 10ss
for the Year decreased significantly by approximately 99% to
approximately RMBO.2 million (2021: approximately RMB17.1 million).

OUTLOOK

Looking forward to 2023, although the development of the logistics
industry still faces challenges such as sluggish global economic
recovery, increased pressure on transportation costs, and decrease
in labour force, with the continuous optimisation and adjustment of
China’s new crown epidemic policy, China’s economy has gradually
returned to normal operation. The expected scale of the logistics
industry will continue to increase steadily. The Group will continue to
provide high quality warehousing services and expects to actively
diversify the logistics services to a broader spectrum of industries, in
anticipation of any potential change in the customers’ operation
demand for logistics services.

The Group will continue to strive to find opportunities in the face of
challenges, including but not limited to participating in Chinese
Medicine-related businesses such as the storage and distribution of
Chinese Medicine products (the “Chinese Medicine Business”),
SO as to achieve return to shareholders and a sustainable business
growth. The Group intends to commence Chinese Medicine Business
in the PRC with a main focus on the agency, dealership and/or
distributorship business in relation to Chinese Medicine
pharmaceutical products and big health industry-related products,
which may involve setting up self-run point of sales and/or sales
office or other mode of cooperation with other parties.
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Cha | rman ’S Statement (continuea

The Group is now actively identifying potential strategic partners in
different areas, including but not limited to plantation, research,
manufacturing, sales of the Chinese Medicine Business, in order to
develop new economic partnerships. The Group will also seek
appropriate business development opportunities for future
acquisitions and/or setting up the joint-venture business,
cooperation and/or investment opportunities in the Chinese
Medicine industry such as Chinese medicine culture dissemination,
retail of Chinese medicine, Chinese medicine health care and health
tourism, when appropriate, through integrating internal resources
and the business network of the chairman of the Company who has
extensive experience in the Chinese Medicine Business.

APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board, | would like to express my heartfelt thanks to
our staff for diligently performing their duties and overcoming
difficulties during a challenging year. Their commitment has enabled
the Group to maintain stability in its business amidst challenges. At
the same time, | would like to thank all shareholders, customers and
business partners for their trust and support to the Group.

Le Kang
Chairman

Hong Kong, 30 March 2023
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Management Discussion and Analysis

B E R M

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group is an established logistics service provider in the PRC
which provides a wide range of logistics services to meet the needs
of the customers’ supply chains including (i) transportation; (ii)
warehousing; (iii) in-plant logistics; and (iv) customisation services
(consisting mainly of labelling services and bundling services).

The Group offers transportation services which primarily involve the
delivery of the customers’ production materials, components and
finished goods to their downstream clients, manufacturing plants
and/or designated locations. The Group has two warehouses located
in the Guangdong Province with a total gross floor area of
approximately 66,000 square metres which offer warehousing
services to customers. The Group's in-plant logistics services cover
the management of the movement of (i) production materials and
components and work-in-progress to the production lines within the
customers’ manufacturing plants; and (ii) finished goods out to their
factory gate. The Group's range of services gives it a competitive
advantage over other logistics service providers in the PRC which
offer only a limited range of services.

Since the outbreak of COVID-19 in 2020, the entire logistics industry
has been severely disrupted, especially the efficiency of logistics.
The outbreak of the epidemic has caused a slowdown in the global
economy, and the prospects for global economic recovery remain
uncertain. In 2022, global logistics and supply chains faced various
unpredictable disruptions, such as high inflation, extreme weather,
and geopolitical issues. However, with the continuous optimization
and adjustment of China’s new epidemic policy, China’s economy
has gradually returned to normal operation. According to data from
the China Federation of Logistics and Purchasing, in the first three
quarters of 2022, the total goods value of nation-wide social logistics
was approximately RMB247 trillion, a year-on-year increase of
approximately 3.5%. Such growth was approximately 0.4% higher
than that of the first half of the year, and was approximately 0.5%
higher than the GDP growth rate in the same period. In the first three
quarters of 2022, the total revenue of the logistics industry was
approximately RMB9.3 trillion, a year-on-year increase of
approximately 5.9%, which was higher than the growth rate of the
total goods value of nation-wide logistics in the same period.
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Management Discussion and Analysis ontinea

ERE B RA

In 2022, the overall demand for the Group’s operation in the
provision of both domestic transportation and international freight
forwarding agency service, have yet to resume to the normal level as
in the period before the pandemic. Considering the market
uncertainty, the Group has been managing operating expenses and
reducing marketing and promotion budgets cautiously. At the
meantime, the spiraling outsourced labour and shipping costs have
impacted the Group. However, through strict control of outsourcing
costs, the Group reduced the proportion of outsourcing to total
revenue from approximately 37.9% in 2021 to approximately 32.1%
in 2022. In addition, the Group has not recognise any impairment
loss on its property, plant and equipment during the Year (2021:
approximately RMB16.5 million). Due to the aforementioned reasons,
the Group's loss for the Year decreased significantly by
approximately 99% to approximately RMBO0.2 million (2021:
approximately RMB17.1 million).

OUTLOOK

Looking forward to 2023, although the development of the logistics
industry still faces challenges such as sluggish global economic
recovery, increased pressure on transportation costs, and decrease
in labour force, with the continuous optimisation and adjustment of
China’s coronavirus epidemic policy, China’s economy has gradually
returned to normal operation. The expected scale of the logistics
industry will continue to increase steadily. The Group will continue to
provide high quality warehousing services and expects to actively
diversify the logistics services to a broader spectrum of industries, in
anticipation of any potential change in the customers’ operation
demand for logistics services.

The Group will continue to strive to find opportunities in the face of
challenges, including but not limited to participating in Chinese
Medicine-related businesses such as the storage and distribution of
Chinese Medicine products (the “Chinese Medicine Business”),
S0 as to achieve return to shareholders and a sustainable business
growth. The Group intends to commence Chinese Medicine Business
in the PRC with a main focus on the agency, dealership and/or
distributorship business in relation to Chinese Medicine
pharmaceutical products and big health industry-related products,
which may involve setting up self-run point of sales and/or sales
office or other mode of cooperation with other parties.

20224 - AEBEIREENER REREERRE
RF 2% - ABREFSNEAMARERZRE
AT IEFE K - ZEF MBS THBPEE - A5 H
—EFEEREEMI A EHREETES -
[RIEF + SN 45 B) 7 Bk A 3 X AN B 1 39 2N B (38 Y
BE - BEWL - AEEF B IE SN
AN - S ) FE RS AR SR A KI EE 1 R 2021 F Y AY
37.9% % L B 2022 F B9 4932.1% © 5N - AEE
RAFEWEREDE - BE LB EERETAR
EEB (20214  HARK165HET) - AR E
iR E - AR E B R A FE E R EEARER D4 99%
EHARB02BEETL(2021F  HARKI718H

b —

&IL) ©

RE

R 20234 - BE VIR FE A TR ) i 2 2R
ERZ  ERRAEN LT BBNRDEY
g BREFPENITRBEBRSEEL NS
B PRKEDESMELERTET - WRENE
AREERERSER  AEEBEERHEE
MR FIRY - LFRHBEREYRRSEZ TEBR
EFEZNTE  NWEHEFHYRREELT
SKH)BHEEIC -

kS AEESEES HSHRE(BRER
TRR2EREEAAET RIS HETE
ZER((PHEEXE)))  CHERBREDHER
EBONARERR  AREHEETEMARTE
BER TREINTBEBEERNRAREERMA
MERMWRE  EHKk XD HER  Ehaae
WGBS BEHER N, S E R E R
BEHHMEMAFERA -

HEREBZEREBARAT/ —T - —FFH

9



10

Management Discussion and Analysis ontinea

ERET R

The Group is now actively identifying potential strategic partners in
different areas, including but not limited to plantation, research,
manufacturing, sales of the Chinese Medicine Business, in order to
develop new economic partnerships. The Group will also seek
appropriate business development opportunities for future
acquisitions and/or setting up the joint-venture business,
cooperation and/or investment opportunities in the Chinese
Medicine industry such as Chinese medicine culture dissemination,
retail of Chinese medicine, Chinese medicine health care and health
tourism, when appropriate, through integrating internal resources
and the business network of the chairman of the Company who has
extensive experience in the Chinese Medicine Business.

FINANCIAL REVIEW
Revenue

The Group is principally engaged in provision of transportation,
warehousing, in-plant logistics and customisation service. The overall
revenue of the Group decreased by approximately RMB32.3 million
or approximately 15.3% from approximately RMB211.8 million for the
Previous Year to approximately RMB179.5 million for the Year.

Transportation service

Transportation service primarily involved (i) the delivery of the
customers' production materials or components from their suppliers
to their manufacturing plants; (i) the arrangement for transportation
of the customers’ finished goods to their designated locations or
downstream customers; (iii) sea transportation services; and (iv)
international freight forwarding agency services. The transportation
service of the Group primarily covered across the PRC and has
expanded to Egypt since late 2018.

Revenue from the transportation service recorded a decrease of
approximately 23.5% from approximately RMB95.6 million for the
Previous Year to approximately RMB73.1 million for the Year mainly
attributable to a decrease in orders from customers for local
transportation services in the PRC and international freight
forwarding agency services caused by the lockdown policy imposed
by the PRC government and the set-up of production facilities in
local countries by overseas customers respectively.
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Management Discussion and Analysis ontinea

ERE B RA

Warehousing service

The warehousing service of the Group included provision of
inventory storage and management services. As at 31 December
2022, the Group had two warehouses in the PRC with total gross
floor area of approximately 66,000 square metres.

Revenue from the warehousing service decreased by approximately
21.1% from approximately RMB43.7 million for the Previous Year to
approximately RMB34.5 million for the Year mainly due to cessation
of the use of one of the Group’s warehouses in Guangdong Province
of the PRC in July 2021 pursuant to the local government’s land
resumption plan.

In-plant logistics service

The in-plant logistics service primarily included management of the
movement of (i) production materials and components and work-in-
progress to the production lines within the customers’
manufacturing plants; and (ii) finished goods out to factory gate of
the customers.

Revenue generated from the in-plant logistics service slightly
decreased by approximately 2.5% from approximately RMB70.9
million for the Previous Year to approximately RMB69.1 million for
the Year.

Customisation service

The customisation service mainly comprised of labelling services and
bundling services which is subject to the demand from its customers
on an as-needed basis.

Revenue generated from the customisation service amounted to
approximately RMB1.6 million and approximately RMB2.8 million for
the Previous Year and the Year, respectively.
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EIRE St RS T

Other income and net gains/(losses)

Other income and net gains/(losses) mainly consisted of net
exchange gains, interest income from loans receivable and bond
measured at amortised cost, bank interest income and government
grants. A net gain increased from approximately RMB4.1 million for
the Previous Year to approximately RMB6.8 million for the Year
mainly due to (i) net exchange gains arising from the translation of
foreign currency denominated monetary items of approximately
RMB2.6 million for the Year, compared to net foreign exchange
losses of approximately RMBO.3 million for the Previous Year; and (ii)
increase in interest income from loans receivable and bond
measured at amortised cost by approximately RMB2.0 million; offset
by (iii) decrease in gain on lease modification by approximately
RMB2.3 million principally attributed by the derecognition of right-of-
use assets and corresponding lease liabilities for four of the Group's
warehouses since July 2021 as a result of the local government’s
land resumption plan.

Employee benefits expenses

Employee benefits expenses primarily consisted of (i) wages and
salaries; (i) social security fund and insurance contribution; and (i)
other allowances and benefits.

The employee benefits expenses remained relatively stable at
approximately RMB71.7 million and approximately RMB70.6 million
for the Previous Year and the Year, respectively.

Sub-contracting expenses

Sub-contracting expenses primarily represented the amount paid to
subcontractors for the provision of certain transportation services.
Sub-contracting expenses were incurred for the orders for domestic
transportation service and international freight forwarding agency
services by our customers, whereby the Group, through outsourcing
to independent subcontractors, assisted the customers to obtain
cargo space from shipping companies or shipping agents that meet
their requirements. The sub-contracting expenses decreased by
approximately RMB22.5 million from approximately RMB80.2 million
for the Previous Year to approximately RMB57.7 million for the Year
mainly contributed by a corresponding decrease in revenue for the
Year.
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Lease payment relating to short-term leases

Short-term lease payment mainly comprised lease payments for
rental expense for office premises, warehouses, staff quarters and
forklifts, which do not meet the definition of lease liability as lessee
under HKFRS 16. Short-term lease payment has kept at the same
level of approximately RMB28.5 million for the Year and
approximately RMB28.3 million for the Previous Year.

Depreciation of right-of-use assets

The Group has certain leases pursuant to HKFRS 16 in respect of (i)
premises comprising warehouses, office premises and staff quarters,
and (i) plant and machinery such as forklifts. The depreciation of
right-of-use assets decreased from approximately RMB9.7 million for
the Previous Year to approximately RMB3.6 million for the Year
mainly due to maturity of certain existing lease contracts, and the
derecognition of right-of-use assets of one of the Group’s
warehouses in Guangdong Province of the PRC in July 2021 as a
result of the local government's land resumption plan.

Finance costs

Finance costs mainly represented interest expenses on lease
liabilities. Finance costs has decreased significantly from
approximately RMB2.0 million for the Previous Year to approximately
RMBO.4 million for the Year mainly attributable by the derecognition
of lease liabilities relating to the warehouse in Guangdong Province
of the PRC for the Previous Year as a result of the local government’s
land resumption plan.
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Other expenses

Other expenses mainly include (i) fleet vehicles operating expenses
which mainly included fuel costs and maintenance expenses of our
fleet vehicles; (i) utilities expenses which mainly included water and
electricity expenses; (iii) office and telephone expenses which mainly
included general office expenses and long-distance calling fees; (iv)
insurance expenses for the warehouses and transportations; (v)
entertainment and travelling expenses for business soliciting; and (vi)
others which mainly included maintenance expenses for the
warehouses, professional fees and other miscellaneous expenses.

Other expenses decreased slightly by approximately RMB1.4 million
from approximately RMB26.7 million for the Previous Year to
approximately RMB25.3 million for the Year, respectively.

Loss for the year

As a result of the aforesaid, the Group recorded a loss of
approximately RMB0.2 million for the Year (Previous Year: loss of
approximately RMB17.1 million).

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

The Group's operation and investments were financed principally by
cash generated from its own business operations. As at 31 December
2022, the Group had net current assets of approximately RMB87.4
million (2021: approximately RMB119.5 million) and cash and cash
equivalents of approximately RMB55.5 million (2021: approximately
RMB68.2 million). The Directors confirm that the Group will have
sufficient financial resources to meet its obligations as and when they
fall due in the foreseeable future.
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GEARING RATIO

The Group monitors its capital on the basis of the gearing ratio,
which is expressed as a percentage of net debt divided by total
capital. Net debt is calculated as the sum of lease liabilities and
amount due to a director less cash and cash equivalents. Total
capital represents total equity as shown on the consolidated
statement of financial position of the Group.

Since the amount of cash and cash equivalents exceeded that of
lease liabilities and amount due to a director, the Group is at net
cash position as at 31 December 2022 and 2021. Thus, the gearing
ratio was not applicable as at 31 December 2022 and 2021.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

The capital structure of the Group comprises issued share capital
and reserves. The Directors review the Group’s capital structure
regularly. As part of this review, the Directors consider the cost of
capital and the risks associated with each class of capital. The Group
will balance its overall capital structure through the payment of
dividends, issuance of new shares and share buy-backs as well as
the issue of new debt or the redemption of existing debt.

FOREIGN CURRENCY EXPOSURE

The Group's business activities are principally in the PRC and are
primarily denominated in RMB. Certain subsidiaries of the Group had
foreign currency sales and purchases, which exposed the Group to
foreign currency risk. The Group did not resort to any currency
hedging facility during the Year. However, the Directors will
continuously monitor the related foreign exchange exposure and will
consider hedging significant foreign currency exposure should the
need arise.
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CHARGE ON THE GROUP’S ASSETS

The Group did not have any charge on its assets as at 31 December
2022 (2021 nil).

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The Group did not have any significant contingent liabilities as at 31
December 2022 (2021 nil).

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

As at 31 December 2022, the Group did not have any material capital
commitment (2021: nil).

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

As at 31 December 2022, the Group employed 678 (2021: 687) full
time employees. The Group determines the employee’ s
remuneration based on factors such as qualification, duty,
contributions, work experience, the prevailing market conditions and
the Group’s remuneration policy. Employees’ benefits include
contributions to retirement scheme and share options under the
Company’s share option scheme. To enhance the expertise of our
employees, the Group also provides them on-the-job training and
sponsors them to attend external training courses and seminars.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS, MATERIAL
ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF
SUBSIDIARIES AND AFFILIATED COMPANIES,
AND FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL
INVESTMENTS OR ADDITIONS OF CAPITAL
ASSETS

Save as disclosed in this report, the Group did not have any
significant investments, material acquisitions, and disposals of
subsidiaries and affiliated companies during the Year, nor there were
any future plans for material investments or additions of capital
assets as at 31 December 2022.
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PLACING OF NEW SHARES UNDER GENERAL
MANDATE

On 15 June 2022, the Company entered into a placing agreement
with the placing agent (the “Placing Agent"), pursuant to which
the Placing Agent has conditionally agreed, as agent of the Company,
to procure, on a best effort basis, not less than six placees who and
whose ultimate beneficial owners shall be independent third parties
to subscribe for up to 80,000,000 placing shares at the placing price
of HK$0.141 per placing share (the “Placing”). The gross proceed
from the Placing was approximately HK$11.28 million (equivalent to
approximately RMB9.68 million). On 5 July 2022, the Company and
the Placing Agent have entered into a supplemental letter agreement
(the "supplemental Letter Agreement’), pursuant to which the
Company and the Placing Agent agreed to adjust and revise the
Placing Price to HK$0.185 (exclusive of any brokerage, SFC
transaction levy and Stock Exchange trading fee as may be payable)
(the “"New Placing Price”). The closing market price was HK$0.173
per Share on 15 June 2022 and HK$0.231 per Share on 5 July 2022
respectively. Based on the New Placing Price, the aggregate gross
proceeds from the Placing are expected to be approximately HK$14.8
million and the net placing price after deducting relevant expenses is
approximately HK$0.175 per placing share.

In view of the current market conditions, the Board are of the view
that the Placing will facilitate the raising of funds for the business
operation of the Group, especially in the development of the Chinese
Medicine Business, and strengthen the Group’s financial conditions.
In light of the above, the Directors consider that the subscription
agreement is fair and reasonable and in the interests of the Company
and the shareholders as a whole. On 14 July 2022, the Subscription
was completed and 80,000,000 placing shares have been placed by
the Placing Agent to not less than six Placees and the aggregate
nominal value of such placing shares is HK$800,000.

For further details, please refer to the announcements of the
Company dated 15 June 2022, 5 July 2022, 5 July 2022 and 14 July
2022.
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USE OF PROCEEDS

The net proceeds from the offering of the shares of the Company by

FRIERERR

AR BARAD B ET7 B E A PSR F R (0

way of share offer, net of underwriting commission and relevant

expenses, amounted to approximately HK$38.8 million.

An analysis of the utilisation of the net proceeds from the date of the

Listing up to 31 December 2022 is set out below:

BRI TEHINDT

BeHREe REREMA)HR3BEARET

B EmEARE 2022 12 A31 BIEEMMEH

Planned Unutilised
use of net Unutilised Actual use net
proceeds net proceeds of net proceeds
(as stated asat proceeds asat
inthe 31 December during 31 December
Prospectus) 2021 the Year 2022
#2021 #2022
BREEME  12A318M FEE  12A318#M
FEREBHEN ok ] ERBAN HREBA
RERE FMARERE FERERE FHERERE
HK$'million HK$'million HK$'million HK$'million
BEBTL BEAT BEATL BEAT
Upgrading one of the warehouses FRATEBIERRERRS
by installing automated storage ARER—EEE
facilities and systems 18.0 - - -
Expanding existing in-plant logistics THERMEE RER R
business in the North China and BERANDRES
East China regions 6.0 0.5 0.5 -
Expanding vehicle fleet BEAEK 4.0 - - -
Enhancing sales and marketing efforts — JIASEE KL NE 40 - - -
Repaying the bank loans BRRITER 40 - - -
General working capital —REBEES 28 - - -
Total 5t 388 05 05 -
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Le Kang, aged 34, was appointed as an executive Director and
the chairman of the Board on 6 December 2021 and 30 December
2021 respectively. He is the chairman of the nomination committee of
the Company (the “Nomination Committee”) and a member of
the remuneration committee of the Company (the “"Remuneration
committee”). He has over 11 years of experience in marketing and
company management, mainly covering cultural tourism consulting,
tourism and wellness, Chinese medicine retailing, health
management, etc. Mr. Le is currently the legal representative and
partner of a number of domestic companies, and has served as the
legal representative of Shanghai Leshi Medical Technology Group Co.,
Ltd.* (E/B24FCE BRI EEAR /A F) and Shanghai Leshi Tourism
Development Group Co., Ltd.* (E/BZ Kk REEEGR A F).
Since 2020, he has been the partner of Shanghai Didi Technology
Partnership (Limited Partnership)* (/8% B RITA B ¥ (BRAE)),
the legal representative of Panjin Liaohu Legin Health Care
Management Co., Ltd.* (BIRF B MVERELEETIEFMRAE) and
Leshi Materia Medica (Shanghai) Cosmetics Technology Co., Ltd.* (4
KARE( @) tmBHRBRAR).

Mr. Le was the leader of the new era of Chinese brands in 2019. He
also served as the secretary-general of the Shanghai International
Volunteer Service Station* (_E/8BIFR £ FE=E AR5 uh) of the International
Peace Exchange Foundation.

Mr. Li Jiahao, aged 32, was appointed as an executive Director on
4 August 2021. He is the Chief Executive Officer of the Company and
also a member of the Remuneration Committee. He obtained the
degree of Bachelor of Arts in International Trade and Business
Communication from University of Portsmouth in 2012. He joined the
operating subsidiary of the Company, namely Guangzhou World-Link
(China) Co. Limited* (BM P ERTFE AR YR AR A7) (‘Guangzhou
World-Link") as assistant manager since September 2012. Mr. Li
Jiahao was promoted as project manager of Guangzhou World-Link
and assistant general manager of Guangzhou World-Link in April
2013 and April 2017 respectively. He has been promoted as a deputy
general manager of Guangzhou World-Link since January 2019. Mr. Li
Jiahao is mainly responsible for the business operations of the
Group. Mr. Li Jiahao is also a director of Goal Rise Logistics (Egypt)
Limited which is a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company.
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EELSREEABEE

Mr. Li Jiali, aged 31, was appointed as an executive Director on 4
August 2021. He is a member of the Nomination Committee. He
obtained the degree of Bachelor of Science in Economics and
Mathematics from Royal Holloway and Bedford New College,
University of London in 2015 and Master of Science in e-Business
Management from the University of Warwick in 2016. He joined
Guangzhou World-Link as assistant general manager since January
2017. He has been promoted as deputy general manager of
Guangzhou World-Link since January 2019. Mr. Li Jial is mainly
responsible for formulating matching logistics plans and strategies
and developing and optimizing logistics systems based on the
development of the Group's business strategy. Mr. Li Jiali is also a
director of Goal Rise Logistics (Egypt) Limited which is a wholly
owned subsidiary of the Company.

Mr. Song Ruipeng, aged 43, was appointed as an executive
Director on 15 December 2021. He has over 15 years of experience
in equity investment and management consulting. From July 2007 to
November 2014, he acted as an investment director of Shanghai
Wanfeng Jinyuan Investment Co. Ltd.* ( -8B LRI EFR A F)
and was principally engaged in project selection, due diligence
investigation, post-investment management, listing follow-up, project
exit, etc. He subsequently served as a partner of Shihua Chuangying
Investment Holdings Co., Ltd.* (t#E 8l & & & = G BR 2 7)) and
Shanghai Yiyang Asset Management Co., Ltd.* ( H/8RIGEEEIRAR
R & &) from December 2014 to July 2018, mainly responsible for
project identification, selection, research, negotiation and
coordination, as well as the establishment, management and
operation of the company’s funds. Since August 2018, he has been a
partner of Shengniu (Shanghai) Investment Management Co., Ltd.*
(RF(EB)KEEIEER AR, responsible for corporate listing,
M&A, business model design, initial establishment and team
management. Mr. Song obtained a bachelor’s degree from Jiangsu
University in 2003 and a master’s degree from Southeast University
in 2007. He was qualified as a Shanghai Intermediate Economist in
2009 and obtained the fund practice qualification and the securities
practice qualification in 2016 in the People’s Republic of China.

Yues International Holdings Group Limited / Annual Report 2022

BREHEE 3155 R2021F8RAREZTA
BITES - BETIRBEEGKE - BHR20155F
BERBAAZERE SR BEEERLCES
R EBIBB BT - WH 2016 FESERAEBH
BFEKEREBEELTEMN - [KE2017F 18N
AR B F R ALIEHE - 52019614
EAABEMNTEIRTRIBLE - B NAETE
BERBAEEEBEBNER  SIEELEENY
Tt B RRES - ARFBELCDRESR - B
NEETRBERRZEWB R RIRAYR (& R)
BRARINES -

RIS E - 4355 0 R2021F 12815 HEZ T
RPITES - BRERERENEEZNAEHES
B+ AFEE - R2007F7BE2014F 1M B %E
FEBLBREEERAREIREANE  FB
BEEEGE  2H BREEE - LWRE - B
FRHEEE - HEEN2014F12 AE2018F
7AEHEEAHEARREERBER AT LE
REEETBERRAINEGEA  EZBEAF
BRI RIE AW #H - BRASIE 8
SATELWRY - BEMEE - B 201848 A
ESEERF (L) REATEBERATNER
A BECELT FEMHESIE aE8E
B BEELMNEBRERE TR REE
2003 FF V1S /L #R K2 ANEL AL - I 742007 4
BB R ARBIE TR o 15 IR 2009 F1&
BLEBPHREBEMER 2016FEBEFEAR
HABEESESHEERNMBILNEERIE -



Biographies of Directors and Senior Management ontnued

EERSRERASBE

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. Du Yingyou, aged 33, was appointed as non-executive
Director on 19 October 2022. He is currently the general manager of
Shanghai Youyi Enterprise Management Consulting Company
Limited* (_E/8 A % ¥ E B #HB R Q7)) since December 2017.
Mr. Du held the position as senior director and partner of Shanghai
Haobo Investment Company Limited* ( /&5 B E B/ R A7) from
July 2012 to November 2017.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Yu Chun Man, aged 30, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director on 12 November 2021. He is the member of
each of the audit committee of the Company (the "Audit
committee”), Remuneration Committee and Nomination
Committee. He obtained the degree of Bachelor of Science in
Economics and Mathematics from University of London in 2015, and
Master of Science degree in Accounting, Accountability and Financial
Management from King's College London of United Kingdom in 2016.
He is a licensed representative for type 1 (dealing in securities) and
type 6 (advising on corporate finance) regulated activities under the
SFO.
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Mr. Lau Wai Piu Patrick, aged 49, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 28 June 2022. He is the
chairman of the Audit Committee and a member of the Nomination
Committee. Mr. Lau has over 20 years of experience in auditing and
accounting. Mr. Lau founded Ascent Corporate Services Limited in
December 2018 and has served as its director since its incorporation.
He is currently the company secretary of Haina Intelligent Equipment
International Holdings Limited (stock code: 1645) and Infinity Logistics
and Transport Ventures Limited (stock code: 1442), whose shares are
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. He is also the
company secretary of Dragon King Group Holdings Limited (stock
code: 8493), a company listed on the GEM of the Stock Exchange.
From December 2020 to January 2022 and July 2019 to August 2022,
Mr. Lau was the company secretary of China Bozza Development
Holdings Limited (stock code: 1069) and MOG Holdings Limited (stock
code: 1942) respectively, whose shares are listed on the Main Board
of the Stock Exchange.

Mr. Lau obtained his degree of Master of Arts in International
Accounting in 2002 and Higher Diploma in Accountancy in 1997, both
from City University of Hong Kong. Mr. Lau is currently a fellow
member of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants and a
fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants.

Dr. Wang Yi, aged 52, was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director on 17 October 2022. He is the chairman of the
Remuneration Committee. He is a professor of the School of
Economics of the Beijing Technology and Business University. He has
completed PhD programme at the School of Economics and Business
Administration of the Beijing Normal University, majoring in
educational economy and management, and has obtained his Doctor
of Management in June 2009. His main research areas include
enterprise management, labour economics, educational economics,
etc. Dr. Wang has published more than 50 high-level papers in the
Chinese Higher Education Social Sciences Citation Index journals and
has led more than 15 national- and provincial-level projects such as
key projects of the National Social Science Fund.

Dr. Wang is also currently serving as a director of the Youth Branch
of the Commerce Economy Association of China; a director of the
China Association of Labour Economics; a director of the China
Disabled Persons’ Federation; a think tank expert of the National
Rural Revitalisation Administration; a think tank expert of the National
Bureau of Statistics of China; etc. Dr. Wang has also been serving as
an independent non-executive director of Asian Capital Resources
(Holding) Limited (stock code: 8025), the shares of which are listed
on GEM of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited, since 29
February 2016.
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Mr. Chan Koon Yung, aged 64, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director on 19 October 2022. He is the member of
each of the Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee and
Nomination Committee. Mr. Chan has more than 33 years of
experience in management, audit, finance, taxation and accounting.
He obtained a Diploma in Accounting from the Hong Kong Baptist
University (formerly known as Hong Kong Baptist College) in 1982
and a Master degree of Business Administration from the University
of Strathclyde in the United Kingdom in 1993. He worked for
Tupperware (China) Company Limited from December 1987 to April
1998 with his last position as a financial director, and for Herbalife
International of Hong Kong Limited from January 1999 to November
2005 as the general manager/director, where the holding companies
for both companies are listed on the New York Stock Exchange. Mr.
Chan later joined Synergy Worldwide (HK) Limited from March 2006
to August 2008 as a general manager. Besides, he has been working
for Poon & Partners CPA Limited since September 2008 with his
current position as a director, and has been the sole proprietor of his
own accounting firm Chan Koon Yung & Co. since March 2013. Mr.
Chan is currently the co-chief financial officer and company
secretary of GFT International Holding Limited, an OEM toy
manufacturer in Vietnam from January 2021 to December 2022. He is
an independent non-executive director in Anxian Yuan China
Holdings Limited, a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange (stock code: 00922), since June 2014.

He is currently a practicing certified public accountant in Hong Kong
and is an associate member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants and a fellow member of the Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Ms. Yang Jianxin (#53#£37), aged 46, joined the Group in February
1997 and has been the business manager since June 2008. Ms. Yang
is mainly responsible for negotiating the Group’s service contracts
with customers and preparation of business performance analysis
and contracting quotations of the Group.

Ms. Yang obtained her logistician qualification certificate issued by
the China Federation of Logistics & Purchasing* (¥ B0%7) i B2 £R 5 Bt
42) and the National Logistics Standardization & Technology
Committee* (2BI¥)MIELE(LMTZ 8 ) in December 2006. Ms.
Yang completed her high school education in 1996.
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The Board is committed to maintaining high standards of corporate
governance in order to uphold the transparency of the Group and
safeguard interests of the shareholders of the Company (the
“Shareholders”). To accomplish this, the Company has adopted
the principles and the code provisions (the “Code Provisions”) set
out in the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) contained
in Appendix 14 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (the
“Listing Rules”) of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”).

The Company has complied with all applicable Code Provisions as
set out in the CG Code during the year ended 31 December 2022.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing
Rules as its code of conduct regarding Directors’ transactions in the
securities of the Company. Specific enquiry has been made of all the
Directors and all Directors confirmed that they had fully complied
with the required standard of dealings and the code of conduct
adopted by the Company and there was no event of non-compliance
throughout the year ended 31 December 2022 and up to the date of
this report.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Responsibilities

The Company aims to establish and maintain a competent and
independent Board to supervise the Group’s business. The Board is
primarily responsible for overseeing and supervising the
management of the business affairs and the overall performance of
the Group. The Board sets the Group’s mission and standards and
ensures that the requisite financial and human resources support
are in place for the Group to achieve its objectives.
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The Board has established Board committees and has delegated to
these Board committees various responsibilities as set out in their
respective terms of reference. The Board may from time to time
delegate certain functions to senior management of the Group if and
when considered appropriate. The management of day-to-day
operation of the Group’s businesses and implementation of the
business plans, strategies and policies adopted by the Board has
been delegated to the senior management of the Group.

The main functions performed by the Board include but are not
limited to the following matters:

formulating the Group’s strategy and direction and monitoring
the implementation thereof;

o deciding all material contracts, acquisitions, investments,
disposals of assets or any significant capital expenditure;

o approving of the Group’s financial statements, published
reports, price sensitive announcements and other disclosures
required under the Listing Rules;

o developing, monitoring and reviewing the Group’s corporate
governance practices and the effectiveness of the Group's
financial controls, internal control and risk management

systems;

o Board appointment and other major appointments or removal;
and

o monitoring the performance of the management.

Yues International Holdings Group Limited / Annual Report 2022
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As at 31 December 2022 and up to the date of this report, the Board
comprises the following four executive Directors, one non-executive
Director and four independent non-executive Directors (the
“"INEDS"):

Executive directors

Mr. Le Kang (Chairman)

Mr. Li Jiahao (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Li Jiali

Mr. Song Ruipeng

Non-executive director
Mr. Du Yingyou (appointed on 19 October 2022)

Independent non-executive directors

Mr. Law Cho Kwan Derek (resigned on 19 October 2022)
Mr. Yu Chun Man

Mr. Shao Wei (resigned on 19 October 2022)

Ms. Wong Carol Ka-low (resigned on 28 June 2022)

Mr. Lau Wai Piu Patrick (appointed on 28 June 2022)

Dr. Wang Yi (appointed on 17 October 2022)

Mr. Chan Koon Yung (appointed on 19 October 2022)

Biographical information of each of the Directors are set out in the
section headed “Biographies of Directors and Senior Management”
of this annual report.

In compliance with Rule 3.10 of the Listing Rules, the Company has
appointed four INEDs, representing more than one-third of the Board
and at least one of whom has appropriate professional qualifications,
or accounting or related financial management expertise.

Relationship amongst Directors

Save for Mr. Li Jiahao is the brother of Mr. Li Jiali, none of the Board
members has any relationship (including financial, business, family
or other material/relevant relationships) between each other.

Board Diversity Policy

The Board has adopted a board diversity policy (the “Board
Diversity Policy”) which sets out the approach to achieve a
sustainable and balanced development of the Company and also to
enhance the quality of performance of the Company.

ate Governance Report contined
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Implementation

The Nomination Committee will review annually the structure, size
and composition of the Board and, where appropriate, make
recommendations on changes to the Board to complement the
Company’s corporate strategy. The Board reviews and monitors the
implementation of the Board Diversity Policy on a regular basis to
ensure its effectiveness.

In reviewing and assessing the Board composition and the
nomination of directors (as applicable), board diversity has to be
considered from a number of aspects, including but not limited to
gender, age, cultural and educational background, professional
qualifications, skills, knowledge, industry and regional experience
and length of services.

The Company will also take into account factors relating to its own
business model and specific needs from time to time. The ultimate
decision is based on merit and contribution that the selected
candidates will bring to the Board.

The Directors have a balanced mix of experiences, including
business and operation management, accounting and taxation,
corporate governance, regulatory advisory, business model and
strategy development and logistics operations. The education
background of the Directors ranges from business administration
and accountancy to law and fine chemical engineering, from
education institutions in Hong Kong, the PRC and United Kingdom.
The Group has also taken, and will continue to take steps to promote
gender diversity at all levels of the Company, including but not
limited to the Board and senior management levels. To implement
gender diversity at the Board level, the Group plans to appoint at
least one female Director by 31 December 2024. The Group will
adopt various measures to identify suitable candidates, such as
utilising the business networks of the Directors and senior
management and, if considered necessary, engaging the services of
executive search agents. It will continue to apply the principle of
appointments based on merits with reference to the Board Diversity
Policy as a whole.
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Measurable Objectives

The Company aims to maintain an appropriate balance of diversity
perspectives of the Board that are relevant to the Company’s
business growth.

The Nomination Committee will discuss and where necessary, agree
on the measurable objectives for achieving diversity on the Board
and make recommendation to the Board.

The Board may adopt and/or amend from time to time (as applicable)
such diversity perspectives and/or measurable objectives that are
appropriate to the Company’s business and board succession
planning, as applicable.

Induction and Continuous Professional
Development for Directors

Each newly appointed Director receives a formal, comprehensive
and tailored induction on the first occasion of his appointment to
ensure that he has a proper understanding of the Company’s
operations and business and is fully aware of the director’s
responsibilities under the Listing Rules, legal and other regulatory
requirements and the Company’s business and governance policies.
The Company will from time to time provide briefings to all Directors
to develop and refresh their duties and responsibilities.

The Directors confirmed that they have complied with the code
provision C.1.4 of the CG Code on Directors’ training. According to
the records maintained by the Company, all the Directors have
participated in continuous professional development on corporate
governance, updates on laws, rules and regulations and accounting/
financial/management or other professional skills to develop and
refresh their knowledge and skills on the roles, functions and duties
of a listed company director during the year ended 31 December
2022.
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Attending training seminars/
induction training/

Reading materials
HEESHE

AR FREE

Executive directors BioES
Mr. Le Kang (Chairman) LA () Vv
Mr. Li Jiahao (Chief Executive Officer) BN (BEHTE) V
Mr. Li Jiali BENEE v
Mr. Song Ruipeng RIS E Vv
Non-executive director FEHRITESF
Mr. Du Yingyou MEREE

(appointed on 19 October 2022) (2022410 A 19 AEET) Vv
Independent non-executive BUFRTES

directors
Mr. Law Cho Kwan Derek AR A

(resigned on 19 October 2022) (72022410 A 19 HEHE) Vv
Mr. Yu Chun Man REXEE Vv
Mr. Shao Wei AMESEE

(resigned on 19 October 2022) (72022410 A 19 HEHE) Vv
Ms. Wong Carol Ka-low T/ E

(resigned on 28 June 2022) (A 20224 6 A 28 A &) Vv
Mr. Lau Wai Piu Patrick 2B SEE

(appointed on 28 June 2022) (R 20224 6 A 28 AEE(T) Vv
Dr. Wang Vi FEIEL

(appointed on 17 October 2022) (20224610 A 17 R EEE) Vv
Mr. Chan Koon Yung PRE B ST

(appointed on 19 October 2022) (72022910 B19 BEZRT) Vv
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Appointment and Re-Election of Directors

All Directors are appointed for a specific term under their service
contracts and every Director is subject to retirement by rotation and
re-election at an annual general meeting at least once every three
years in accordance with the articles of association of the Company.

Under the articles of association of the Company, any Director
appointed by the Board to fill a casual vacancy shall hold office only
until the first general meeting of the Company after his appointment
and be subject to re-election at such meeting. Any Director
appointed by the Board as an addition to the existing Board shall
hold office only until the next following annual general meeting of
the Company and shall then be eligible for re-election.

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service agreement
with the Company for an initial term of three (3) years subject to
termination as provided therein. Each of the INEDs has respectively
entered into a letter of appointment with the Company for an initial
term of one (1) year unless terminated by either party by giving at
least one month” written notice to the other.

Meetings and Attendance

The Board is scheduled to meet four times a year at approximately
quarterly intervals with notice given to the Directors at least 14 days
in advance. For all other Board meetings, notice is given in a
reasonable time in advance.

All Directors are provided with adequate information before the
meetings. To enable the Directors to be properly briefed on issues
arising at the Board meetings and to make informed decisions, an
agenda and the accompanying Board papers together with all
appropriate and relevant information in relation to the matters of the
meetings are sent to all Directors at least three days before the
intended date of each regular Board meeting. The Directors are
allowed to include any other matters in the agenda that is required
for discussion and resolution at the meeting.

The Directors may participate the meetings either in person or
through electronic means of communications. The Directors have
separate and independent access to the company secretary and
senior management from time to time.
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The attendance of each Director at the Board meetings, the general REZE202F12831BILFEE - SEEREE
meeting and the Board committees’ (the “Board Committees’ ©&:# BREAShEEZE((ESEEE)

Number of Meetings and Directors’ Attendance Records

including, the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and BEEZZES FHEZESNEXLAZES)S
the Nomination Committee) meetings during the year ended 31 &2 HEEHIANT& -

December 2022 is set out in the table below:

Meetings Attended and Eligible to Attend

CHERAERHEZER
Annual General
Audit Remuneration Nomination Meeting held
Board  Committee = Committee = Committee on 17 June 2022
#202256A 178
Exg EUERE FHZRE REZRE BINRFAFAE
Executive Directors HITEE
Mr. Le Kang (Note 1) SRR (M) 717 N/ATEF N/ATER N/ATER 10
Mr. Li Jiahao REERE 17 N/ATER 5/5 N/ANER 1"
Mr. Li Jiali BENiE 17 N/ARER N/ARiER 4/4 1n
Mr. Song Ruipeng Rk 17 N/ATER N/AT R NATER 17
Non-Executive Director FEHITEE
Mr. Du Yingyou ERE
(appointed on 19 October 2022) (RX2FI0A19AERE)  NATER N/ATER N/AT R N/ATER N/AT
Independent non-executive Directors B 3t/ EE
Mr. Law Cho Kwan Derek FRmiE
(resigned on 19 October 2022) (R02F10R198EE) 6/7 A N/ATER N/ATER 1n
Mr. Yu Chun Man (Note 2) Rk (H2) 717 22 5/5 44 N
Mr. Shao Wei Bk
(resigned on 19 October 2022) (R02F10R198ET) 6/7 A 415 3/4 1n
Ms. Wong Carol Ka-low TEENA
(resigned on 28 June 2022) (R2022%66 A28 AEHE) 4/5 NATEE NATER N/ATER 17
Mr. Lau Wai Piu Patrick AERMEE
(anpointed on 28 June 2022) (R 2022%6 A 28 HEZAT)
(Note 3) (H3) 212 A N/ATER N/ATNER N/ATER
Dr.Wang Yi TafEs
(appointed on 17 October 2022) (R2022F10 417 REZEF)
(Note 4) (Hrzt4) 171 NATEF N/ATER N/ATER N/ATER
Mr. Chan Koon Yung BESELE
(appointed on 19 October 2022) (R20RF0A19BEZE) NATER 11 N/ATEH N/ATNER N/ATEH
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Notes:

1. Mr. Le Kang has been appointed as the chairman of the Nomination Committee
and a member of Remuneration Committee with effect from 19 October 2022.

2. Mr. Yu Chun Man has ceased to be the chairman of each of the Nomination

Committee and the Remuneration Committee and has been redesignated as a
member of each of the Nomination Committee and the Remuneration Committee
with effect from 19 October 2022.

3. Mr. Lau Wai Piu Patrick has been appointed as the chairman of the Audit
Committee and a member of the Nomination Committee with effect from 19
October 2022.

4. Dr. Wang Yi has been appointed as the chairman of the Remuneration Committee
with effect from 19 October 2022.

Apart from the said meetings, matters requiring Board approval were
arranged by means of circulation of written resolutions of all Board
members.

In addition to regular Board meetings, under code provision C.2.7 of
the CG, the chairman should at least annually hold meetings with the
independent non-executive Directors without the presence of other
Directors (the “Chairman and Independent non-executive
Directors Meeting"). During the year, one Chairman and
Independent non-executive Directors Meeting was held.

All business transacted at the Board meetings and by written
resolutions were well documented. Draft minutes are circulated to
the Directors for comment within a reasonable time after each
meeting and the final version is open for Directors’ inspection.
Minutes of the Board meetings and written resolutions are kept by
the Company and are available to all Directors.
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CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

According to the Code Provision C.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of
the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer (the “"CEQ") should be
separate and performed by different individuals to ensure a balance
of power and authority so that power is not concentrated in any one
individual. During the year ended 31 December 2022, the roles of the
Group’s Chairman and CEO were held separately. Mr. Le Kang is the
Chairman and Mr. Li Jiahao is the CEQ. The Chairman is responsible
for the leadership of the Board, managing the overall operation and
developing the overall strategic planning and business management
of the Group while the CEO is responsible for monitoring the
business operation and formulating sales strategies of the Group.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Independent Non-executive Directors support the effective
discharge of the duties and responsibilities of the Board, and to bring
independent views and input to the Board.

The Company has complied with Rules 3.10(1) and (2), and Rule 3.10A
of the Listing Rules for the year ended 31 December 2022. The
Company has received from each INED an annual confirmation of
his/her independence, and the Company has assessed and
considered such Directors to be independent in accordance with
each and the various guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules.

No equity-based remuneration with performance-related elements
will be granted to Independent Non-executive Directors to avoid bias
in their decision-making and compromise their objective and
independence.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The three Board Committees, namely the Audit Committee, the
Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee, were
established by the Board with defined terms of reference explaining
their respective roles and the authority delegated by the Board.
These defined terms of reference are available on the respective
websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

The Board Committees are provided with sufficient resources to

perform their duties and, upon reasonable request, are able to seek
independent professional advice, at the Company’s expense.
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Audit Committee

The Company established the Audit Committee on 26 September
2017 with written terms of reference (as amended from time to
time).

The primary duties of the Audit Committee are mainly to make
recommendations to the Board on the appointment and removal of
external auditors; review the financial statements and material
advice in respect of financial reporting, and oversee internal control
and risk management procedures of the Group.

The Audit Committee comprises the three INEDS, namely, Mr. Lau
Wai Piu Patrick, Mr. Yu Chun Man and Mr. Chan Koon Yung. Mr. Lau
Wai Piu Patrick is the chairman of the Audit Committee, who has
appropriate professional qualifications and experience in accounting
matters. None of the members of the Audit Committee is a former
partner of the existing external auditors of the Company.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, 2 meetings of the Audit
Committee were held for, inter alia, reviewing the Group’s interim
and annual results, the Group's financial reporting and compliance
under the CG Code, the effectiveness of the Group’s risk
management and internal control systems, and considering the re-
election and the change of auditor of the Company.

Remuneration Committee

The Company established the Remuneration Committee on 26
September 2017 with written terms of reference (as amended from
time to time). Pursuant to the extension of Chapter 17 of the Listing
Rules which will come into effect on 1 January 2023, the terms of
reference of the Remuneration Committee were amended and
approved by the Board on 30 December 2022.

The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee are to make
recommendations to the Board on the overall remuneration policy
and structure relating to all Directors and senior management of the
Group; review performance-based remuneration; and ensure none
of the Directors determine their own remuneration.

The Remuneration Committee currently consists of five members:
two executive Directors, being Mr. Le Kang and Mr. Li Jiahao, and
three INEDs, being Mr. Yu Chun Man, Dr. Wang Yi and Mr. Chan Koon
Yung. Dr. Wang Yi is the chairman of the Remuneration Committee.
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During the year ended 31 December 2022, 5 meetings of the
Remuneration Committee was held for, inter alia, reviewing the
remuneration packages for the Directors and senior management
and making recommendations to the Board. No Director was
involved in deciding his own remuneration.

Pursuant to code provision E.1.5 of the CG Code, the remuneration
of the members of the Board and the senior management by band

for the year ended 31 December 2022 is set out below:

Remuneration bands (HKS)
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Nomination Committee RELE®

The Company established the Nomination Committee on 26 A& MR2017F9A26 BN IREEEE - I

September 2017 with written terms of reference (as amended from
time to time).

The primary duties of the Nomination Committee are to review the
structure, size and composition of the Board on a regular basis;
identify individuals suitably qualified to become Board members,
assess the independence of independent non-executive Directors;
and make recommendations to the Board on relevant matters
relating to the appointment or re-appointment of Directors.

The Nomination Committee currently consists of five members: two
executive Directors, being Mr. Le Kang and Mr. Li Jiali, and three
INEDs, being Mr. Yu Chun Man, Mr. Lau Wai Piu Patrick and Mr. Chan
Koon Yung. Mr. Le Kang is the chairman of the Nomination
committee.

The Group adopted a nomination policy (the “Nomination Policy”)
on 30 January 2019. A summary of this policy is disclosed as below.
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Selection Criteria

In evaluating and selecting any candidate for directorship, the
following criteria should be considered:

character and integrity

o qualifications including professional qualifications, skills,
knowledge and experience and diversity aspects under the
Board Diversity Policy that are relevant to the Company’s
business and corporate strategy

o any measurable objectives adopted for achieving diversity on
the Board

o requirement for the Board to have independent directors in
accordance with the Listing Rules and whether the candidate
would be considered independent with reference to the
independence guidelines set out in the Listing Rules

o any potential contributions the candidate can bring to the
Board in terms of qualifications, skills, experience,
independence and gender diversity

o willingness and ability to devote adequate time to discharge
duties as a member of the Board and/or Board committee(s) of
the Company

o such other perspectives that are appropriate to the Company's
business and succession plan and where applicable, may be
adopted and/or amended by the Board and/or the Nomination
Committee from time to time for nomination of directors and
succession planning
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Nomination Process
(@  Appointment of New Director

(i) ~ The Nomination Committee and/or the Board may select
candidates for directorship from various channels,
including but not limited to internal promotion, re-
designation, referral by other member of the
management and external recruitment agents.

(i) The Nomination Committee and/or the Board should,
upon receipt of the proposal on appointment of new
director and the biographical information (or relevant
details) of the candidate, evaluate such candidate based
on the criteria as set out above to determine whether
such candidate is qualified for directorship.

(i) If the process yields one or more desirable candidates,
the Nomination Committee and/or the Board should rank
them by order of preference based on the needs of the
Company and reference check of each candidate (where
applicable).

(iv)  The Nomination Committee should then recommend to
the Board to appoint the appropriate candidate for
directorship, as applicable.

(v)  For any person that is nominated by a Shareholder for
election as a director at the general meeting of the
Company, the Nomination Committee and/or the Board
should evaluate such candidate based on the criteria as
set out above to determine whether such candidate is
qualified for directorship.

Where appropriate, the Nomination Committee and/or the
Board should make recommendation to Shareholders in
respect of the proposed election of director at the general
meeting.

Yues International Holdings Group Limited / Annual Report 2022
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(b)  Re-election of Director at General Meeting

()  The Nomination Committee and/or the Board should
review the overall contribution and service to the
Company of the retiring director and the level of
participation and performance on the Board.

(i) The Nomination Committee and/or the Board should also
review and determine whether the retiring director
continues to meet the criteria as set out above.

(i) The Nomination Committee and/or the Board should
then make recommendation to Shareholders in respect
of the proposed re-election of director at the general
meeting.

Review of the Nomination Policy

The Nomination Committee will conduct regular review on the
structure, size and composition of the Board and the Nomination
Policy and where appropriate, make recommendations on changes
to the Board to complement the Company’s corporate strategy and
business needs.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, 4 meetings of the
Nomination Committee were held, inter alia, including (i) reviewed
the structure, size and composition as well as the diversity of the
Board; (ii) assessed the independence of the INEDs; (iii)
recommended to the Board for consideration the re-appointment of
all the retiring Directors at the Annual General Meeting; and (iv)
recommend to the Board for the consideration the appointment of
Directors during the year. The Nomination Committee has also
reviewed the Board Diversity Policy to ensure its effectiveness and
considered that the Group has achieved the objectives of the Board
Diversity Policy.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTION

The Board is responsible for performing the corporate governance
functions, which includes developing and reviewing the Company’s
policies, practices on corporate governance, training and continuous
professional development of Directors and senior management, the
Company'’s policies and practices on compliance with legal and
regulatory requirements etc. During the year, the Board has reviewed
the Company's policies and practices on corporate governance.
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AUDITORS' REMUNERATION

Baker Tilly Hong Kong Limited was appointed as the independent
auditor of the Company, for a term until the conclusion of the next
annual general meeting, following the resignation of Linksfield CPA
Limited with effect from 29 November 2022. During the year ended
31 December 2022, the remuneration paid or payable to the auditor
of the Company (including their affiliated firms) for their services
rendered is summarised as below:
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Audit services ENZRTE 1,287
Non-audit services JEEZ IR 150
Total a5t 1,437

DIRECTORS’ AND AUDITOR’S
RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for the preparation of
financial statements for the relevant accounting periods which give a
true and fair view of the Group’s financial position, results of
operations and cash flows. In preparing the financial statements for
the year ended 31 December 2022, the Directors have applied
applicable accounting policies, adopted appropriate accounting
standards and prepared the accounts on a going concern basis.

The Board is not aware of any material uncertainties relating to
events or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern.

The responsibilities of the Group’s external auditors, Baker Tilly Hong
Kong Limited, on the Company’s consolidated financial statements
are set out in the “Independent Auditor’'s Report” on pages 113 to
121 of this annual report.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

During the year, upon the resignation of Mr. Fung Nam Shan (“Mr.
Fung”) as the Company Secretary on 2 June 2022, Mr. Chan Tsang
Mo (“Mr. Chan”) was appointed as the Company Secretary in place
of Mr. Fung. The primary contact person at the Company during the
year with Mr. Fung and Mr. Chan was Mr. Le Kang, the Chairman of
the Board.

During the year, Mr. Fung and Mr. Chan were responsible for
providing advice to the Board on corporate governance matters. Mr.
Fung and Mr. Chan had confirmed that each of them has taken no
less than 15 hours of relevant professional training as required under
Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules during the year ended 31 December
2022.

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

Procedures for shareholders to convene an
extraordinary general meeting ("EGM")

Pursuant to the articles of association of the Company, an EGM shall
be convened on the requisition of one or more Shareholders holding,
at the date of deposit of the requisition, not less than one tenth of
the paid up capital of the Company having the right of voting at
general meetings. Such requisition shall be made in writing to the
Board or the Company Secretary for the purpose of requiring an EGM
to be called by the Board for the transaction of any business
specified in such requisition. Such meeting shall be held within two
months after the deposit of such requisition. If within 21 days of such
deposit, the Board fails to proceed to convene such meeting, the
requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may do so in the same manner,
and all reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a
result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to the
requisitionist(s) by the Company.

Procedures for Shareholders to send enquiries to
the Board

Shareholders may raise questions, request for publicly available
information and provide comments and suggestions to the Directors
and management of the Company. Such questions, requests,
comments and suggestions can be addressed to the Company by
post to Unit B, 23/F., Central 83, No. 88-98 Des Voeux Road Central,
Hong Kong.
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Procedures for Shareholders to put forward
proposals at Shareholders’ meetings

There are no provisions allowing Shareholders to move new
resolutions at the general meetings under the Companies Law, Cap.
22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman
Islands (the “Companies Law"). However, pursuant to the articles
of association, Shareholders who wish to move a resolution may by
means of requisition convene an EGM following the procedures set
out above.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

To reflect the transfer of listing of the issued shares of the Company
from GEM of the Stock Exchange to the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange on 19 December 2019, the articles of association of the
Company has been amended following the passing of a special
resolution by the Shareholders in the 2020 annual general meeting.
Save as disclosed, there was no change in the Company’s
constitutional documents during the year ended 31 December 2022.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

In order to ensure timely, transparent and accurate communications
between the Shareholders and the Company, in general, information
is communicated to the Shareholders mainly through the Company’s
interim reports, annual reports and quarterly reports (if any), general
meetings, as well as the corporate communications and publications
published on the website of the Stock Exchange (www.hkexnews.hk)
and on the Company’s website (www.goalrise-china.com).

The annual general meetings and other general meetings of the
Company are the primary communication forum between the
Company and the Shareholders. Shareholders are encouraged to
participate in general meetings physically or to appoint proxies to
attend and vote at such meetings for and on their behalf if they are
unable to attend.

Board members, in particular, the chairman of the Board Committees
or their delegates, appropriate senior executives and external auditor
will attend the general meetings to answer the Shareholders’
questions.

Yues International Holdings Group Limited / Annual Report 2022
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The chairman of the general meetings will propose to vote the
resolutions (except resolutions which relate purely to procedural or
administrative matters) by poll in accordance with the articles of
association of the Company. Scrutineer will be appointed for the
vote-taking at the general meetings and the voting results will be
published on the Stock Exchange’s website (www.hkexnews.hk) and
the Company’s website (www.goalrise-china.com) subsequent to the
close of the general meetings.

The Company has established a shareholders’ communications
policy and will review it on a regular basis to ensure its effectiveness.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
Risk Management and Internal Control

The Board recognizes its responsibility for evaluating and
determining the nature and extent of the risks it is willing to take in
achieving the Group's strategic objectives, and ensuring that the
Group establishes and maintains appropriate review on the overall
adequacy and effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and
internal control systems, which cover financial, operational and
compliance controls and ESG risks, to safeguard Shareholders’
investment and the Group's assets. The Board oversees the overall
risk management of the Group and endeavours to identify, control
impact of the identified risks and facilitate implementation of
coordinated mitigating measures. The principal risks and the relevant
measures have been disclosed in the section headed “Principal Risks
and Uncertainties” in the Report of the Directors contained in this
annual report. The Group’s systems of risk management and internal
controls are designed to manage, but not eliminate, the risk of failure
to achieve business objectives and can only provide reasonable but
not absolute, assurance against the risk of material misstatement,
fraud or loss.

The Company does not have an internal audit function and is
currently of the view that there is no immediate need to set up an
internal audit function within the Group in light of the size, nature
and complexity of the Group’s business. It was decided that the
Board would be directly responsible for internal control of the Group
and for reviewing its effectiveness. Procedures have been designed
for safeguarding assets against unauthorised use or disposition,
ensuring the maintenance of proper accounting records for the
provision of reliable financial information for internal use or for
publication, and ensuring compliance with applicable laws, rules and
regulations. The situation will be reviewed from time to time.
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The Board reviews the risk management and internal controls
annually and has, through the Audit Committee and with the
assistance of the management, independent internal control
consulting firm and external auditors, conducted a review of, and is
satisfied with the effectiveness and adequacy of the risk
management and internal control systems for the year ended 31
December 2022 as well as the adequacy of resources, staff
qualifications and experience, training programmes and budget of
the Company’s accounting and financial reporting function.

Handling and Dissemination of Inside Information

The Company has established and maintained procedures and
internal controls for the handling and dissemination inside
information. The Company has adopted a code of conduct for
dealing in securities of the Company by the Directors in accordance
with the Model Code as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules.
Other employees of the Group who are likely to be in possession of
inside information of the Company are also subject to dealing
restrictions. Any inside information and any information which may
potentially constitute inside information is promptly identified,
assessed and escalated to the Board and for the Board to decide on
the need for disclosure. Inside information and other information
which is required to be disclosed pursuant to the Listing Rules will be
announced on the respective websites of the Stock Exchange and
the Company in due course.

Dividend Policy

The Board has adopted a dividend policy that, in recommending or
declaring dividends, the Company shall maintain adequate cash
reserves for meeting its working capital requirements, future
business growth and its shareholding value.
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Report of the Directors
EFEHS

The Directors are pleased to present their annual report together
with the audited consolidated financial statements for the Company
and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) for the
year ended 31 December 2022.

TRANSFER OF LISTING

The shares of the Company (the “Shares”) were listed on GEM of
the Stock Exchange on 18 October 2017 (the “Listing”) and have
been transferred from GEM to the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
with effect from 19 December 2019 (the “Transfer of Listing").

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company was incorporated on 22 November 2016 in the
Cayman Islands as an exempted company with limited liability under
the Companies Law.

The Company is an investment holding company and the principal
activities of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are set forth in Note
30 to the consolidated financial statements. The Group is principally
engaged in the provision of transportation, warehousing, in-plant
logistics and customisation services.

BUSINESS REVIEW AND PROSPECTS

A review of the financial performance and business of the Group
during the year ended 31 December 2022 and a discussion on the
Group's future business development are set out in the sections
headed “Chairman’s Statement” and “Management Discussion and
Analysis” of this annual report. These discussions form part of this
Report of the Directors.

RELATIONSHIP WITH STAKEHOLDERS

The Group recognises that employees, customers and business
partners are keys to its sustainable development. The Group is
committed to establishing a close and caring relationship with its
employees, providing quality services to its customers and
enhancing cooperation with its business partners.
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The Company provides a fair and safe workplace, promotes diversity
to our staff, provides competitive remuneration and benefits and
career development opportunities based on their merits and
performance. The Group also puts ongoing efforts to provide
adequate trainings and development resources to the employees so
that they can keep abreast of the latest development of the market
and the industry and, at the same time, improve their performance
and self-fulfillment in their positions.

The Group understands that it is important to maintain good
relationship with customers and provide the services in a way that
satisfy needs and requirements of the customers. The Group
enhances the relationship by continuous interaction with customers
to gain insight on the changing market demand for the services so
that the Group can respond proactively. The Group has also
established procedures in place for handling customers’ complaints
to ensure customers’ complaints are dealt with in a prompt and
timely manner.

The Group maintains close liaison with its subcontractors to monitor
their performance to ensure they meet the Group's standards at all
times.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Group’s operations are mainly carried out by the Company’s
subsidiaries in the PRC while the Company itself is listed on the Stock
Exchange. The establishment and operations accordingly shall
comply with relevant laws and regulations in the PRC and Hong
Kong. During the year ended 31 December 2022 and up to the date
of this report, the Group has complied in material aspects with all the
relevant laws and regulations in the PRC and Hong Kong.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND
PERFORMANCE

The Group understands the importance of environmental
sustainability and protection and has adopted policies on pollution
prevention, preservation of natural resources and adherence to
environmental laws and regulations. Details are disclosed in the
“Environmental, Social and Governance Report” prepared in
accordance with Appendix 27 to the Listing Rules, which set out on
pages 63 to 112 of this annual report.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company is committed to maintaining a high standard of
corporate governance through its continuous effort in improving the
business practices. Details about the principal corporate governance
practices adopted by the Company are set out in the Corporate
Governance Report of this annual report.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2022 and
the financial position of the Company and of the Group at that date
are set out in the consolidated financial statements on pages 122 to
226 of this annual report.

The Board does not recommend payment of final dividend for the
year ended 31 December 2022 (2021: nil).

RESERVES

Details of the movements in the reserves of the Company and the
Group during the year are set out in Note 29(b) to the consolidated
financial statements and the consolidated statement of changes in
equity on page 126 of this annual report, respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

At 31 December 2022, the Company’s reserves available for
distribution comprising share premium and accumulated losses,
calculated in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Law,
amounted to approximately RMB16.0 million (2021: RMB12.0 million),
of which nil dividend was proposed for the year. Under the
Companies Law, the share premium account of the Company of
approximately RMB62.9 million as at 31 December 2022 (2021:
RMB51.1 million) is distributable to the shareholders of the Company
subject to the provisions of its memorandum and articles of
association and provided that immediately following the date on
which the dividend, if any, is proposed to be paid, the Company will
be able to pay its debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of
business. The Company'’s share premium account may be distributed
in the form of fully paid bonus shares.
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the published results and assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years, as extracted from the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Company or the prospectus
of the Company dated 29 September 2017 (the “Prospectus”), is
set out on pages 227 to 228 of this annual report. This summary does
not form part of the audited consolidated financial statements for
the year ended 31 December 2022.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in the property, plant and equipment of
the Group during the year are set out in Note 14 to the consolidated
financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in the Company'’s share capital during the
year are set out in Note 21(a) to the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

Prior to the Listing, the Company conditionally adopted a share
option scheme (the “Share Option Scheme”) on 26 September
2017 which became effective and unconditional upon the Listing. The
Share Option Scheme remains valid and effective following the
Transfer of Listing and in full compliance with the relevant
requirements under the Listing Rules. The purpose of the Share
Option Scheme is to enable the Company to grant options to the
Eligible Persons (as defined in the Prospectus of the Company) as
rewards or incentives for their contribution to the Group.

The Board may, at its absolute discretion, offer an option to the
Eligible Persons to subscribe for the shares of the Company at an
exercise price and subject to the other terms of the Share Option
Scheme. Upon acceptance of the share option, the Eligible Person
shall pay HK$1.00 to the Company by way of consideration for the
grant. The total number of shares of the Company which may be
issued upon exercise of all options to be granted under the Share
Option Scheme and any other schemes of the Company shall not in
aggregate exceed 10% of the total number of shares in issue from
time to time, unless with prior approval from the Company’s
Shareholders.
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The total number of shares of the Company issued and to be issued
upon exercise of the options granted to or to be granted to each
Participant (as defined in the Prospectus of the Company) under the
Share Option Scheme and any other schemes of the Company or
any of its subsidiaries (including exercised, cancelled and
outstanding options) in any 12-month period shall not exceed 1% of
the shares in issue. The Share Option Scheme will remain in force for
a period of 10 years. Under the Share Option Scheme, each option
has a 10-year exercise period unless otherwise determined by the
Board.

The exercise price for the shares of the Company subject to Share
Option Scheme will be a price determined by the Board and notified
to each Participant and shall be the highest of () the closing price of
the shares of the Company as stated in the Stock Exchange's daily
guotations sheet on the date of grant of the share options, which
must be a trading day of the Stock Exchange; (ii) the average closing
price of the shares of the Company as stated in the Stock Exchange's
daily quotations sheets for the five trading days of the Stock
Exchange immediately preceding the date of grant of the share
options; and (iii) the nominal value of a share of the Company.

No share option was granted since the adoption of the Share Option
Scheme save for that on 1 June 2020, the Company offered to grant
an aggregate of 73,400,000 share options (the “Share Options”) to
certain Directors, employees and consultants of the Company (the
“Grantees”), subject to acceptance of the Grantees, under the
Share Option Scheme. The Share Options will enable the Grantees to
subscribe for an aggregate of 73,400,000 shares, representing
approximately 9.175% of the issued share capital of the Company as
at the date of grant. The validity period of the Share Options is ten
years from the date of grant and the exercise price of the Share
Options is HK$0.188 per share. The Share Options have no vesting
period. Since then, the Group has not granted any share options
under the Share Option Scheme up to the date of this report. The
number of Share Options available for grant under the scheme
mandate at the beginning and the end of the year ended 31
December 2022 is 6,600,000. The total number of Shares available
for issue under the Share Option Scheme as at the date of this report
is 75,600,000 Shares (among which 69,000,000 Shares may be issued
upon exercise of the outstanding Share Options and 6,600,000
shares may be issued upon exercise of the Share Options to be
granted), representing 7.84% of the issued shares of the Company as
at the date of this report.
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Details of the options granted to the Grantees under the Share

REE2022F 12 A3 B It FEREERETE

Option Scheme and movements in such holdings during the year & &% AW BERAEL R BB EN SIS0
ended 31 December 2022 were as follows: g
Number of share options
FlRERE
Exercise At Exercised At
price 1 January during 31 December
Grantees Date of grant  Exercise period per share 2022 the year 2022
R2022% R2022%
REA RHAX fTiERimE SRTER 1A1A FENBITE 12A31H
(HKS)
(#7r)
Directors
EF
Mr. Li Jiahao 1 June 2020 1 June 2020 to 0.188 800,000 - 800,000
31 May 2030
BEERE 2020F6H18 2020F6A1BZE
203065H318
Mr. Li Jiali 1June 2020 1June 2020 to 0.188 800,000 - 800,000
31 May 2030
RENRE 2020F6F18 202056R18E
2030F5H318
Mr. Shao Wei (resigned on 1 June 2020 1 June 2020 to 0.188 800,000 - 800,000
19 October 2022) 31 May 2030
BBE LA (2022410 A19 BEHME) 202056 A1H 2020F6F1HZ

203065 A31H
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Number of share options
HREsE
Exercise At Exercised At
price 1 January during 31 December
Grantees Date of grant  Exercise period per share 2022 the year 2022
#2022 #2022
EEA RHAK fT{ERR) BRTER 1818 FRETE 128318
(HKS)
(B7L)
Others
Heth
Mr. Li Jianxin 1 June 2020 1 June 2020 to 0.188 800,000 - 800,000
31 May 2030
RERLE 202056718 2020%56H18%
2030%5A31H
Mr. Li Jianming 1 June 2020 1 June 2020 to 0.188 800,000 - 800,000
31 May 2030
RERLE 202056718 202066H18%
2030%5A31H
Ms. Lin Jianfang 1 June 2020 1 June 2020 to 0.188 8,000,000 - 8,000,000
31 May 2030
Mels Lt 2020F6 818 2020F6F10Z
2030%5A 318
Dr. Wan Ho Yuen, Terence 1June 2020 1June 2020 to 0.188 800,000 - 800,000
31 May 2030
BERET 202056718 202066H18%
2030%5A31H
Dr. Wu Ka Chee, Davy 1June 2020 1June 2020 to 0.188 800,000 - 800,000
31 May 2030
HEEET 2020F6 818 2020F6F10Z2
2030%5A31H
Employees 1June 2020 1June 2020 to 0.188 55,400,000 - 55,400,000
31 May 2030
ER 2020F6F18 2020 F6A1HE
2030%5A31H
Consultants 1 June 2020 1 June 2020 to 0.188 - - -
31 May 2030
B 2020%F6F18 020F6A18E
2030%5A31H
Total 69,000,000 - 69,000,000
st
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Details of the related party transactions of the Group during the year
ended 31 December 2022 are set out in Note 26 to the consolidated
financial statements.

None of these related party transactions constitutes connected
transaction or continuing connected transaction which is required to
be disclosed under the Listing Rules. The Directors confirm that the
Company has complied with the disclosure requirements in
accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules during the year
under review.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS HELD BY THE
GROUP

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group did not make
any significant investments.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year and up to the date of this report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Le Kang (Chairman)

Mr. Li Jiahao (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Li Jiali

Mr. Song Ruipeng

Non-executive Director
Mr. Du Yingyou (appointed on 19 October 2022)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Law Cho Kwan Derek (resigned on 19 October 2022)
Mr. Yu Chun Man

Mr. Shao Wei (resigned on 19 October 2022)

Ms. Wong Carol Ka-low (resigned on 28 June 2022)

Mr. Lau Wai Piu Patrick (appointed on 28 June 2022)

Dr. Wang Yi (appointed on 17 October 2022)

Mr. Chan Koon Yung (appointed on 19 October 2022)
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In accordance with Articles 108(a) and 112 of the Company’s Articles
of Association, Mr. Song Ruipeng, Mr. Du Yingyou, Mr. Lau Wai Piu
Patrick, Dr. Wang Yi, Mr. Chan Koon Yung and Mr. Yu Chun Man will
retire by rotation and be eligible to offer themselves for re-election at
the forthcoming annual general meeting.

The Company has received from each independent non-executive
Director an annual confirmation of his independence from the Group,
and as at the date of this report still considers them to be
independent pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

Biographical details of the Directors and the senior management of
the Company are set out on pages 19 to 24 of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

The executive Directors, namely Mr. Le Kang, Mr. Li Jiahao and Mr. Li
Jiali, have entered into a service agreement with the Company for a
term of three years commencing from the date of their respective
appointment date while Mr. Song Ruipeng has not entered into any
service contract for a specific service period.

The non-executive Director, namely Mr. Du Yingyou, has entered into
a letter of appointment with the Company for a initial term of one
year commencing from 19 October 2022.

The independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Yu Chun Man
Mr. Lau Wai Piu Patrick, Dr. Wang Yi and Mr. Chan Koon Yung, have
entered into a letter of appointment with the Company for a fixed
term of one to three years.

None of the Directors has a service contract with the Company
which is not determinable within one year without payment of
compensation, other than statutory compensation.
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EMOLUMENTS OF DIRECTORS AND FIVE
HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

The Board has the general power of determining the Directors’
remuneration, subject to authorisation of the shareholders of the
Company at the annual general meeting each year. The
remuneration of the executive Directors is subject to review by the
Remuneration Committee, and their remuneration is determined
with reference to the Directors’ qualifications, experience, duties,
responsibilities and performance and results of the Group. As for the
independent non-executive Directors, their remuneration is
determined by the Board upon recommendation from the
Remuneration Committee. Details of the emoluments of the
Directors, senior management and the five highest paid individuals
for the year ended 31 December 2022 are set out in Note 8 to the
consolidated financial statements.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed elsewhere in this annual report, no Director had a
material beneficial interest, either directly or indirectly, in any
transaction, arrangement or contract of significance to the business
of the Group to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a
party subsisted at 31 December 2022 or at any time during the year
ended 31 December 2022.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company were
entered into or existed for the year ended 31 December 2022.

CONTRACT OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed elsewhere in this annual report, at no time during
the year ended 31 December 2022 had the Company or any of its
subsidiaries entered into any contract of significance with the
controlling shareholders or any of their subsidiaries, nor had any
contract of significance been entered into for the services provided
by the controlling shareholders or any of their subsidiaries to the
Company or any of its subsidiaries.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the memorandum and articles of association of the
Ccompany, the applicable laws and regulations, every Director shall
be indemnified and secured harmless out of the assets and profits of
the Company against all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages
and expenses which they or any of them may incur or sustain in the
execution of their duties in their offices. The Company has arranged
appropriate Directors’ and officers’ liability insurance coverage for
the Directors and officers of the Group, in respect of legal actions
against its Directors and senior management arising out of corporate
activities.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2022, the interests or short positions of the
Directors and the chief executive of the Company in the Shares,
underlying Shares and debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO")) which were notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of
Part XV of the SFO (including interests or short positions which they
have taken or deemed to have under such provision of the SFQ), or
which were required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be
entered in the register referred to therein, or which were required,
pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors
of Listed Issuers contained in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules to be
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange, were as follows:
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Long positions in the Shares and underlying Shares

of the Company:

AR BIRD MR BV Af B

Number of Approximate
Shares and percentage of
underlying total issued
Shares Shares
Name of Directors Capacity B3 R 48 ERITRAAR
EFlE S Bin8 L EOI=R2 474
(Note 2)
(KtzE2)
Mr. Li Jiahao Beneficial owner 800,000 (Note 1) 0.08%
R hrE EmEAA (Kizz1)
Mr. Li Jiali Beneficial owner 800,000 (Note 1) 0.08%
R hiAE En#EA A (Kiz1)
Mr. Shao Wei (resigned on 19 October 2022) Beneficial owner 800,000 (Note 1) 0.08%
B2 %4 (7R 2022 10 A 19 HEHT) EnfEB A (Kiz1)
Notes: HfaE
1. These interests in underlying Shares represent the interests in share options 1. ZENARBR DM EREREBEETERTEENMR

granted to the Directors under the Share Option Scheme. Details of which are
shown in the section headed “Share Option Scheme” of this report.

2. The total number of issued Shares as at 31 December 2022 (i.e. 964,400,000
Shares) has been used in the calculation of the approximate percentage.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2022, none of the
Directors and the chief executive of the Company or their associates
(as defined in the Listing Rules) had any interests and short positions
in any shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company or
any associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
SFO) which were required to be notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO
(including interests or short positions which each of them has taken
or deemed to have taken under the provision of the SFO); or which
were required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered into
the register referred to therein; or which were required, pursuant to
the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed
Issuers contained in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules, to be notified
to the Company and the Stock Exchange.
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as the Share Options granted to the Directors as disclosed in
the section headed “Share Option Scheme” above, at no time during
the year ended 31 December 2022 and up to the date of this annual
report were rights to acquire benefits by means of acquisition of
shares in or debentures of the Company granted to any Director or
their respective spouse or minor children, or were any such rights
exercised by them; or was the Company or any of its subsidiaries a
party to any arrangement to enable the Directors to acquire such
rights in any other body corporate.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save and except for the Share Option Scheme as disclosed in the
section headed “Share Option Scheme” above, no equity-linked
agreement that (i) will or may result in the Company issuing shares
or (ii) requires the Company enter into any agreement that will or
may result in the Company issuing shares, was entered into by the
Company during the year ended 31 December 2022 or subsisted at
the end of the year.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 December 2022, so far as is known to the Directors, the
following persons, not being Directors or chief executive of the
Company had, or were deemed to have, interests or short position in
the shares or underlying shares which would fall to be disclosed to
the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of
the SFO; or which were recorded in the register required to be kept
by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO; or who is directly or
indirectly, to be interested in 5% or more of the nominal value of any
class of share capital carrying rights to vote in all circumstances at
general meetings of the Company:

Named of shareholders Capacity

N0

ETERFARG R ARG
BERARE

R2022F 128318 » BEEMAE - THALQE
FBFRARARSITHAEL) R B R
DR AR ABREERIEES S EHIEXY
5B 2} 35 ERAG SCAA A AN A =) Y BB B 4 2 A
B RSN ARRIREES RS K336
FEGFEZERMMERIAR + KEEREE
BEA M SRR PME B R T AT E AR Rl A R
K& IR W48 B A% AN {8 5% ok A L #E2s

Number of Approximate
Shares and percentage
underlying of total

Shares issued Shares
B {7 R 40 R ERTRNARH

BREE =4 B in8 #HvEosk
(Note 1)
(KtaE1)
Mr. Zhu Zhijian (“Mr. Zhu")  Interest in a controlled corporation (Note 2) 166,700,000 17.29%
KEBRGA ([heE]) SirsrmERS (HE2)
Portree Wealth Limited Beneficial owner (Note 2) 166,700,000 17.29%
("Portree Wealth")
BB = AR AT BREBEEAMFE2)
(MEBARE)
Zhongbei Investment Holding  Beneficial owner 80,000,000 8.30%
Group (Hainan) Co., Ltd.
FibiEEEREE (O8/E) EmEE A
BRAT]
HREE Beneficial owner 88,000,000 9.12%
BHEE EnEA A
#;E Beneficial owner 82,000,000 8.50%
HHER EmEAA
Notes: Biet -

1. The total number of issued Shares as at 31 December 2022 (i.e. 964,400,000
Shares) has been used in the calculation of the approximate percentage.

2. Portree Wealth is the registered owner holding approximately 17.29% of the
issued shares in the Company. The entire issued share capital of Portree Wealth
is owned by Mr. Zhu. Under the SFO, Mr. Zhu is deemed to be interested in all the
shares registered under the name of Portree Wealth.

All the interests disclosed above represent long positions in the
shares and underlying shares of the Company.
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2022, the Directors are
not aware of any other person, other than Directors and the chief
executive of the Company who had, or was deemed to have,
interests or short positions in the shares or underlying shares of the
Company which would fall to be disclosed to the Company under the
provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or, which were
recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under
Section 336 of the SFO; or who is directly or indirectly, to be
interested in 5% or more of the nominal value of any class of share
capital carrying rights to vote in all circumstances at general
meetings of the Company or options in respect of such share capital.

COMPETING INTERESTS

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Directors are not aware
of any business or interest of the Directors, the substantial
shareholders of the Company or any of their respective associates
that competes or is likely to compete, either directly or indirectly,
with the business of the Group and any other conflicts of interests
which any such person has or may have with the Company.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased, sold
or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the year
ended 31 December 2022.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There were no provisions of pre-emptive rights under the Company's
articles of association or the laws of the Cayman Islands, being the
jurisdiction in which the Company was incorporated, which would
oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to its
existing shareholders unless otherwise required by the Stock
Exchange.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information publicly available to the Company and to the
knowledge of the Directors, at least 25% of the Company’s total
issued share capital was held by the public as at the date of this
annual report.
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DONATIONS

During the year ended 31 December 2022, no charitable donations
was made by the Group (2021: nil).

MAJOR SUPPLIERS AND CUSTOMERS

In the year under review, the Group’s largest supplier accounted for
approximately 57.7% (2021: 23.2%) of the Group's total direct costs.
The Group's five largest suppliers accounted for approximately 93.2%
(2021: 86.6%) of the Group's total direct costs.

In the year under review, the Group's five largest customers
accounted for approximately 64.7% (2021: 82.8%) of the Group's total
revenue. The Group’s largest customer accounted for approximately
36.1% (2021: 40.5%) of the Group's total revenue.

None of the Directors or any of their associates (as defined under the
Listing Rules) or any shareholders (which, to the best knowledge of
the Directors, owns more than 5% of the Company's issued share
capital) had any beneficial interest in the Group's five largest
customers or five largest suppliers during the year ended 31
December 2022.

AUDIT COMMITTEE AND REVIEW OF
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Audit Committee was established on 26 September 2017 with
written terms of reference (as amended from time to time) in
compliance with the Listing Rules. The Audit Committee is
responsible for making recommendation to the Board on the
appointment, reappointment and removal of the external auditors,
and approving the remuneration and terms of engagement of the
external auditors, and any questions regarding resignation or
dismissal of that auditor; monitoring integrity of the financial
statements, the annual reports and accounts, half-year reports and
quarterly reports (if any), and reviewing significant financial reporting
judgments contained in them; and reviewing the financial controls,
internal control and risk management systems.
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The annual results of the Company for the year ended 31 December
2022 have been audited. The Audit Committee has reviewed with the
management of the Company the accounting principles and
practices adopted by the Group and discussed the auditing, internal
controls and financial reporting matters, including review of the
audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2022.

TAX RELIEF

The Directors are not aware of any relief from taxation available to
the shareholders of the Company by reason of their holding of the
shares of the Company.

PROFESSIONAL TAX ADVICE

If the shareholders of the Company are unsure about the taxation
implications of purchasing, holding, disposing of, dealing in, or the
exercise of any rights in relation to the shares of the Company, they
are advised to consult an expert.

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The forthcoming annual general meeting (“AGM") of the Company
will be held on Friday, 16 June 2023. A notice convening the AGM will
be issued and sent to the shareholders of the Company in due
course.

CLOSURE OF THE REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The register of members of the Company will be closed from
Tuesday,13 June 2023 to Friday, 16 June 2023, both days inclusive
during which no transfer of shares will be registered. In order to
qualify for attending and voting at the forthcoming AGM or any
adjournment thereof, all transfers of shares accompanied by the
relevant share certificates and transfer forms must be lodged with
the Company’s Hong Kong branch share registrar and transfer office,
Tricor Investor Services Limited, at 17/F, Far East Finance Centre, 16
Harcourt Road, Hong Kong, not later than 4:30 p.m. on Monday, 12
June 2023.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

The Board are not aware of any significant event which had material
effect on the Group subsequent to 31 December 2022 and up to the
date of this report.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR

Linksfield CPA Limited has resigned as the auditor of the Company
with effect from 29 November 2022. The Board has resolved to
appoint Baker Tilly Hong Kong Limited (“Baker Tilly") as the new
auditor of the Company with effect from 29 November 2022 to fill the
casual vacancy following the resignation of Linksfield CPA Limited.
Baker Tilly shall hold office until the conclusion of the next annual
general meeting pursuant to the articles of association of the
Company. A resolution to re-appoint Baker Tilly as the auditor of the
Company will be proposed for approval by the Shareholders at the
forthcoming AGM.

On behalf of the Board

Le Kang
Chairman

Hong Kong, 30 March 2023
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SCOPE AND REPORTING PERIOD

This is the Environmental, Social, and Governance (“ESG”) report
prepared by Yues International Holdings Group Limited (the “Group”
or “our”), highlighting its ESG performance, with disclosure reference
made to the ESG Reporting Guide as described in Appendix 27 of the
Listing Rules and Guidance set out by The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

We regard this report as a communication channel with our
stakeholders and believe that we should disclose ESG information
that is meaningful and important to their decision-making. To serve
this purpose, this report is prepared with reference to the
fundamental reporting principles set out in the ESG Reporting Guide.
This ESG report covers the Group’s overall performance in two
subject areas, namely, Environmental and Social of the following
business operations from 1 January 2022 to 31 December 2022 (the
“Reporting Period"), unless otherwise stated, which is consistent
with the coverage of the 2022 Annual Report of the Group:

(i) World-Link (China) Limited (Dongguan branch)

(i) Guangzhou World-Link (China) Limited (Huangpu Distribution
Centre)

(i) Guangzhou World-Link (China) Limited (Guangzhou Business
Headquarter)

(iv)  Luogang Distribution Centre

(v)  Guangzhou World-Link (China) Limited (Yinzhu branch)

(viy  The energy consumption of the staff in dormitories
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The principal activities of the above-mentioned operations are
providing logistic services to the Group’s customers’ supply chains in
the People’s Republic of China (the "PRC"), which include (i)
transportation; (ii) warehousing; (iii) in-plant logistics; and (iv)
customization services (which consist mainly of labelling services
and bundling services). The Group offers transportation services to
their customers including delivering production materials,
components and finished goods to their downstream clients,
manufacturing plants and/or designated locations. The Group’s
in-plant logistics services cover the management of the movement
of (i) production materials and components and work-in-progress to
the production lines within the customers’ manufacturing plants; and
(i) finished goods out to their factory gates. Apart from the logistic
service, the energy consumption of the staff in dormitories will also
be included this Reporting Period as the Group is responsible for
affording dormitory rents for its staff. All the customers’ warehouses
are excluded in this Reporting Period, since the use of energy, water
and other resources in the customers’ warehouses are not directly
controlled by the Group.

Reporting Principles
The preparation of the ESG Report has applied the following
principles:

Materiality — materiality assessments have been carried out to
identify material environmental and social issues that have major
impacts on investors and other stakeholders, the significant
stakeholders, procedures, and results of the engagement of which
are presented in the section “Stakeholder Engagement and
Materiality” in the Report.

Quantitative — key performance indicators ("KPIs") have been
established, and are measurable and applicable to make valid
comparisons under appropriate conditions; information on the
standards, methodologies, assumptions, and/or calculation tools
used, and sources of conversion factors used, have been disclosed
when applicable.
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Balance — performance of the Group was presented in an impartial
manner, avoiding choices, omissions or presentation formats that
may unduly influence readers’ decisions or judgements.

consistency — consistent statistical methodologies and
presentation of KPIs have been used to allow meaningful
comparisons of related data over time.

STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT AND
MATERIALITY

The Group communicates with key stakeholders through daily
interaction to understand their concerns and expectations on ESG
issues. The Group engages stakeholders via various communication
channels such as regular meetings, performance appraisals,
company website, e-mails and via phone calls. Through regular
engagement sessions, the Group obtains valuable feedback and
reviews areas of attention which will help the business to meet its
potential growth and be prepared for future ESG challenges.

The major ESG concerns of its stakeholders and the means through
which the Group engages with such stakeholders are detailed below:
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Stakeholders Areas of ESG Concern Means of Engagement
BinE BIR g RERMIHE BEAR
Stock Exchange ° Compliance with the Listing Rules; e Meetings;
and . Training and seminars; and
° Timely and accurate announcement. e Company's website and
announcements.

HE 22 P J B EWRAL & . i

. RFERE N E - . Hl RS

. NEVBIE A

Government and regulatory °
authorities °

Operational compliance;

and
o Disclosure of information and
submission of materials.
TR & BB s J HEAR
U FOEBMTR &

. =BT MR o

Tax payment as legally required,;

. Annual reviewal process; and
. Company’s website and
announcements.
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Stakeholders Areas of ESG Concern Means of Engagement

BnE BRE - gREQREEES BEA N

Investors ° Business strategies and o General meetings;

performances; o Financial reports and

. Effective corporate governance; announcements; and
° Sustainable profitability; and o Company's website.
o Investment returns.

REH . EEREBERRE . BERRE
. BRNTEEES J MmERAE &

AIFEERAFESN &
BB -

. NSRS

Media and Public

Corporate governance;
Environmental protection; and

Uphold human rights standards.

. Announcements;
o Company's website; and
. Press conference.

° INEE

UL ISENAA J REER N
. RIBRE & . NGIE DN
. EXSF AREIRAE o . EEhE o
Suppliers o Payment schedule; o Site visits,
o Demand stability; J Meetings; and
. Operational compliance; and o E-mails and phone calls.
o Quality services and products.
HAER . IR J EER
J BRIBEN J B
o BEAE K J BFHEHHNREE -
° BERSE MESR °
Customers . Quality services and products, o Visits;
. Employee safety;, o Meetings;
° Commercial credibility; o E-mails and phone calls; and
° Intellectual property rights and o Customers’ enquiries handling
protection; and mechanism.
° Operational compliance.
LS J BERBERER . B5
J EBEZ%: . g
o BEEE . BEFHMHLRERE &
J FBERE R RE J BP BRI -
J EEAH o
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Stakeholders Areas of ESG Concern Means of Engagement
EinE BE - EREGMEEE BEAR
Employees ° Rights and benefits of employees; e Regular meetings;
° Training and development; ° Employee training;
. Working environment and . Annual appraisal; and
occupational safety; and o WhatsApp and WeChat group.
. Equal opportunities.
== J 1 BRER K AaF J EHEH
J Bl RER J EEEI
J THERERBELRZE K J FEZ R
. FE#E o . WhatsApp & 848 -
community . Community development; . community service activities,
° Employment opportunities; . Media enquiry; and
o Environmental protection; and o Press releases and announcements.
o Social welfare.
Fay . HERER J RIS ES)
U MEME J HEENR &
J RRRE & . EEMEAE -
° MHERE

Materiality Assessment

To identify material ESG issues, the Group has specifically engaged a
wide range of stakeholders, including the board of directors (the
“Board"”), shareholders, senior management, frontline workers,
partners, clients and suppliers, to gain insights into ESG material
topics. The Group has identified ESG issues that may have potential
impacts on its sustainable development from various sources,
including issues identified and included in the Group's previous ESG
report and internal policies, and some reflected by industry trends,
the areas of ESG concerns raised by the Group's stakeholders as set
out above, and the Sustainability Accounting Standards Board's
Materiality Map'. Such ESG issues have been analysed with reference
to an array of factors, including the Group’s overall strategy,
development, and goals and targets.

In the materiality assessment, stakeholders were asked to rate a list
of 16 ESG topics in terms of their relevance and importance to the
Group's business continual and sustainability performance, as well
as to the wider community.

B2 A

RBHNEENRE HERERZEE  AKER
RBEZNENE (BREEe((EEE)) -
BR - BRERE  AIRIA - BERH TP
REERE)RARIRE HERERNEZE
2EE - AEECZ ERIRBS AL E A
BRRELBEZENRE HeRELREE
BRAKRBEBENRE HEREARERAM
BRFRBAH M ZEE - ARITRBE AR
S - EXHEARERNHEROARE 4
eRERBIHNE  ARTHEERSTENE
SeMEEUERL - ZFRE HERERSR
2E-ZIARETHON  BEAEENER
REE - ZHRIANBBERER -

& oom

N

i

EEZUFNGT  AEEEBRFDER16MER
B e REARBRHARERGTELAFE
BREVAZEAMROBEUEMEREFS -
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Results of the materiality assessment and the consolidated list of EMIHERREZHMERMEREENGE
material aspects with respective management are presented in the BoRIRLAT R - RREHER o
following matrix, table and section respectively.

High

it

e

-7

HRNEZR

Impact on stakeholders

Low
{li§

Low Impact on business High

et

(=S HEBTE

! Sustainability Accounting Standards Board's Materiality Map, https://materiality.sasb.org/ ! ARERRGTENZESNEZHE - https/
materiality.sasb.org/
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Environmental Social
R e
1 Emission 5 Energy consumption 9 Employment 13 Supply Chain
2387 BEIRERE E% Management
HEREE
2 Greenhouse gas 6 Water consumption 10 Employee Health and 14 Product Responsibility
emission 32PN Safety EmEE
RS HER EERERZ S
3 Hazardous waste 7 Natural Resources 11 Development and 15 Anti-corruption
BEREREY RAER Training k&S
R R AE
4 Non-hazardous waste 8 Climate Change 12 Labour Standards 16 Community investment
mERERY) RIRE L 25 T AR HEKRE

Through ongoing dialogue and materiality assessment during the
Reporting Period, the Group has identified 5 material issues that
were deemed as the most important by the stakeholders:

o Development and Training

o Product Responsibility

o Labour Standards

o Anti-corruption

o Employee Health and Safety

The Group actively maintains communication with different
stakeholders through the communication procedure on different ESG
issues, such as energy saving, reduce resources consumption and
cost reduction. The Group will continue to manage these critical

issues by establishing more policies and guidelines to further
enhance the Group's ESG performance.

BEHNEBFEHFRER TG AKED
AN EREIATSEERTHZEE

o ERIIEI

. EREfA
. TR
. RES

s [EEREHEZE

REBREEE - BB RBRENEERERETR
BRI -dHehERsE BRBBEFEGELS
R ERTER - AEERBEBHEEZBEK
RIESIERZEHREE  NWE—TRIAAKE
MRS B REREN
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SOURCE OF DATA AND RELIABILITY
STATEMENT

The information disclosed in the Report is retrieved from the Group’s
internal documents, statistical reports and relevant public
information. The Group confirms that the Report does not contain
any false information, misleading statement or material omission,
and is responsible for the authenticity, accuracy and completeness
of the contents.

STAKEHOLDERS' FEEDBACK

The Group welcomes stakeholders’ feedback on its ESG approach
and performance. Suggestions and views can be sent by post: Room
1106, 11/F, Sterling Centre, 11 Cheung Yue Street, Cheung Sha Wan,
Kowloon, Hong Kong or email: admin@goalrise-china.com

THE GROUP’S SUSTAINABILITY MISSION AND
VISION

The Group believes that environmental protection and sustainability
development is a big social trend. The Group strives to pursue a
sustainable business model which can integrate ESG concepts into
the risk management system, and implement measures to balance
the Group's business development with regard to protecting the
environment.

THE GROUP’S SUSTAINABILITY GOVERNANCE

The Board holds the overall responsibility for overseeing the general
direction for the Group’s ESG strategies, ensuring the effectiveness
in the control of its risks and internal control mechanisms, sets up
and evaluates ESG-related goals and targets and communicates with
stakeholders and participates in formulating relevant policies.
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The Group has established an ESG Taskforce (the “Taskforce”)
which comprises core members from different departments and is
responsible for collecting relevant information on the Group’s ESG
aspects. The Taskforce continuously monitors and evaluates the
Group's ESG performance through regular meetings. The Taskforce
reports to the board of directors (the “Board”), and assists in
identifying and evaluating the Group’'s ESG risks and the
effectiveness of the internal control mechanisms, examining and
evaluating the Group's performances in different ESG aspects such
as the environment, health and safety, labor standards and product
responsibilities.

ESG Task Force
B g8k
BERIENAE BHEHE -

AEEKLTRE e REBTIENE(IHE
M BTRPNROKEER  AERE
AEEERE 4 REATEMNHERER - T
tENMAEBEER T EER LA ARENER
g kERER . TENMEMESE ([EF
BDESR BYHANFEAEENORE HE
R ER R DA Ko PO R A% I # B RO B R AR B MR
HARBEAERE HERERBBANRE 2K
Nz S TENREREESTRTHENKR -

o The Board is responsible for the overall decision making, oversees the
formulation, administration, and assessment of the ESG system.

E=gRAEBRE  BEERE HeRERRANGE  BEEKME -

e The ESG Task Force is responsible for assisting the Board in managing and
monitoring the ESG matters on a daily basis.
BE e REAIHEIMVEAERHESEEERELFERHRERE 48K

Functional ¢ Functional department is responsible for the execution of implemented

Department

B RERRFT

The Group complies with the related laws and regulations stringently,
adhering to The Energy Conservation Law of the PRC, The Work Plan
for Controlling Greenhouse Gas Emissions during the 13th Five-Year
Plan Period.

AWARDS AND RECOGNITION

During the Reporting Period, the Group was a recognized member of
Guangzhou Logistics & Supply Chain Association and the Guangzhou
Association of Highway Transportation Industry (Tianhe branch).

The Group strives to maintain the highest standards to provide
logistic services to meet the customer needs and enhance customer
satisfaction, and with its high credibility, high quality and reliable
logistic services, it was certified with the Quality Management
System ISO 9001:2015.

measures to achieve the set strategies and targets.
L P IB T HITE BEREAIENE - BRI VB R EZ -

AEBBERETHBEERIER  BI(REA
RAMBEHOERE R+ =0 EHIRERE
PR TAETERD)

RIERRA

BEBRAN  AREREMYREHEE RS RE
MNERERTEBE (RIDE)WRAEE -

AEBEBNEBRUVDBRBOZSRE - LR
REPHERREARFPHEE  LEBHESEE -
B AISENYRRE - BESEEEEEARISO
9001:2015333& ©
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ENVIRONMENTAL

The Group is highly conscious of balancing development and
environmental protection to maintain sustainability of society.
The Group is committed to continuously improving its
environmental sustainability and ensuring environmental
consideration remains one of the top priorities through its
business operation.

The Group stringently complies with national and local laws
and regulations concerning environmental protection and
pollution control, including the Energy Conservation Law of the
PRC and Work Plan for Controlling Greenhouse Gas Emissions
during the 13th Five-Year Plan Period, the Environmental
Protection Law of the PRC, the Water Pollution Prevention and
Control Law of the PRC, the Law of the PRC on the Prevention
and Control of Atmospheric Pollution, the Law of the PRC on
Prevention and Control of Pollution From Environmental Noise,
and the Law of the PRC on the Prevention and Control of
Environmental Pollution by Solid Waste.

Apart from complying with the national laws and regulations,
the Group has formulated internal environmental management
guidelines and implemented carbon reduction measures to
reduce energy and resource consumption such as electricity,
fuel and water in its business operation. Firstly, in terms of
reducing air and greenhouse gas emissions, noise pollution,
and generation of hazardous and non-hazardous waste, the
Group has implemented some practices and measures in order
to minimize pollution derived from its daily business operation.
For instance, the Group recycled and reused packaging
materials as much as possible. Secondly, the Group used low-
carbon gasoline, and a filter device on the tailpipe in order to
reduce automobile exhaust gas. Thirdly, to reduce vehicle dust
dispersion, the Group regularly sprinkles water on vehicles. For
the purpose of reducing vehicle noise, the Group added a
vibration damping plate with a sound-absorbing pad and
chosen tires with low tire noise.

No non-compliance with relevant laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the Group relating to air and
greenhouse gas emissions, and generation of hazardous and
non-hazardous waste was identified during the Reporting
Period.
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A1. Emissions
A1.1 Air Emissions
Operation Activities

A large number of vehicles are used for
transportation. The consumption of gasoline and
diesel by the light, medium and heavy goods
vehicles results in emission of air pollutants, and
the emissions generated from vehicles are a major
source of emission of the Group during the
Reporting Period. In addition, there are some other
emission sources of the Group included. Natural
gas is consumed by the staff who lived in some
dormitories and a small amount of diesel is used
for standby generators.

Exhaust gas emissions generated from business
operations of the Group mainly include nitrogen
oxides (“NOx"), sulphur oxides (“SOx") and
particulate matter ("PM"), the major source of
emission is exhaust gas generated from vehicles,
and also natural gas consumed in some
dormitories.

Details of exhaust gas generated by the Group are
as follows:

N 387
A1.1 ZEREEM

Year ended 31 December 2022

EiEEE)
FEEAIAEEMIEESR - 1
A~ eR AU RN S A S R A
M E R = R5 RN
BRMELENFEREASERE
HNOEZHRBR - o R
FEBEHBD EMBERUR - 5
BEMBEIFEARAR HEA
BEREADELM -

REBEGEEELENERE

ZaFAS/1Y(TNOx]) - 7
A 1t ¥(lsox]) & f& K ¥
(TPM)) - EXZRREHH
EERNERURSBSESER
HIRASR ©

AL EEL A ERPBALT

Year ended 31 December 2021

#ZE2022F 128318 LEE BEVE12ANBILFE
NOx (kg) SOx(kg) PM (kg) NOx (kg) SO« (kg) PM (kg)
source of Emission R &R NOX (2 F) SO(AF) PM(2F) NO(AT) SO(AT) PM(RT)
Vehicle Operation HHLE 3,231.14 3.66 252.97 28739 3.49 23237
Natural Gas KRS, 0.18 0.0009 Nil & 0.32 0.0008 Nil &
Total it 3,231.32 3.66 25297 287422 3.69 232.37

Compared to last year, the total emissions of NOx
and PM increased by 12% and 9%, respectively,
while SOx decreased by 1%, mainly due to the use
of diesel vehicles which are more fuel efficient than
petrol vehicles.

EEFARL NOx&PME’]ﬁﬁ'ﬁF
ME D B AN12% K% 9%

SO & 1%'£;<E!3)5A@ﬁﬁtt
/‘L/Eﬂﬁﬁmﬁ‘é/fﬁm /Hﬂi%ﬁﬁ
@(o
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A1.2 Greenhouse Gas Emissions

During the reporting period, the Group’s business
activities contributed to greenhouse gas (GHG)
emission of 1,280 (2021: 1,986) tonnes of carbon
dioxide equivalent (“tCO2e"), the overall intensity
of the GHG emissions for the Group was 7.13
tCO2e/RMB million revenue? (2021: 9.38). The
decrease in both GHG emission and its intensity
can be attributed to the Group’s continuous effort
in energy saving throughout the Reporting Period.
The Group has been on track with its set target and
will continue to work towards mitigating the
emissions. More details can be found in the section
headed “Measures to Mitigate Emissions”.

The GHG emissions reported include the following
activities and scopes:

. Direct (scope 1) GHG emissions from the
consumption of stationary and mobile
sources, including natural gas, gasoline and
diesel;

. Indirect energy (scope 2) GHG emissions from
purchased electricity; and

. Other indirect (scope 3) GHG emissions from
municipal freshwater processing, wastepaper
landfilling, and business air travel.

2

The total million revenue for the Group was approximately
RMB179.5 million (2021: RMB211.8 million).
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Detailed breakdown of Greenhouse Gas Emissions
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AREER = RAEPEINAFAT

by the Group:

Total GHG
emission in
year ended

Year ended Yearended 31 December
31 December 31 December 2022 (in
Types of Emissions Unit 2022 Total 2021 Total  percentage)
#BE20225
128318
#BEFE20225F HE0F  LLEEMRE
12A31AH 12A31H wEHREE
BimER Eff LLEE#H IEFE B (BSH)
Scope 1 — Energy Direct Emissions
HE1—RFEEER
Combustion of fuels in Stationary sources
EE R
o Natural gas® Tonnes COe 243 4.24
o KRR M-ElREE
o Diesel Tonnes COe 0.03 0.09
9. M-ElREE
Combustion of fuels in mobile sources
BRI
. Diesel Tonnes COe 581.11 586.36
o 4 M-EREE
. Gasoline Tonnes COe 20.64 21.32
o M B-alixge
Sub-total Tonnes COze 604.21 612.01 47%
et M-EREE
Scope 2 — Energy Indirect Emissions*
#E2 — seiRr S
Purchased electricity Tonnes COxe 664.64 1,358.44
SNEE N M-ElREE
Purchased towngas Tonnes COxe N/ARER 0.98
BEER M-ElREE
Sub-total Tonnes COze 664.64 1,359.42 52%
NEt M-ElREE
3 Emissions from combustion of fuels in stationary sources & TE TRMARHIR R 2 A O BERUIR IR

were calculated per GHG Protocol tool: GHG Emissions

from Stationary Combustion.

4 According to The Ministry of Ecology and Environment of
the PRC (2022), the National Emission Factors for Mainland

China is 0.5703 t-CO2/MWh.

BEREGETAHE  BTR
PRBEEE A BB E RSB -

R IR AR B A BEIR IR 0 (2022 6F) -
RENHERFRRBE AT
FLB% 0.5703 18 — &L ik
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Total GHG
emission in
year ended

Year ended Yearended 31 December
31 December 31 December 2022 (in
2022 Total 2021 Total ~ percentage)
#BE2022F

12A31H

HE20228 HZ21F LEEMEBE
128318 12A31H ®REHREE
ILEE#H IEFE B (BSH)

scope 3 — Other Indirect Emissions
#E3— LS

Paper waste disposed at landfills Tonnes COxe 8.41 1.7

RERRREE 2 A B_atiEes

Electricity used for freshwater processing Tonnes COxe 2.19 2.54
RIENKFAEN B_atiEes

Electricity used for sewage processing Tonnes COxe N/ARER 122
RIESKFAEN B_atiEes

Business Air Travel Tonnes COz 0.30 N/ATNEA

BBMZEER B_atiEes

Sub-total Tonnes COz 10.90 14.93 1%
i BE-AltiEE

Group Total Tonnes COze 1,280 1,986 100%
Kit HoEtHER

Measures are taken by the Group to curb
unnecessary emissions, detailed steps taken are
outlined in the subsections headed “Measures to
Mitigate Emissions” and “Wastes Reduction and
Initiatives”.

A1.3 Hazardous Waste

All hazardous waste in the Group is managed in
accordance with the applicable national regulations
and international standards, including the
Prevention and Control of Environmental Pollution
by Solid Waste of the PRC. The Group is committed
to minimizing hazardous waste which poses risks
to our health and the environment. It has
implemented procedures of handling hazardous
waste. For instance, waste batteries are collected
in a special waste battery recycling box and sent to
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the qualified department for recycling. Also, the
Group strives to prevent oil and chemical
substances from polluting cultivated land,
grassland, rivers, lakes and seas. If the above
situation occurs, the Group will notify the head of
Health, Safety, Security, and Environmental
Protection Department (“HSSE") for disposal
arrangement.

The Group generated a total of 3,321 (2021: 3,411)
kg of hazardous waste, mainly the waste tires and
waste engine oil during this Reporting Period.
Compared to last year, the percentage of
hazardous waste produced was decreased by
approximately 3% in the Reporting Period. The
overall intensities was 18.5 (2021: 16.1) kg/RMB
million revenue®. The decrease in both total
hazardous waste generated and its intensity can be
attributed to the Group’s continuous effort in
resources saving throughout the Reporting Period.
The Group has been keeping on track with the set
target and will continue to work towards mitigating
the waste generation. More details can be found in
the section headed “"Wastes Reduction and
Initiatives”.
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BABH IE A2 E T4
B - B om i - MR RE
oo IR BB $%l
BBHER 22 B
1%(FHSSEJ)E‘EE§ADA§HF
EITRE -

NREHAN  REBMEELS
= B E ¥3,321(20214F :
M)A T BREERIA
MEEZMBH - BEFHEL -
AREPEENEEEEDA
DHBMAHI3% - BKEEZE AE
BBt AR #318.5(2021
F161)RT - TEENEE
BEEYBEERREBRDT)
MR AEBE LR ERE AN
BRNGHHER - AEEDR
FrEBIZsEns WBEE
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Year ended Year ended

31 December 31 December

Types of Hazardous waste Unit 2022 Total 2021 Total

BE2022F HZE 20214

12A31H 12H31H

FEREDER Efr I SEREREE IEFE4RET

\Waste tires kg 3,150 3,240
Ll Ny

Waste engine ol kg 171 171
EEE 8 NaS

Total kg 3,321 3,411
et N
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A1.4 Non-hazardous Waste Al.4 BEBEFEY
Apart from the 1,751 (2021: 2,327) kg of office WEAA - BREE1,751(2021
paper waste produced, the Group generated a total F12327) DT A EEER
of 6,000 (2021: 1,000) kg of non-office paper waste N REBEHEEEIEPF D ERE
during the Reporting Period. Compared to last year, #%6,000 (20214 : 1,000) 2
the percentage of non-hazardous waste produced fre BAEFMEL - mRSmESR
was reduced by approximately 65%, as there was NI EELEBBEREY) - HE
no generation of the plastic wastes in the Reporting ERMEEEEME DR L
Period. The overall intensity was 43.18 kg/RMB 5% BEREREAETA
million revenue® (2021: 103.30). All the non-office RIEULEE3 4318 A Fr (2021 4F
paper waste was collected by renewable resources 103.30) © P I A EEEM R
companies for recycling. BAEERABNRER -
Details of the emission data of the Group: KEB BN E IR A -
Year ended Year ended
31 December 31 December
Types of Non-hazardous waste Unit 2022 Total 2021 Total
#HE20225F B Z=20214F
12A31H 12H31H
EEREDER Efr IESERE R IEFE LG
Office paper waste kg 1,751 2,327
PNEREAR N
Non-office paper waste kg 6,000 1,000
HEWMAEER NI
Plastic waste kg N/A 18,552
BREZEY NI REH
Total waste kg 7,751 21,879
BEEDHEE i
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A1.5 Measures to Mitigate Emissions A1.5 FIRBEE M IEIE

As a logistic company, vehicles are frequently used
for transportation services. The Group has set a
target to reduce 10% emissions intensities by 2032
with 2022 as base year. The Group actively adopts
measures to mitigate vehicles emissions and
strives to achieve this goal. The Group selects
environmentally friendly vehicles according to the
emission limit standard of automobile exhaust
pollutants required by the State Environmental
Protection Administration. The Group checks the
vehicle-related gas emissions regularly, and the
emissions meet the qualification inspection of the
Environmental Protection Bureau.

Apart from monitoring the vehicle emission
standard, the Group also implements strict
requirements for drivers. Firstly, the Group requires
the drivers complies with Article 13 of the
"Performance Management System” of the Group.
Firstly, it prohibits the drivers from excessive
acceleration when the vehicle is started and
requires drivers to turn the engine off when loading
and unloading commodities. Secondly, drivers are
required to go to designated gas stations with
national standards, such as: PetroChina (BP) gas
station for refueling, to ensure high quality petrol
products were used for vehicles. For the vehicles
that has reached the service life of the “Automobile
Scrap Standard” stipulated by the Ministry of Public
Security and the State Environmental Protection
Administration, the Group immediately scraps the
vehicles. Vehicles that fail to meet the requirements
of the Group will also be scrapped to ensure that
operating vehicles are safe to use.

EB—RXMRAR  KEEA
BEREERHRT - AKEDE]
372032 F R 10% BE U S Y
B1E - A2022F BEAESF o
S BB R EUE feRl D BB
W BHERBZ - AEEIREK
BERRFRELBHRTNT
BREFSEMENRERER
ERREH - AEBTHBSE
BE AR RN - BERE S
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A1.6 Wastes Reduction and Initiatives

The Group strictly observes national laws and
follows the requirements of the Law of the PRC on
the Prevention and Control of Environmental
Pollution by Solid Waste and Directory of National
Hazardous Wastes in handling both hazardous and
non-hazardous waste. Internally, the Group has
established various waste management and
reduction measures.

For details about the handling measures of
hazardous waste, please refer to “A1.3 Hazardous
waste” section.

Furthermore, the Group aims to establish a green
and electronic office to reduce paper consumption
and has set a target to reduce 10% of waste
intensity by 2032 with 2022 as base year. In terms
of actions, the Group sets up double-sided printing
as the default mode in all printers and encourages
employees to reuse single-sided paper when no
confidential information is present. To further
decrease the use of paper, communicating online
is encouraged instead of communicating through
documentation. During the Reporting Period, the
Group has been keeping on track with the set
target. The Group strives to achieve the goal by
managing the usage of office papers, by
encouraging the staff to use the Group’s online
system for general business notices and data
transmissions, minimizing paper consumption for
printing and photocopying and using double sided
printing if possible. Several measures are adopted
by the Group to reduce avoidable emissions. The
Group promotes reasonable driving and long-
distance travelling are subject to strict review to
reduce unnecessary travel, with an aim to mitigate
the amount of greenhouse gas and exhaust gas
produced by vehicles. All vehicles are under regular
maintenance check to facilitate fuel consumption
efficiency, which ensures road safety and keeps air
emissions at their minimum. As such, the level of
total emissions can remain relatively low, and the
level does not pose considerable environmental
and social impacts. In addition, when handling
wastepaper, they are centrally collected and
disposed of by the administrative department and
the office.
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A2. Use of Resources

The Group is committed to becoming a resource-saving
and environmentally-friendly enterprise to promote
environmental protection. We have been working actively
to reduce our usage of resources, as well as our
emissions. The Group pursues the practices of efficient
use of resources, including energy, water and other
natural resources and further reduces the negative
impacts on the natural environment.

A2.1 Energy Consumption

The total energy consumption of the Group was
3,614 (2021: 4,536) Megawatt-hour (“MWh"), with
an overall energy intensity of 20.13 MWh/RMB
million revenue (2021: 21.34) during the Reporting
Period. Types of energy consumed included
electricity, natural gas, gasoline and diesel. The
table below presents the energy consumption by
energy types and the associated energy intensity.

Diesel consumption 2,358 MWh accounted for 65%
of the total energy consumption during the
Reporting Period, contributing to an intensity of
13.14 MWh/RMB million revenue. The total energy
consumption in this Reporting Period decreased by
approximately 20% compared with last year. The
main reason for the decrease in energy
consumption is attributed to the Group's
continuous effort in energy saving throughout the
Reporting Period.

A2. BIRER
REBHE AR AHHERREBRNE
¥ DUEEER - R —ERER S
BRERA RN - AEBETERE
BER(BIERER KEREMKARE
B MG - I — B Y RIB
B EEPE -

A2.1 BETRHAE

WEBA - AEBEMEIRERE
4 53,614(20214F : 4,536)
KEHR((ER]) - EEER
TEABEEBETARERSE
20.13% & B (2021 F :
21.34) o HFE 2 LR R BIE
BN RAR - AR o
TRYIR R8T EE B & 48 B g
BEEE D 2 RERHEFE -

WEHN - SREREE /2,358
KE S HRERBEREEN
5% BERIEEREARETA
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Details of the energy consumption of the Group®: REFBEREFEBRA® -
Year ended Year ended
31 December 31 December
Unit 2022 Total 2021 Total
#BE2022%F B ZE 20214
12A31H 12 A31H
Efr IESEREE R LIEFEBE
Electricity MWh 1,165 2,227
EW)) JEELBS
Electricity Intensity MWh/RMB million revenue 6.5 10.5
BNIRE KER, B8 ARE YR
Natural gas MwWh 15 21
RAR JEELBS
o For dormitories
s HAREE
Natural gas intensity MWh/RMB million revenue 0.084 0.097
RAREE KER, B8 ARE YR
Gasoline
v
o For light goods vehicles MWh 75 71
e MARKARH JE LB
Gasoline intensity MWh/RMB million revenue 0.42 0.34
FUREE KRR, BEARE R
Diesel MWh 2,359 2,217
ge5m JKFLF

o For operation of standby
generators and vehicles
o ARERBEER LB

877

Diesel intensity MWh/RMB million revenue 13.1 10.4
LmmE KER, B8 ARENR
Total energy consumption MWh 3,614 4,536
HRe IR B KB
Total energy consumption intensity MWh/RMB million revenue 20.13 21.34
BRI ERERE R BB ARE K
5 Conversion factors were made reference to IEA Energy s HBin R 2 REREREBLR

Statistics Manual. HatFMm o
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A2.2 Water Consumption A2.2 KEREFE

The total water consumption for the Group was
5,115.0 m?® (2021: 6,085.2 mq), with a water intensity
of 28.5 m3/RMB million revenue (2021: 28.7 m3/RMB
million revenue) during the Reporting Period. Water
used by all the Group's operating sites are mainly
sourced from municipal tap water. No issues on
sourcing water that is fit for purpose were reported
during the Reporting Period. Compared with the
last year, the water consumption reduced by 16%
due to the Group's continuous effort in water
saving throughout the Reporting Period. The Group
has set relevant water use target and respective
measures, details can be found in the section
headed “Water Use Efficiency Initiatives”.

A2.3 Energy Use Efficiency Initiatives

The Group aims to reduce the energy consumption
intensity by 2032 with 2022 as base year. To
achieve this target, the Group has implemented
various measures of energy conservation and
emissions reduction. For instance, the Group
installed LED energy-saving lamps in all lighting
areas, turns off lights when staff leave the offices
and warehouses, adjusts and controls the
temperature of air conditioners, and the air-
conditioned temperature remains at 25°C, carries
out electrician inspection, monitor and guide each
department’s energy consumption by equipment
maintenance department. Also, the Group conducts
a monthly statistical count on electricity
consumption and prepares relevant records. If the
consumption is over the range specified by the
standard, the Group will analyze the potential
reasons and take remedial actions in a timely
manner.

By adopting the above measures and posting
power-saving slogans, the Group’s employees’
aware of energy conservation and environmental
protection has been raised.

A2.3

HEERN - AEERNBRAKER
51150 ;27K (20214F : 6,085.2
MK BAEEATEETT
ANE MW 528557 J5 K (20214F -
BEETARBIKE287H
K)o AEMFTA & B 2K
FEREATEE KK - FREH
A9 18 4 B SR ) 3R SR ER KR 2
7o EAFMAL - AKERD
16% + Ty A AN & B A E 5]
HHANFERAGK - AEH
ERREEMAKEZRERE
G G R [ BKMRERT
B —fFpe

BERME AT 8
REEH B 122 2032 FR A 88
TFEREE » L202F AR%E
FoRERE—HE A&5H
EETE TE s RBERE# -
o - AR EE A R R AR [ i %
K LEDETRERE - £ B T B it
RERBERARE - FHEEG
ERREN S ERRERISTE
25T BEEIKIE  Ahms
@%m%ﬁ PR E G
TEERIEE o ko AEE
ﬁﬂﬁﬁ%@?’ﬂ@ﬂﬁ%
ke BRBASERLETE
EEGE  AEEEHNE
JRE - I R R ERERAY E 8 56 o

ZIN-S lLiﬂﬁéﬁ% PA EFE 3 A 2
RUEERE  BEHERRE
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A2.4 Water Use Efficiency Initiatives

The Group strives to reduce water consumption
and complies to policies of effective use of water,
including the National Water Saving Action Plan and
other relevant regulations. The Group mainly
consumes water to meet a high demand for
warehouse temperature control in daily business
operation. The Group aims to reduce 10% water
consumption intensity by 2032 with 2022 as base
year and have been keeping on track with the set
target. In order to control the amount of water
consumption and achieve this goal, the Group has
installed more frequency converters, applied logics
control in managing the use of resources, and
added plate changers and heat recovery pumps in
the main engine room.

The Group's business activities did not generate a
significant amount of sewage. It is because the sewage
discharged by the Group will be discharged into the
municipal sewage pipe network to the regional water
purification plant, so the sewage discharged by the
Group is considered as water consumed instead.

A2.5 Packaging Material

Packaging films (mainly used for cargo fixation) and
stretch films (mainly used to stabilize, cover and
protect the products during transition) were the
Group's major packaging material consumptions.
As packaging plastic films are difficult to be reused,
and there are no readily available recycling
methods in the industry, the Group has
commissioned an independent waste processing
company to collect and dispose of the materials on
a regular basis.

The Group is very aware and concerned about the
potential adverse environmental impacts brought
by the packaging materials consumed. Therefore,
the Group spares an effort to reuse and recycle the
packaging materials by themselves as much as
possible in order to minimize the potential
environmental impacts brought by the disposal of
packaging materials.
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The Group consumed less packaging materials
compared to the last reporting period. During the
Reporting Period, the Group consumed
approximately 6.60 tonnes (2021: 15.6) of packaging
materials for cargo fixation and protection, which
decreased by around 58% of consumption
compared with the last reporting period. The Group
will continuously monitor the use of packaging

materials and aims to reduce any unnecessary

packaging.

Details of the consumption of packaging materials

Environmental, Social and Governance Report conines
RIE - w8 NERRES

8 F—@REESAEL - A5 E
HRER) B EE YR E TR
RN AEERBEEEYDE
TE R & B IR £96.6018 (2021
F:15.6) B E—ARSHRE
D HI58% o AN G G B B
BEMBNER - ISR T
TN ERBRE -
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£

of the Group:
Year ended Year ended
31 December 31 December
Types of packaging materials Unit 2022 Total 2021 Total
#HE20225F B Z=20214F
12A31H 12H31H
SEMHEER Efr IESEREREE IEFE4RET
Stretch film (for cargo fixation protecting kg
material in transit) 6,600 15,552
AR (AREYEEAREEGRODE) QT
Total packaging materials kg 6,600 15,552
BV AT NS
Total packaging materials intensity Kg/
RMB million revenue 36.8 73.4
BRI ATEE NI
AETARBKES

HEREBZEREBARAT/ —T - —FFH
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A3. The Environment and Natural Resources
A3.1 Significant Impacts of Activities on the

Environment

The Group realizes the responsibility of minimizing
the adverse impacts on the environment and
natural resources through its business operations,
S0 the Group adopts four basic principles in order
to protect the environment and natural resources,
including “Reduction, Reuse, Recycling and
Replacement”. In addition, the Group adopts a
green sourcing strategy and the most practical
technology to protect natural resources. In 2022,
the Group did not have any non-compliance of
relevant laws and regulations, including but not
limited to the Limits of Noise Emitted by Stationary
Road Vehicles (GB16170-1996) and The Law of the
PRC on Prevention and Control of Pollution from
Environmental Noise.

The major environmental impacts of the Group’s
operations include the air emissions and noise
generated by its logistics operations. The noise
pollution generated from the operations came from
vehicles. In order to minimize the level of noise
generated from logistic operation, the Group has
installed damping plates with sound absorbing
pads to minimize noise at offices and warehouses
and has used low-noise tires for its vehicle fleet.
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A4. Climate Change

Climate change not only affects our environment but also
may affect the normal routine of the Group working
conditions. The Group has implemented relevant policies,
including but not limited to the Health, Safety, Security,
and Environmental Protection Program (“HSSE"), to
outline the Group’s commitment to protecting the
environment and reducing the environmental impact of
its business.

Identifying and managing the associated opportunities
and risks is vital to the Group’s business operation.
Climate change may affect normal working conditions,
and arrangements will be taken to ensure the health and
safety of employees according to the real-time situation
released by the national, provincial and municipal
governments. In accordance with national and local laws
and regulations, the Group has purchased medical
insurance for every employee. In addition, the Group also
has purchased insurance for warehouses and purchases
auto insurance for vehicles.

With the trend of the changing demand and requirements
of customers, the Group works hard to meet the needs
of customers and strives for a larger market share.

The Group reviews and identifies the climate-related risk
annually while conducting the risk assessment. We have
considered the potential climate-related risks in respect
of the recommendations of the Task Force on Climate-
related Financial Disclosure, which are the physical risks
such as extreme weather conditions and transition risks
such as regulatory change on environmental matters,
and summarised as below:

Ad.
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short
(current
Potential Financial reporting Medium Long
Risk Type Risks Impact period)  (1-3years) (4-10 years) Mitigation Strategy
REEER Rz BEMBERE g7t Y R RBR%R
(FHERH) (1-3%) (4-104)

Physical Risks e  Extreme weather *  Reduced revenue from v/ v Located our offices and
conditions such as business and supply warehouses in cities where
flooding and typhoon chain disruptions the occurrences extreme

e Sustained elevated o Increased cost related weather conditions are
temperature to the rising need for relatively rare

cooling Established adverse weather
condition policy
Adopted energy conservation
measures
Purchased relevant insurance
for warehouses, vehicles and
employees

ERARE o BIRAFMMR - KK £ R EEREE BHFAE KRB ERAERK
SEHEN AR R ZE R 5T

o HERR o REFEREAEHHMA HIEBARRBR
Zm RENE AL IR IE
REE - EHRESEER
ARR
Transition e Changesin *  Higher operating costs v v/ Our Group has limited
Risks environmental-related to adopt more stringent company vehicle use to
regulations regulations necessary meetings and
reduced energy consumption
by implementing energy
conservation measures
Closely monitor the
regulatory updates to meet
the regulatory requirements

Bk R o BREEZENEEY o BEMERBMNERM ZK’*@EI‘E%‘J%#M\XEH

BHLBBRA LA ARESH - WiBAEHELS
Ha HeR A s R ERE
EEREEEHNFE
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SOCIAL
Employment and labor practices

For the Group, constructing a meaningful relationship with its
employees, which are the internal stakeholders, is deemed
equally important as attracting new customers for business,
and so is encouraging the employees to shape their
competitive edge. The Group understands that employees with
sophisticated technology knowledge are important assets.

As a responsible corporate citizen who genuinely cares for its
employees, the Group strictly abides by all applicable national
and local laws and regulations related to employment and
labor practices, including but not limited to:

Labor Law of the PRC

° Labor Contract Law of the PRC

° Regulations on Paid Annual Leave of Employees

. Law on the Protection of Women'’s Rights and Interests

° The Special Provisions on Labor Protection for Female
Employees

° Law on the Protection of Minors

° Law on the Protection of Disabled Persons

. Social Insurance Law of the PRC

° Law on Labor Unions of the PRC

No non-compliance with relevant laws and regulations that had
a significant impact on the Group relating to compensation and
dismissal, recruitment and promotion, working hours, rest
periods, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination, and

other benefits and welfare had been identified during the
Reporting Period.
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B1. Employment

The Employee Handbook of the Group clearly outlines
detail of recruitment, promotion, discipline, working
hours, vacations and other benefits, and the Group has
laid down compliance procedures and a series of work
safety rules. The Human Resources Department is
responsible for the confirmation that the staff has full
understanding of the content of the Employee Handbook
before they commence employment with the Group.

The Group aims at recruiting the most talented and
qualified from the job market, in order to bring immense
value to the business and to install trust in its clients. The
process of recruitment is standardized based on the
nature of department. As such, it ensures that
competitive candidates will not be missed out and that
respective departments can screen for the most suitable
candidates. Also, background checks are performed to
ensure good attributes of candidates and subjective
judgement of interviewers will not affect the selection
process.

Employee Profile and Turnover

As of 31 December 2022, the Group had a total number
of 678 employees. All the employees of the Group are
full-time workers. The breakdown of employees
according to employment type, employee category, age
group, gender and region is as follows.
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As of

31 December

2022 Total

% 20225

12A31H

et

Total Number of Employees REEH 678
Employment type VA B

Full-time 28 678

Part-time I 0
Employee category VAEE

Senior management SREEE 38

Middle management PRERE 108

Frontline and other staff AR R HME T 532
Age group FueHp

25 or below 258 AT 49

26-29 26-29 74

30-39 30-39 209

40-49 40-49 185

50 or above 508K A 161

Gender -3
Male B 586
Female M 92
Region HE
Mainland China B A 672
Hong Kong HB 6
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The Group hires based on experience, expertise and
values, regardless of race, colour, creed, national origin,
ancestry, sex, marital status, disability, religious or
political affiliation, age, or sexual orientation. We
formulate equal opportunities and diversity policies for all
employees, and are committed to building a diversified
and inclusive working environment. As at 31 December
2022, female employees accounted for approximately
14% of the total workforce within the Group. Being in the
logistic sector, which is traditionally considered male-
dominated, the Group values gender equality and will
continue to strive for a more diversified workforce in the
future.

During this Reporting Period, a total of 162 employees
left the Group, with an annual staff turnover rate of 24%.
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AEBMBIBLR  SEMAREER

BT mitmiEk  Ee - 00
B - Mg MR IEARR -
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Mo RMAZEREEBNETFSHE R

ZLBE - TRANBEZTIERER
AR TERIE - 120229 12A4318 -
ZHREREBNAEEME TAEL14% -
MREERLERAUBEAE - K
SEESEMRITE - RRKEES S
EBFELTEMBITIE -

AREHA - AEH162 8 EBBERA
EEFH FEBITRAERE24% -

As at
31 December
2022 Total
%2022
12A31H
#at
Total Turnover® HRkES 24%
Turnover rate by age group HRERE D mELlLFE
25 or below 255 AT 18%
26-29 26-29 36%
30-39 30-39 33%
40-49 40-49 19%
50 or above 50k A £ 13%
Turnover rate by gender BMRE R KL E
Male B4 22%
Female pegia 36%
Turnover rate by region HIHER R KL E
Mainland China AR A 24%
Hong Kong 55 0%
6 The turnover rate was calculated by (no. of employees leaving the ¢ MAREDIRZREANBERAARNES

company during the reporting period/no. of employees as of 31
December 2022)*100%.
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Employee Profile and Turnover

The Group attaches great importance to the recruitment
and retention of high-caliber employees as well as
attracting high quality recruits that are valuable to the
Group. The Group’s recruitment procedure is guided by
relevant laws and regulations including the Labor Law of
the PRC. The Group follows the principle of “fair
competition and merit-based employment” in the
recruitment process. In order to meet the company’s
development needs, the Group actively implemented a
strategy of strengthening the enterprise with talents
which adopted a market-based recruitment model to
recruit outstanding talents. In the recruitment process,
the Group explored talents through college campuses,
social and online recruitment channels. The Group
improved these measures to attract and retain talent
continuously and provide opportunities to employees
with a broad development space. In order to improve the
personal quality and ability of employees, the Group fully
mobilized the initiative and enthusiasm of all employees,
to create a fair and open competition mechanism within
the company. In addition, the Group recognizes the value
of employee experience by arranging assessments,
which provides equal opportunities to employees for fair
competition. The Group believes that these strategies
can reduce the loss of outstanding talent in the long-term.

Legitimate Rights and Employee Interests’
Protection

The Group complies with national and local laws and
regulations to protect the legitimate rights and interests
of employees. The Group formulated management
measures to strengthen contracts and remuneration for
employees, monitored the Group's labor policies and
evaluated the welfare and norms in order to protect the
interests of employees.
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Labor Contract Management

The labor contracts of the Group comply with the Labor
Law of the PRC and the Labor Contract Law of the PRC.
The labor contract management of the Group included
signing and termination of labor contracts, and regulates
positions, working hours, remuneration and benefits of
the employees clearly in the purpose of ensuring the
labor standards. Any overtime arrangement must be
made under the principle of negotiation between the
company and the employees and the employees’
voluntary principle. The relevant remuneration must be
paid in accordance with the applicable laws and
regulations. During the Reporting Period, the Group
complied with the employment-related laws and
regulations.

Female Employee Protection

The Group cares about the physical and mental health of
female employees, provides maternity leave, and
breastfeeding leave and reasonably arranges job duties
for female employees, it complies with the Special
Regulations on Labor Protection for Female Employees
formulated by the State Council to protect their work
rights and take care of their needs.
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Employee Compensation and Benefits

The Group is committed to providing fair and competitive
remuneration and benefits to its employees, and the
wages of our employees exceed the local minimum wage
standards for the reporting period. The Group reviews
the remuneration strategy on a regular basis and adjusts
the remuneration policy according to changes in the
external remuneration market and the internal situation.
In accordance with national and local laws and
regulations, the Group pays basic pension, basic medical
care, unemployment, work-related injury, maternity and
other social insurances and housing provident funds for
employees. In addition, the Group has purchased
accidental injury insurance for employees, further
enhancing the medical protection for employees. The
Group has identified work-related injury timely and
handled accidental injury insurance claims for injured
employees reasonably. The Group also provides benefits
such as annual leave and an annual body check-up for
employees. Some of the projects in the Group have
facilities such as dormitories and canteens, which can
provide complete accommodation and high-quality meals
for employees. The Group also cares about disabled and
severely ill employees and their families, so the Group
provides necessary assistance to support them when
they are facing difficulties. In order to support employees
to have a healthy life after work, the Group organizes
various cultural and recreational activities regularly to
encourage employees to participate, establish a good
corporate culture and promote harmony and unity
among employees.

Staff Activities

In order to strengthen the staff's sense of belonging, the
Group arranges birthday parties every month. It also
organizes staff dinners and activities such as
competitions. These activities strengthen communication
and interaction among staff to develop a harmonious
culture within the Group.
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B2. Employee Health and Safety

The Group cares about the health, safety and security of
all the staff, and strives to provide services to protect the
physical and mental health, safety and security of
employees, and in the business operations. The Group
strictly follows relevant laws and regulations including
the Labor Law of the PRC, Law of the PRC on the
Prevention and Treatment of Occupational Diseases and
Fire Protection Law of the PRC. In order to providing a
safe working environment and protect employees from
occupational hazards, the Group distributes safety
helmets, reflective clothing and work shoes to employees
who need protection, and the Group follows the
requirements strictly in accordance with ISO 9001:2015
and Standard Operating Procedures. No non-compliance
with relevant laws and regulations that had a significant
impact on the Group relating to occupational health and
safety had been identified during the Reporting Period.

The Group attaches great importance to providing
occupational health and safety for its employees and has
established internal safety procedures that all employees
are required to follow strictly. According to the Group
internal safety guide, the safety requirements and
procedures are stated clearly, including prohibition of
alcohol and drugs, security policies, safety procedure of
working in warehouses, and safe use of forklifts.

Fire Safety Management

Fire safety and contingency management are also of vital
concern to the Group. During the Reporting Period, the
Group has arranged fire drills twice. In order to ensure
staff are familiar with the fire-fighting facilities and
emergency measures, the Group has dedicated a fire
officer in both companies and warehouses to manage
fire protection measures and a fire safety officer in the
non-warehouse department. Besides, the Group strives
to strengthen fire protection education so every
employee of the company must receive fire safety
training. For the purpose of ensuring the effectiveness of
fire facilities, the Group undergoes a comprehensive
inspection of the fire equipment twice a year. During
high-risk periods of fire, the Group increases the
frequencies of fire supervisions and inspections.
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Preventative Measures on the Pandemic

The Group has formulated pandemic prevention and
controlled work notice and the response plan according
to the real-time situation of national, provincial and
municipal government departments, and holidays. For
instance, the Group strengthened personal protective
measures of all staff, such as wearing masks, maintaining
social distance. The Group was not encouraged the staff
to travel to high-risk districts of pandemic outbreak
during holidays. If the staff needed to travel those
districts were required to report to the Group.

With regard to the COVID-19 pandemic, the Group has
implemented a series of contingency policies to ensure
employees’ safety and minimize the chance of spread
and transmission within the Group. To alert its employees
of personal hygiene, the Group published internally the
Handbook of COVID-19 Prevention and Treatment. Topics
covered include actions to improve personal hygiene,
prevention and transmission channels of COVID-19,
relevant symptoms and procedures for seeking medical
attention. The Group actively encouraged employees to
initiate the preventive actions, such as wearing a mask in
public area like transportation and lifts, as well as
cleaning hands with wet wipes or sanitizers regularly. On
top of that, the Group implemented a variety of official
measures, including:

o checking employees’ temperature before allowing
them to enter offices,

o avoiding face-to-face meetings and switching to
virtual conferences;

o improving ventilation and sanitizing office areas
once every day,
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Details of number of work-related fatality and
fatality rate, injury cases, lost days of the
Group:

FEEEIFREMECERRIET
B IHE WREXABZHE#FE:

Year ended Year ended Year ended
31 December 31 December 31 December
2022 Total 2021 Total 2020 Total
#E 20224 EHZE20214F B Z2020%F
12A31H 12 A31H 12A31H
I FE#E IEFEEE IEFE ARG

Number of work-related BT #REMET
fatalities =R 0 1 1
Total No. of Employees B T ## 678 764 793
Fatality Rate T 0% 0.13% 0.126%

During the Reporting Period, the Group recorded 2 cases
of work-related injuries and 240 lost days due to work
injury. In order to ensure a safe working condition for all
staff and avoid work-related fatality in the future, the
Group always evaluates and improves the current work
safety measures and arranges for employees to have
regular physical examinations every year to ensure
employees work in healthy condition.

Development and Training

The Group is concerned about common growth and
development opportunities of employees, so
corresponding skills improvement and development
training are provided for different types of work and job
positions, the training includes new employee training,
skill improvement training, important person training and
other related training.
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As of 31 December 2022, the Group provided over
5,765.4 training hours to a total of 570 employees
(inclusive of employees who have left the Group during
the Reporting Period). The average training hours per
employee was 8.5 hours. The number of Employees who
received training and average training hours completed

are as follows.

Total Number of Trained Employees

Total Training Hours for All Employees

Distribution by Employee Category

Senior Management
Middle Management
Frontline and Other staff

Distribution by Gender

Male
Female

Training Hours by Employee Category’

Senior Management
Middle Management
Frontline and Other staff

Training Hours by Gender™©

XillES A%

mERE
PREEE
AR EMET

RIERNEI D 2 0

S
egid

REBERIE D 2 X EU

SRERE
PRERRE
AN EMET

RIERNEI D 2 ZR 8O
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% of all employees

i EEB T
84%

Hours per employee
WNF S FEES
8.5

% of trainees
1h=23ES 85k
6%

15%

80%

% of trainees

b= IES B2
85%

15%

Hours per employee
WS HEES
6.99

6.83

8.95

Hours per employee
W SEFEES
8.04

11.36

Male S
Female i
7 The average training hours per employee was calculated by total 7

no. of training hours during the Reporting Period divided by no. of

employees in relevant categories as of 31 December 2022.
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B4. Labor Standards

Child and forced labor are strictly prohibited within the
Group. The Group strictly observes applicable laws and
regulations regarding employment and labor standards,
such as the Labor Law of the PRC, the Provisions on
Prohibiting the Use of Child Labor, the Labor Contract
Law of the PRC and the Law on the Protection of Minors.

The Group only recruits employees who are over the
legal working age, and new employee are required to
provide true and accurate personal data. Furthermore,
background checks will be conducted during the
recruitment process in order to ensure the identity of the
employees before they are employed. The physical
examination certificates, academic credentials, identity
cards, and household register of the candidates are
reviewed strictly. No child and forced labor are hired in
the Group. If management discovers there is any
employment of forced or child labour, we will take
disciplinary actions for staff accepting forced/child labour
or providing false information, including immediate
termination of the employment concerned.

No non-compliance with relevant laws and regulations
relating to preventing child and forced labor was
identified during the Reporting Period. There were no
major risks associated with incidents of child and forced
labor within the Group’s operation sites.
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2. OPERATING PRACTICES
B5. Supply Chain Management

The suppliers of the Group including transportation,
warehouse leasing, forklift rental and office leasing
services. Below shows the number of suppliers of the
Group in this Reporting Period.
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Number of
Geographical region of suppliers suppliers Type of suppliers
et = HEmSE HEmERN
Mainland China Transportation
AR B EH)
Warehouse leasing
BEEMRE
Forklift Rental
XEBEHE
Office leasing
MAERE
Total number of suppliers
HREmEN
Supply chain management HEEERE

The Department of Commerce of the Group is
responsible for participating in the suppliers’ evaluation,
selection, price verification, and procurement work. The
Group implements strict selection of suppliers and
procurement procedure in order to ensure the quality of
suppliers and their compliance with environmental and
social-related laws and regulations. The department
assesses new emerging suppliers and re-evaluates the
suppliers who have major quality problems, and the
department recognizes the qualification of suppliers
according to the following conditions. (1) The suppliers
who have passed 1SO9001 quality management system
certification. (2) Before the company implements the
ISO9001 quality management system, the suppliers who
have contacted and have no major defects in products
and services. (3) Suppliers designated by the customer
(for that customer service only). (4) When the suppliers
monopolize the market. (5) Products and services
provided by the top 500 of the world or the top 500 of
China.
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During the assessment procedure of suppliers, the
suppliers are required to provide valid certifications and
qualifications, such as a valid business license and
organization code certificate. For the rental and purchase
of vehicles, forklifts and warehouses, the evaluation form
of the vehicle and the warehouse evaluation form should
be provided as needed.

Besides, the major suppliers of the Group are evaluated
annually and if the suppliers fail to pass the annual
review, they will be disqualified for the next year.

Product Responsibility

In order to ensure the safety and quality of services, the
protection of intellectual property right and data
protection, the Group complies with the laws and
regulations including the Trademark Law of the PRC and
the Work Safety Law of the PRC. There was no non-
compliance with laws and regulations relating to health
and safety, advertising, labelling and privacy matters
relating to products and services provided and methods
of redress in this Reporting Period.

The Group strictly implements the policy of protecting
personal information, as maintaining confidentiality is
vital for building trust between the Group and clients.
When the Group and the client undertake any written,
oral or other documents, materials, drawings,
specifications, orders, manuals, agreements etc., these
documents are kept confidential and must not be
disclosed, provided or made available in any form to any
third party without the consent of the customer. The
Group cannot disclose the agreement between the client
in any of its promotional materials, advertisements or for
any purpose without the prior written consent of the
customer. Upon the expiration of the agreement or the
termination of any extension, the Group returns all the
documents and materials obtained under the agreement
or provided by the customer.
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Service-related complaint

The Group did not receive any complaints in the
Reporting Period. In order to maintain the highest service
quality, the Group has implemented some measures to
deal with complaints. For instance, warnings were given
to staff who violated the operation practices, monitoring
the operations, evaluating the operation procedure and
set up measures to improve the quality of services,
providing more training to employees and disclosing the
work requirement to employees clearly.

In general, the Group has formal procedures to handle
the complaints. The complaints are mainly divided into
oral and written (including e-mail) complaints. If a written
response is required, the related cases are sent to the
department manager, then the department manager
informs his superior director and the general manager of
the company. Finally, the department manager should
pass the case to the Quality Supervision Department of
the company. The department being complained should
investigate and analyze the complaint to find out the
cause and solution immediately, and the complaints
should be handled in accordance with the “Continuous
Improvement Procedure”. The external written reply
report will be approved by the general manager of the
company before sending to the customers, all the
solutions and the evaluation results of complaints are
mentioned in the report, and the Quality Supervision
Department is responsible to keep a full set of records
for handling customer complaints.
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B7. Anti-corruption B7. R&E)5

The Group regards honesty, integrity, and fairness as its
core values, so the related national laws and regulations
are strictly complied with, including the Criminal Law of
the PRC, Anti-Money Laundering Law of the PRC and Law
Against Unfair Competition of the PRC. The Group had no
non-compliance with relevant laws and regulations of
bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering in the
Reporting Period.

The Group has formulated an Anti-Fraud Management
System in accordance with the “Basic Norms of
Enterprise Internal Control” and the actual situation of
the company. This system mainly clarifies the purpose of
anti-fraud work, the responsibility for anti-fraud,
prevention and control of fraud and fraud reporting,
investigation and supervision of anti-fraud work, and its
measures and penalties.

Whistle-blowing policy

The Group values and welcomes our employees to report
any suspected malpractices confidentially via email or
phone. A full investigation will then be conducted, and
reports will be presented to the Board. Disciplinary action
will be applied to the relevant employees upon
confirmation of the occurrence. For the preventive
measures and whistle-blowing procedures, the Group
understands that protecting whistleblowers is important
in reporting and investigation procedure of corruption.
The Group prohibits any unlawful discrimination or
retaliation, or hostile behaviors against investigators.
Those who violate the regulations and disclose the
information of the whistleblower or take retaliation
against the whistleblower will be dismissed and the labor
contract will be terminated. The violators of the law will
also be sent to judicial department in accordance with
the law.

During the Reporting Period, the Group is not involved in
any legal cases regarding corruption, and is not aware of
any bribery, extortion, fraud, money laundering or other
violations.
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Anti-corruption training

In order to strengthen the awareness of anti-corruption
in the workplace, the Group carries out effective
communication and training within the company in
various ways, such as issuing employee handbooks,
publicity or internal OA to ensure that employees receive
training on relevant laws, regulations and professional
ethics, so that they understand the concepts involved in
the code of conduct, and help employees identify legal
and illegal concepts, ethical and dishonest behavior.

community Investment

The Group encourages employees to contribute to the
community by reaching out to the community and
participating in voluntary activities. Participating in these
activities can increase the employees’ sense of social
responsibility and can develop positive value in helping
people and our society. Although the impact of the
COVID-19 pandemic has forbidden the Group from
holding public welfare activities in the Reporting Period,
we strive to actively contribute to the education,
environment, and cultural aspects of the community in
the future. The Group will explore opportunities in the
neighborhoods, where it can invest resources and
engage employees in the community service.
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HKEX ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND
GOVERNANCE GUIDE CONTENT INDEX

Aspect
B

ANB RS
Description
ik

ERRGMEBERE HERER

=5l

Chapter/Section
=6

A. Environmental
AR5
A1 Emissions

A1EER
General
Disclosure

—RRIE

KPI'A1.1

RS AE IR AT

KPI'A1.2

FARIEBUEIEA.2

KPI'A1.3

RS AR R IR A1.3

KPI'A1.4

BRAE IR A4
KPI A1.5
B RIER A5

KPI'A1.6

PRI UEBIZALS

Information on:

(@)  the policies; and

(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the issuer relating to air and greenhouse
gas emissions, discharges into water and land, and generation of
hazardous and non-hazardous waste.

BRIER RS RN - MK R aHS - BEREERRYNES
sy -

(@ BE:R

() ETHETALEATEORMERRBOIER -

The types of emissions and respective emissions data.

PERU R AR R HE B -

Direct (Scope 1) and energy indirect (Scope 2) greenhouse gas
emissions (in tonnes) and, where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of
production volume, per facility).

BE(EE) ReREE(BE2)RERBAENE(UIERE) R (@A)
EE(MAEBESEN - BIEREE)

Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where appropriate,
intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility).
FEXESREEYRSE AEAE) R(ER) mE (IMAEES8 - §
BB EAE) -

Total non-hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where
appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility).

PREABREEREMEE EE) R(NER)BE(MASEBEMN - &
E\X}jﬂlﬁ‘l’#)

Description of emissions target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them.

FAFTET S BV BE N B 1R R R E LS B IR PTERENR A5 o

Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous wastes are handled,
and a description of reduction target(s) set and steps taken to achieve
them.

MR A ERBEEERZMH A - DA R
E%% B EFTERE A 5 o

AFRRT S HYREE B AR R R EE
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Environmental

IRIE

Air Emissions

2= R
Greenhouse Gas
Emissions

BERBEIN

Hazardous Waste

BEBERED

Non-hazardous Waste,
Measures to Reduce
Waste Generation and
Emissions

mERERY
B R b
Measures to Mitigate
Emissions
RRBE R E MR i
Wastes Reduction and
Initiatives
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Aspect
B

Description
fii ikt

Chapter/Section
=111

A2 Use of Resources

A2FR{ER
General
Disclosure
—MRAREE
KPI'A2.1

RS AERIER A2

KPI A2.2

PSR MIEIRA2.2
KPIA23

PSS MIEIRA2.3
KPI A2.4

RARIERIEIRA24
KPI A2.5

B A DR IR A25

Policies on the efficient use of resources, including energy, water and
other raw materials.

BRERER(BEER - KEEMERMED AR -

Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type (e.g. electricity, gas
or oil) in total (kwh in ‘000s) and intensity (e.g. per unit of production
volume, per facility).

RERAESMEE R SREEER(NE - [KI0h) BFEE AT ETRE
AE)REE(WASESEMN - BERWTE)

Water consumption in total and intensity (e.g. per unit of production
volume, per facility).

BFEKEREE(WAEGESSEN - BIERMTE) -

Description of energy use efficiency target(s) set and steps taken to
achieve them.

A PTE] S REIR(E s B IR R AIESE B IRTEREA P58 -
Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing water that is fit
for purpose, water efficiency initiatives and results achieved.
HASKEUAR AR LRI B ERERE - ARIBARKKEEIRABRR -
Total packaging material used for finished products (in tonnes) and, if
applicable, with reference to per unit produced.
XNMATABEMENES (LA E) K (WER) BEEEM(LE -

A3 The Environment and Natural Resources

ASBHERRXREIR
General
Disclosure
— PR ER
KPI'A3.1

B AR R 1R A3

Policies on minimizing the issuer’s significant impact on the
environment and natural resources.
BIERZETABIRIFERAAERENERTERBEE -

Description of the significant impacts of activities on the environment
and natural resources and the actions taken to manage them.

B EREHERRRAAERNEAZERERKNERFBETENITE -

SRERZEREEGRAT / — S FFH

Use of Resources

BRER
Energy Consumption

BETRHE

Water Consumption

KEIRBFE

Energy Use Efficiency
Initiatives

BEIR(E A s 5t &
Water Use Efficiency
Initiatives
7Kk s 5t &
Packaging Material

e

The Environment and
Natural Resources
RIEBERRARER
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Aspect Description Chapter/Section
EBm il =41

A4 Climate Change

AdRIREL

General Disclosure

—RRIE
KPI'A4.1

RS I BURIZ AL

B. Social
B.it®
B1 Employment

B1{E{&
General
Disclosure

—RIKE

KPIB1.1

RS AR UBIZEB1.1
KPI B1.2
FASRIEMIEIZB1.2

Policies on identification and mitigation of significant climate-related
issues which have impacted, and those which may impact, the issuer.
BRABEE L RAIREHETAEERENERNRIEEBEMBEOBEE -
Description of the significant climate-related issues which have
impacted, and those which may impact, the issuer, and the actions
taken to manage them.

WBEERATEHETAELTYENEARFEBEER - MEHTH -

Information on:

(@)  the policies; and

(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the issuer relating to compensation and
dismissal, recruitment and promotion, working hours, rest
periods, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination, and
other benefits and welfare.

A KRE  BREEEA  TERE BH TEHKe Stk K

ISTAR LA R LM 5538 R @ ey

(@ HEE R

(b)) BFHBETAGSAXENEBERKBIINER -

Total workforce by gender, employment type (for example, full- or

part-time), age group and geographical region.

RIER - REEE (Pl EBsRE) - FiEn Mt REDMNEEEE -

Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and geographical region.

iR ERERI R ER D HES AL E -
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Climate Change

RIxEE
Climate Change

RAREE

Employment and
Labour Standards

1R & 55 X8

Employment

(=
Employment
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Aspect
[Bm

Description
Jilj i

Chapter/section
=111

B2 Health and Safety

B2f@ =R 2
General
Disclosure

—ARIE

KPI B2.1

RABEAE IB1ZE B2.1
KPI B2.2

R AENIEEB2.2
KPI B2.3

RABEAE IBIE B2.3

Information on:

(@)  the policies; and

(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the issuer relating to providing a safe
working environment and protecting employees from
occupational hazards.

FHARHEZE2TERSERRERE#CBELEEMN

(@ HE R

b)) BEIFHETABEAZENEEEERROINER

Number and rate of work-related fatalities occurred in each of the past

three years including the reporting year.

BE=ZF (BREBEFE)SFRAICTHROABRILE -

Lost days due to work injury.

ETIGEATERS -

Description of occupational health and safety measures adopted, how
they are implemented and monitored.

M PTER AN B R R R IR 2406 - ARMBERITRERTE -

B3 Development and Training

B3 & & R i3l
General
Disclosure
—MRAREE
KPI'B3.1

RAR AR WUIE R B3
KPI B3.2

R4 IR R B3.2

Policies on improving employees’ knowledge and skills for discharging
duties at work. Description of training activities.

BHARAEERIT TIERE MBI REER - #iltE IS -

The percentage of employees trained by gender and employee
category (e.g. senior management, middle management).
RUERNREERN(WEREREE FRERE)ESNZIEERSL -
The average training hours completed per employee by gender and
employee category.

R REERERE D  BRERTKZINFHREE -

HREFEREBERAR/ — T~ —F5RH

Employee Health and
Safety

Employee Health and
Safety
EEREHEZS
Employee Health and
Safety
EEREHEZS
Employee Health and
Safety

EEREHE

Development and
Training

TR R
Development and
Training

BRE RIE
Development and
Training

R RE
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Aspect
B

Description
fii ikt

Chapter/Section
=111

B4 Labour Standards

B4% T #8|
General
Disclosure

—RRIE

KPIB4.1

P AR IR BA.T
KPI B4.2

RS AEWUIRIEBA.2

Information on:

(@)  the policies; and

(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the issuer relating to preventing child and
forced labor.

B IEET &GS TH

(@ HEE R

(b)) BFHBETAGSAXENEBERLBIINER -

Description of measures to review employment practices to avoid child

and forced labor.

U R BB RS AR EE T RBHI% T -

Description of steps taken to eliminate such practlces when

discovered.

7 2 3R B AR B N R ERR B IS S PTERE A 5 -

B5 Supply Chain Management

BStfEEEE

General
Disclosure

—BHE

KPI B5.1

FASE AR IB1E B5.1

KPI B5.2

B4R 1A MIBIEB5.2

KPI B5.3

RS A IEIEB5.3

KPI B5.4

RS AE IR 1R B5.4

Policies on managing environmental and social risks of the supply
chain.

BEHEENIRR R GRRIBE -

Number of suppliers by geographical region.

i S HEREA -

Description of practices relating to engaging suppliers, number of
suppliers where the practices are being implemented, how they are
implemented and monitored.
A IR R EE g ol -
BITRERTE -

Description of practices used to identify environmental and social risks
along the supply chain, and how they are implemented and monitored.
MR HEE FIRE Rt R AMEANES - ARE@EFNHITR
BERFE ©

Description of practices used to promote environmentally preferable
products and services when selecting suppliers, and how they are
implemented and monitored.

I EE B R R HETTIRIRE o RTS8 1
TREES A -

FEHNITHREMHEREE - AKIERE

KA BERIEEH
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Labour Standards

B TR

Labour Standards

BT AR
Labour Standards

Supply Chain
Management
HIEEER

Supply Chain
Management
HEEER

Supply Chain
Management

HpEEERE
Supply Chain
Management

HrERER

Supply Chain
Management

HiEsEE IR
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Aspect
[Bm

Description
Jilj i

Chapter/section
=111

B6 Product and Service Responsibility

B6ERmBRBRHERE
General
Disclosure

—ARIE

KPI B6.1

R4 IR R B6.

KPI B6.2

RASE A IBIR B6.2

KPI B6.3

RABEAE IB1E B6.3
KPI B6.4

R AR RIE1R B6.4
KPI B6.5

RS AE WUIRIZ B6.S

Information on:

(@)  the policies; and

(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the issuer relating to health and safety,
advertising, labelling and privacy matters relating to products and
services provided and methods of redress.

FHAMRHERNREORERELYS  BE SHELEBEEURBRT

VAR

(@ B &

() HEFHETABEAZEZNEEEERROIGER

Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject to recalls for

safety and health reasons.

EERCDEXERBETAR2REFEAMARKNE DL

Number of products and service related complaints received and how
they are dealt with.

RN EmMREIRFEE AR EBE X -

e

Description of practices relating to observing and protecting intellectual
property rights.

T B A I R IR AN EE R R RARIB ) -

Description of quality assurance process and recall procedures.

S SR FEREREMBYIERT

Description of consumer data protection and privacy policies, how they
are implemented and monitored.

HILE B E A RHRIE RALBECR - ARMBBENITRER A -

HREFEREBERAR/ — T~ —F5RH

Product Responsibility

i
2o
il
[y

Due to the Group’s
business nature, no
products will be subject
to recalls

AR AR EEERNME
B8 - B ERAR
Product Responsibility
— Services related
complaint
EmAaft—

AR 75 18 B A

Product Responsibility

EmBE
Product Responsibility

EmEf
Product Responsibility

1

Mt

Em
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Aspect
[Bm

Description
il

Chapter/section
=111

B7 Anti- corruption

B7 &5
General
Disclosure

—RRIE

KPIB7.1

RASEAE B 1E BT

KPI B7.2

RS I IEIZR7.2
KPI B7.3

RS IEIZB7.3

Information on:

(@)  the policies; and

(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the issuer relating to bribery, extortion,
fraud and money laundering.

B IEARE - B - BEFROEREER -

(@ HEE R

(b)) BFHBETAGSAXENEBERLBIINER -

Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt practices brought

against the issuer or its employees during the reporting period and the

outcomes of the cases.

RERAAHETASEEERETEELENE

R o

Description of preventive measures, how they are implemented and

monitored.

AL E I HE - A RABRAIIT RER X o

Description of anti-corruption training provided to directors and staff.

SR EAR RV B E AR AR

WimEER B TREMNRESHFI -

B8 Community Investment

B8t ERE
General
Disclosure

—RIKE

KPI B8.1

FASAE N I51R B8
KPI B8.2
R AR IR 1E B8 2

Policies on community engagement to understand the needs of the
communities where the issuer operates and to ensure its activities take
into consideration the communities” interests.

BN ESERTHREEMEHEFTENBREEZR FDHSEFITLEF
VIR o

Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education, environmental concerns,
labor needs, health, culture, sport).

ErERERE(UHE - BEEE SIHK - 2F b BH) -
Resources contributed (e.g. money or time) to the focus area.
EEIHREMSAER(WSENRHE) -
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Anti-corruption

Anti-corruption

k&3

Anti-Corruption —
Whistle-blowing policy
RES — BWMPEK
Anti-corruption — Anti-
corruption training
RER— REFEI

Community Investment

HEEE

community Investment

HEIRE
community Investment
MHERE



Independent Auditor’s Report
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@ pakertilly
w4 E7]

Independent auditor’s report to the members of

Yues International Holdings Group Limited

(Formerly known as Goal Rise Logistics (China) Holdings
Limited)

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Yues
International Holdings Group Limited (formerly known as Goal Rise
Logistics (China) Holdings Limited) (the "Company”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively returned to as the "Group”) set out on
pages 122 to 226, which comprise the consolidated statement of
financial position as at 31 December 2022, and the consolidated
statement of profit or loss, the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in
equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year
then ended, and the notes to the consolidated financial statements,
including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2022, and of its consolidated financial performance and
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (‘"HKFRSs") issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (‘"HKICPA") and
have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing ("HKSAS") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group
in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (“the Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.

BERKEREREEARLAF(FMBERAMR
(WPE) EERARAF) BRRZ I BEE &

(RESHSIMEALZBRAA])

2R
EEEBEERERERERBR AR (AIEA
AR (PR ZERERAE) A THE &S
ADREMBAR (AT S%£EH]))HN
FINEW6EMGEMBERE - BER20224F
AN BMNGEMBRRERARBEZA ILF
ERREGERE  GA2ElER  GAERE
PE  HKEBRERERRGAVEBREMT - 2
BEXESTHBRME -

EERR GEUBRRERREEGHNAE
(EFEEHmAE ) RAENEEMERELER
(EEMBREERN AT AFHRE Bf
B 722022412 A 31 BV & MR A KRB E
ZALFENGAVBRARGARSRE I

EERBEARGIIHNEEZRZRRE -

RRER
EEERBEESHMASHMN BT EEALER
((ERMEEER ) ETES - BFEXFTER
THENEECEARRE [ZBMEFA M
BRFAENEE] B PIEE— TR - RiF
BRGEAGRMACKEESHIMERTRDA
TEEIFA]D - FFEIRX BEEE - YCEE
TR EMERERET - EFMAE
FIESHENBREEACNEZEHATENER
PR ERE -

=
Elars

SREFZEREBERIT / —T - —FFH
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& N A7 SR R o

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current year. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we

do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Key Audit Matter
RBENFER

FRESEE
MREHEHEERBEESNEXHE - RAYHA
FEGAVBRRNBITRSEENT R - BL
FHREEBSEBERAMBREAMKARR
RETTRIEN - BE TS HELERIBHERN
BR -

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
ESEEMNTEEREENERNSE

Impairment of trade receivables
BB EWHERE

Refer to Note 3.1(b), Note 4(a) and Note 17 to the
consolidated financial statements.
BERHRA T RERMES.D) « HeE4@) KMEE17 -

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had trade receivables
of approximately RMB26,508,000 (2021: RMB45,760,000).
20225 12A31H EXEESRERBRIEBHNR/RARE
26,508,000 7T (2021 4F : AR ¥ 45,760,0007T) ©

Management performed the impairment assessment of
trade receivables as at 31 December 2022 by using a
provision matrix which requires significant estimation in
determining the expected credit loss and this is based on
information including but not limited to, historical loss
experience, ageing of trade receivables, repayment history
and financial capabilities of the customers.
EREFRBERBL2022F12 A31ANE 2 BEWFIE#TT
RER S - 2R EREEEEREEBERIEEEXMEE
I ERBEETRNBEBELR  EHRKFIERE - &
s REPHMIEEENEER

Management also considered forward-looking information
that may impact the customers’ ability to repay the
outstanding balances in order to estimate the expected
credit losses (“"ECLS") for the impairment assessment.
EEENEZERIEYETPEBRERERENORIIELEE
B DUMERDREHEMESEESE ((RBEHEBE]D -

Yues International Holdings Group Limited / Annual Report 2022

Our procedures in this area included:
EEENLBENEFSE

o Understanding management’s process in assessing
and determining the expected credit loss
allowances of trade receivables,

. THERENERETE HRYBFIEEREEFER
HHBEAE

o Understanding the status of each of the receivables
that was past due through discussions with
management and the sales team;

. RBHEEREREEER R THRSEEBBEK
FIBRIAR

o Checking, on a sample basis, the accuracy of the
trade receivables ageing analysis used by
management to estimate the appropriate provision
for loss allowance;

. MEBREEREANGHEERENEERENE S
FE W SRIBRR e 0 AT B LERE N
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key Audit Matter
REEEn

AREETTEE®)

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
ESFEENTEERRFNFTENSE

Impairment of trade receivables (Continued)
BB E ()

We focused on this area due to the magnitude of the trade
receivable balances and the significant management
judgements and estimates in determining the expected
loss allowance of the trade receivables.
HREHREFIEAREANRETE 5 RKFIATERAEERE
ERPREXNEERBHEB R  HESEPRULERE

o Checking, on a sample basis, the subsequent
settlement of trade receivables by customers after
the year end date;

. HMEREEPRNEERRNESRKIEHEEZER
N

o Evaluating management’s impairment assessment
and explanations on each of the significant trade
receivables that were past due as at 31 December
2022 with reference to supporting evidence such as
repayment history of the customers, correspondences
with customers and review of the customers’
financial position; and

e THEEBYSEN2202F12A3NBOBHNEK
EHRWHIERAEN G REE  W2ELFER o0
EPHENRTE  HEPAREREHEP OB
DI

o Assessing the appropriateness of the expected
credit loss provisioning methodology, examining the
key data inputs on a sample basis to assess their
accuracy and completeness, and challenging the
assumptions, including both historical and forward-
looking information, used to determine the expected
credit losses.

. FHMETREEEEERE I ENES L - mEnEER
BABIR AR A E R R TR - WEBARNEEE
HEEBHENRR(RIEFEL RATEEERREES -

Based on the procedures performed, we found that
management’s judgements and estimates of impairment
of trade receivables are supported by available evidence.
ERFITHRET  ESEREREHE S RUGIERER
FIET RS TS EE S FF o

HEREBZEREBARAT/ —T - —FFH
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key Audit Matter
REEiEn

HAREETTEE®)

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
ESFEENTEERRTENFTENSE

Impairment assessment of loan and interest receivables

TR 55 3% B FI BLint (B AT 1

Refer to Note 3.1(b), Note 4(b) and Note 17 to the
consolidated financial statements
ERHEETBRERNE3.1D) « Wt 4b) MHEE17

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had loan and interest
receivables of approximately RMB57,221,000 and
RMB1,366,000 respectively.

2024128310 EXENRKREREMED R BA
R ¥ 57,221,000 7T & A R #5 1,366,000 7T ©

Management performed the impairment assessment or
loan and interest receivables as at 31 December 2022, the
measurement of ECLS which requires the application of
significant judgements and estimates included the
identification of exposures with a significant deterioration
in credit quality, and assumptions used in the ECLs model
such as the probabilities of default, loss given default,
expected future cash flows and forward-looking
information.

EIREH R 2022F 12 A31 BB E R KA S ETTRER
- EHEEEENTERERAEAABGE - 2EER
EEEREEEORAR  UREHEESEEAPERLN
% - BITBABLE  EHNEKRE - FBEIARKRENE XA
IEMEE R o
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Our procedures in this area included:
EEENEBBNEFEE

o Understanding, evaluating and validating the key
controls over impairment assessment of loan and
interest receivables, which relates to management’s
identification of possible events that triggered the
provision for impairment of loan and interest
receivables and estimation of the amount of
provisions.

. TR FHE RBEEHERER RN SREN G AR
PR H TP E A R A8 B IR U S SR R BB E B
BRI BE S REFHEESREAH -

o Inspecting the loan agreements entered into
between the Group and the borrowers, and other
relevant information relating to the borrowers as
assessed by the Group.

. HE BEEEEERATUINERRZE UK
[ et B e R AR HAMARE AR

=
=S

o Circulating confirmations to test the existence of the
loan and interest receivables as at the end of the
reporting period. We also checked the accuracy of
the ageing of loan and interest receivables as at the
end of the reporting period by tracing to source
documents.

. HEREREUAGRR RS ARESFEERERRF
B BEFENERBERBEN MRS REKEREH SR
A EIR A BRAS HY ZERE I ©
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key Audit Matter
REEEn

AREETTEE®)

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
ESFEENTEERRFNFTENSE

Impairment assessment of loan and interest receivables (Continued)

BB R FI B EFE (E)

We focused on this area because the carrying amount of
loan and interest receivables is significant to the
consolidated financial statements, the identification of
whether exposures triggered deterioration in credit quality
and the estimation of the individual impairment amount
require the use of significant judgments and estimates.
EEHFRNERBENERERERE 2 RMEHLGE T
BmEMsBEKN  #rERELEEHEELZ2RMEE
ERIRE 2 FEAEAE A KA -

Other matter

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2021 were audited by another independent
auditor whose report dated 30 March 2022 expressed an unmodified

opinion on those consolidated financial statements.

o Assessing the reasonableness of the Group’s ECL
model and the criteria for assessing if there has
been a significant increase in credit risk and loss
allowances for financial assets that should be
measured on a lifetime ECLs basis. We also
assessed recoverability of the loan and interest
receivables with reference to borrowers’ principal
and interest repayment records during the year and
subsequently up to the date of this report, and
traced the repayments to the bank statements.

. iy EREEHMEEEEEANSENERIEEE
FRth@EmNkenEEBERERTEEEEH
TEEEEBEEEFENEE - BEENR2EEBRAR
FRRHEEEAREAMNAS RF EERTH
L EWE R RF SR UE - WEAEEERE

IRITHEEE

Based on the procedures described above, we considered
key judgments and estimates applied by management in
the impairment assessment of loan and interest
receivables were supportable by sufficient and
appropriate evidence.

BIE MR - EERREEENERER R SR ETE
FREANBRAB KRG ERD REENEELFF -
Hit=18

EEEEZE2021F 12 AN BILFENGEE M
WEAS— BB LZEMEZ  EBHA2022F
SHANANMEHZE GV BRI ERERE
=8

HEREBZEREBARAT/ —T - —FFH
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company (“Directors”) are responsible for the
other information. The other information comprises all information
included in the annual report other than the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon (the “other
information”).

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent
with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge
obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially
misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is
a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THE
AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors are responsible for the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with
HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as
the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the Directors are
responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the Directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have
no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.

Yues International Holdings Group Limited / Annual Report 2022

Hi&#
BERRES(EE)HHEMENEE - RMEHR
BREBRFENAEEN  ETBRETHES
Mgk kg m s ((RaRH) -
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Independent Auditor's Report «continuea)

T T 1 BT 355 o0

AUDITOR'’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. This report is made
solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not
assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person
for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected
to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of
these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAsS, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,
or the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and
the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the Directors.
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Independent Auditor’s Report continea
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the Directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures
in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may
cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control
that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and
other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.
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Independent Auditor's Report «continuea)

T T 1 BT 355 o0

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current year and are
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be
expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement director on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Leung Yun Wa.

Baker Tilly Hong Kong Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 30 March 2023

Leung Yun Wa
Practising certificate number P08096

BB MBEN GRS BEHRRAERKIE
NWEE @)

EENERRZESBEENFIRD  REWLSE
BHEFAFEGAMBEREAMERAEER -
MEBKERETFE - RIDAFIER TR
REBELER  INBEFNERT  BFRR
BRENFERAAERPNTRERBBEARK
BHEEONEM AR REFHE  BTRES
SIMZ AN RS P SRR

ABIZHBEHRENRARAEETRBE -

AREEEHAEERARAR
BEEI A

BB 202353 A30H

=
2 B E 1R 57 P0809%6

HEREBZEREBARAT/ —T - —FFH

121



Consolidated Statement of Profit or LoSS

= /\ [ NIV
= =z
AT H =R
For the year ended 31 December 2022 # 22022 12 A31H IF F/Z

2022 2021
20225 20214
Note RMB'000 RMB'000
K et AR®TT ARBT T
Revenue ke 6 179,483 211,779
Other income and net gains/(losses)  H U A Uiz (E18) %58 7 6,838 4,055
Employee benefits expenses BERAMFAX 8 (70,648) (71,682)
Subcontracting expenses DEEX (57,652) (80,235)
Lease payment relating to REAH S AER 2 HE K
short-term leases 15(b) (28,490) (28,282)
Impairment of property, M - B & EERE
plant and equipment 14 - (16,479)
Depreciation of property, Y - BEMERETE
plant and equipment 14 (1,295) (1,912
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEERE 15(b) (3,558) (9,658)
Other expenses HEfx 9 (25,301) (26,705)
Operating Loss BERE (623) (19,119
Finance costs RBE kAR 10 (427) (1,963)
Loss before income tax RS RAESIE (1,050) (21,082)
Income tax credit FriSTiE R 11 880 3,980
Loss for the year attributable #*2FHBEAREEANEGIE
to the owners of the Company (170) (17,102)
Loss per share BREBGR
Basic and diluted (in RMB cents) EAREE(ARED) 13 (0.02) (2.12)

The notes on pages 128 to 226 are on integral part of the $128F 226 ERIMI T 4R & B TEHF ) — 3
consolidated financial statements. 7 e
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
/\‘/T\ I:| EF_\@LIQ 2%

For the year ended 31 December 2022 # 22022 12 H31H IF F/Z

2022 2021
20225 2021 4F
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®TT ARETT

Loss for the year FREIR (170) (17,102)
Other comprehensive income Htt2EES
Item that may be reclassified subsequently —E{ZrjfEEFT 728z AEH -
to profit or loss:
Exchange difference arising on translation — #EGINEFEE A+ 2 E X =5 -
of foreign operations, net of nil tax MERERHIE 1,075 (233)

Other comprehensive income/(expense) FREME2ERRE(FX)

for the year 1,075 (233)
Total comprehensive income/ XLABFHEABGERNRZE

(expense) for the year attributable W& (Bi%)#&E

to owners of the Company 905 (17,335)

The notes on pages 128 to 226 are on intend part of the consolidated — §128 226 B KK sEiB AR AR A BT TS HRER N — 30
financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

RE BRIILR

As at 31 December 2022 R2022412H31H

2022 2021
2022 2021 4F
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
KtaF AR®TR ARET T
ASSETS gE
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - B KGR 14 3,996 2,294
Right-of-use assets EREEE 15(a)(i) 7,019 9,094
Rental deposits HEZRE 17 769 572
Loan receivables W E 17 43,000 -
Financial assets at fair value through 12 A F(EE ABz=H)
profit or loss CRVEE 16 6,093 6,000
Total non-current assets ERBHEELE 60,877 17,960
current assets B E
Trade and other receivables Z 5 K H b e FUE 17 62,800 58,424
Bond measured at amortised cost LABESHRK AN G T 2 (E S 18 - 40,000
Cash and cash equivalents RERBEEED 19 55,530 68,162
Total current assets mEEERE 118,330 166,586
Total assets HEE 179,207 184,546
EQUITY Ha
Equity attributable to owners F2ATFHEBARLES
of the Company
Share capital I¥N 21(a) 8,139 7,450
Reserves B 21(b) 135,869 123,179
Total equity gauaE 144,008 130,629

Yues International Holdings Group Limited / Annual Report 2022



Consolidated Statement of Financial Position contined

AR IR @

As at 31 December 2022 R2022412H31H

2022 2021
20225 20214
Note RMB’'000 RMB’'000
KaF AR®TT ARBFIT
LIABILITIES =L
Non-current liabilities ERBAR
Lease liabilities HEBE 15(a)(ii) 4,236 6,337
Deferred income tax liabilities BIEFTEHAE 23 - 489
Total non-current liabilities ERDEBRESH 4,236 6,826
Current liabilities mEARE
Trade and other payables B 5 N E e g 20 24,973 43,032
Lease liabilities HEAG 15@@)(ii) 3,356 3,286
Current income tax liabilities ENHAp SR B & 246 773
Amount due to a director FENEEIE 24 2,388 -
Total current liabilities mEEESHE 30,963 47,091
Total liabilities HaE 35,199 53,917
Total equity and liabilities EERRAEEEH 179,207 184,546
The consolidated financial statements on pages 122 to 226 were  F12ZE 226 B4R A B @K E R 202343 A

approved by the Board of Directors on 30 March 2023 and were
signed on its behalf by:

Le Kang

BE
Director

EE

The notes on pages 128 to 226 are on integral part of the
consolidated financial statements.

REE=EHE  YHTIESTAREE

Li Jiahao
REE
Director
Ed

F1282 226 B MM sHBAAR & B SRR — 389
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
RAESEER

For the year ended 31 December 2022 # Z2022412H31H I F/Z

Share
Share share  Statutory Other option  Exchange Retained Total
capital premium reserve reserve reserve reserve earnings equity

3 RiraR R Kb RRERE ER G REEN #Ha
RMB000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB000 RMB'000

ARETT  ARETR  ARBTR  ARETR  ARETR ARBTR ARETR  ARETR

At1 January 2021 #2021%151A 8761 37763 10,60 7,094 5612 - 16,402 134,238
Comprehensive income RENE
Loss for the year ERER - - - - - - (17,100 (17,100)

other comprehensive income  Ef2Eka
Bichange differenceaisingon ~ BERNEREL Y
translation of foreign operations,  EREE - MREHE

net of niltax - - - - - (233 - (233
Total comprenensive loss ERREERLR
for the year - - - - - (239 (17,102 (17,339)

Transactions with owners ~ EEHANZS
Issue of shares through share EERAABEIRA

subscription (Note 21(e) (i) (Hz2216) () 453 12397 - - - - - 13,050

Issue of shares upon exercise of /TR REMZTIRG
share options (Note 22 (M2 % 975 - - (335) - - 676
489 13372 - - (33) - - 13726

At 31 December 2021 and R2021%12B318R
1 January 2022 2022%1A18 7,450 51,135 10,606 21,094 5217 (233) 29,300 130,629

Comprehensive income 2EhE
Loss for the year EREE - - - - = = (170) (170)

Other comprehensive income  Efi2Eka
Bichange differencearisingon ~ BEBINERELZ
translation of foreign operations, ~ EREE - HLEHE

net of niltax - - - - = 1,075 - 1,075
Total comprehensive income ER2ENREE
for the year - - - - - 1,075 (170) 905

Transactions with owners ~ EHEHANZS
Issue of shares through share ERROREZTRG

placing (ote 21(a) () (Ht2190) 689 11,785 - = - - = 12474
689 11,785 - - - - - 12474
At 31 December 2022 R2022E12A318 8,139 62,920 10,606 27,094 5217 842 29,130 144,008

The notes on pages 128 to 226 are on integral part of the  $128F226EHIMt AR A B Rt —
consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

SEeEHEeSmER

For the year ended 31 December 2022 # 22022 12 H31H IF F/Z

2022 2021
2022 20214
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
HizE AR®TT ARBT T
Operating activities BEEE
Cash generated from operating KEESFEERS
activities 27(@) 3,461 6,645
Income tax paid B ATER (74) (188)
Net cash generated from RBETHFRELERESPHE
operating activities 3,387 6,457
Investing activities BEIH
Interest received from bond receivables F&“Hﬁzf“*‘%‘%ﬁﬁ SFE 1,938 -
Interest received from bank deposits — $R1TE RIS & 801 762
Purchase of property, plant and Sﬁﬂ?@% F%&‘“ﬁ
equipment (2,949) (307
Loan receivables to third parties ME=H 2 ERER 17(c) (57,221) -
Proceeds from redemption of bond fE o] FE R & 5 B P15 51008
receivables 40,000 -
Deposit paid for investment in IR AFEFT ABRN
financial asset at FVPL SREERET RS 17(c) (6,898) -
Purchase of financial assets at FVPL BEZATEABZD
EREE - (6,000)
Net cash used in investing BRETHFMAR&SHE
activities (24,329) (5,539)
Financing activities MEEH
Principal element of lease rental paid XA ER LN ARE LD (3,484) (9,250)
Interest element of lease rental paid ~ HZHHAERSHF 2 BH (427) (1,389)
Interest paid on bank borrowing T ERITIE R B - (574)
Repayment of bank borrowing BERITHER - (10,000)
Proceeds from share placing/ BDEE, RENATESHIAE
subscription, net of direct costs HMBEERA 21(a) 12,474 13,050
Proceeds from share issued under R AR 2138 17 D 1D
share options scheme i8I 22 - 676
Net cash generated from/ MEFZHRE(FRA)
(used in) financing activities bR E ] 8,563 (7,487)
Net decrease incashandcash H&RREEEMRLBE
equivalents (12,379) (6,569)
Cash and cash equivalents at the FUReRREEEY
beginning of the year 68,162 74,965
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes [& &R &) g £ (253) (234)
cash and cash equivalents FRBAESRBEEED
at the end of the year 19 55,530 68,162

The notes on pages 128 to 226 are on integral part of the

consolidated financial statements.
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GENERAL INFORMATION

Yues International Holdings Group Limited (formerly known as
Goal Rise Logistics (China) Holdings Limited) (the “Company”)
was incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an exempted
company with limited liability and its issued shares are listed
on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”). The registered address of the Company is
Windward 3, Regatta Office Park, PO Box 1350, Grand Cayman,
KY1-1108, Cayman Islands. The principal place of business of
the Company in Hong Kong and in the People’s Republic of
China (the "PRC") is Unit B, 23/F., Central 88, No. 88-98 Des
Voeux Road Central, Hong Kong and Units 1301 and 1302, 13/F,
Citic Plaza, No. 233, Tianhe Road, Guangzhou, the PRC
respectively.

Pursuant to a special resolution passed at an Extraordinary
General Meeting of the Company on 23 March 2022, the
shareholders of the Company have approved to change the
English name of the Company from “Goal Rise Logistics (China)
Holdings Limited” to “Yues International Holdings Group
Limited” and to change the dual foreign name in Chinese of
the Company from “f& %)% (R B =R BR A" to "%
IR EEBRAR.

The Company is an investment holding company and together
with its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”) are principally
engaged in the provision of transportation, warehousing, in-
plant logistics and customisation services.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in
thousands of Renminbi (‘RIMB’000"), unless otherwise stated.
The consolidated financial statements have been approved for
issue by the board of directors of the Company on 30 March
2023.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

This note provides a list of the significant accounting policies
adopted in the preparation of these consolidated financial
statements. These policies have been consistently applied to
all the years presented, unless otherwise stated. The
consolidated financial statements are for the Group consisting
of the Company and its subsidiaries.

Yues International Holdings Group Limited / Annual Report 2022

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements contined
e EEe

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation

(a)

(b)

Compliance with HKFRSs, HKCO and Listing
Rules

The consolidated financial statements of the
Company have been prepared in accordance with
all applicable Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs"), all applicable individual
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong
Kong Accounting Standards ("HKASs") and
interpretations issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA"), and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622 of the laws of
Hong Kong) ("HKCO"). These consolidated financial
statements also comply with the applicable
disclosure provisions of the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on the
Stock Exchange.

Historical cost convention

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on a historical cost basis, except for the
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
("FVPL"), which are measured at fair values.

A fair value measurement of the financial assets at
the FVPL takes into account a market participant’s
ability to generate economic benefits by using the
assets in its highest and best use or by selling it to
another market participant that would use the
assets in its highest and best use.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continuea)
A R RE I e

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)

(c)

New and amended standards adopted by the
Group

The Group has applied the following new and
amended standards and improvements for the first
time for their annual reporting period commencing
on 1 January 2022:

Amendments to Covid-19 Related Rent
HKFRS 16 Concessions beyond
30 June 2021
Amendments to Reference to the Conceptual
HKFRS 3 Framework
Amendments to Property, Plant and
HKAS 16 Equipment — Proceeds
before Intended Use
Amendments to Onerous Contracts — Cost of
HKAS 37 Fulfilling a Contract
Amendments to Annual Improvements to
HKFRSs HKFRSs 2018-2020 Cycle

The amendments above did not have any material
impact on the amounts recognised in prior periods
and are not expected to significantly affect the
current or future periods.

Yues International Holdings Group Limited / Annual Report 2022
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements wcontinues
A IS RERM 5L

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2

FTESHTHEHRE»)

POLICIES (continued)
2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)

(d)

New standards, amendments and
interpretations not yet adopted

The following new standards, amendments and
interpretations have been published that are
relevant to the Group but not yet effective for the
current reporting period commencing on 1 January
2022 and have not been early adopted by the
Group:

2.1 HRBIEE ()

(d) BRERAPOEFTER - BETA
kRE

T it B AN 52 [ AR BA A 3T AT
Al - (BT AR BREEBMHER
2022F1 A1 H AN ARE
HAR MR AR BAREEY E
REEWN

Effective for
annual periods
beginning

on or after
BT5HH=R
Zi&Ban
FEHBEX

Amendments to HKAS 1 and
HKFRS Practice Statement 2

BHREGTERE 1R REBYBRE
HEREBIMES 25 (BFTA)

SRR

Disclosure of Accounting Policies

1 January 2023

20231 HA1H

Amendments to HKAS 8
BB EAFESH (BRI A)

Amendments to HKAS 12

BEREGTERIE 125 (BFTR)

Amendments to HKAS 1

Definition of Accounting Estimates
G hETEE

Deferred Tax Related to Assets and
Liabilities arising from a Single
Transaction

RGEEZEENAEBHRBE

Classification of Liabilities as Current

LEFIR

1 January 2023
20231 A1H

1 January 2023

20231 HA1H

or Non-current

ERGTERIE 15 (BFTE)

The Group has commenced an assessment of the
impact of the new or revised standards that have
been issued but either not yet effective for the
financial period beginning on 1 January 2022 or not
been early adopted by the Group which are
relevant to the Group’s operations. The Group
believes that the application of amendments to
HKFRSs, amendments to HKASs and the new
interpretations is unlikely to have a material impact
on the Group's consolidated statement of financial
position and performance as well as disclosure in
the future.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements contined)

e

AU BREM T

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.2 Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured entities)
over which the Group has control. The Group controls an
entity when the Group is exposed to, or has rights to,
variable returns from its involvement with the entity and
has the ability to affect those returns through its power
to direct the activities of the entity. Subsidiaries are fully
consolidated from the date on which control is
transferred to the Group. They are deconsolidated from
the date that control ceases.

The acquisition method of accounting is used to account
for business combinations by the Group.

Intercompany transactions, balances and unrealised
gains on transactions between Group companies are
eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless
the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of
the transferred asset. Accounting policies of subsidiaries
have been changed where necessary to ensure
consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.

Non-controlling interests in the results and equity of
subsidiaries are shown separately in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss, consolidated statement of
comprehensive income, consolidated statement of
changes in equity and consolidated statement of financial
position respectively.

The Group treats transactions with non-controlling
interests that do not result in a loss of control as
transactions with equity owners of the Group. A change
in ownership interest results in an adjustment between
the carrying amounts of the controlling and non-
controlling interests to reflect their relative interests in
the subsidiary. Any difference between the amount of
the adjustment to non-controlling interests and any
consideration paid or received is recognised in a separate
reserve within equity attributable to owners of the
Company.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continued
e EEe

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.2

2.3

Subsidiaries (continued)

When the Group ceases to consolidate or equity account
for an investment because of a lose of control, joint
control or significant influence, any retained interest in
the entity is remeasured to its fair value with the change
in carrying amount recognised in profit or loss. This fair
value becomes the initial carrying amount for the
purposes of subsequently accounting for the retained
interest as an associate, joint venture or financial asset.
In addition, any amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income in respect of that entity are
accounted for as if the Group had directly disposed of
the related assets or liabilities. This may mean that
amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive
income are reclassified to profit or loss or transferred to
another category of equity as specified/permitted by
applicable HKFRSs.

Business combinations

The Group applies the acquisition method to account for
business combinations. The consideration transferred for
the acquisition of a subsidiary comprises the:

. fair values of the assets transferred,

o liabilities incurred to the former owners of the
acquired entity,

o equity interests issued by the Group,

o fair value of any asset or liability resulting from a
contingent consideration arrangement, and

o fair value of any pre-existing equity interest in the
subsidiary.

Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent
liabilities assumed in a business combination are with
limited exceptions, measured initially at their fair values
at the acquisition date. The Group recognises any non-
controlling interest in the acquired entity on an
acquisition-by-acquisition basis either at fair value or at
the non-controlling interest’s proportionate share of the
acquired entity’s net identifiable assets.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.3 Business combinations (continued)

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.

The excess of the:

. consideration transferred,

o amount of any non-controlling interest in the
acquired entity, and

o acquisition-date fair value of any previous equity
interest in the acquired entity.

Over the fair value of the net identifiable assets acquired
is recorded as goodwill. If those amounts are less than
the fair value of the net identifiable assets of the business
acquired, the difference is recognised directly in profit or
loss as a bargain purchase.

Where settlement of any part of cash consideration is
deferred, the amounts payable in the future are
discounted to their present value as at the date of
exchange. The discount rate used is the entity’s
incremental borrowing rate, being the rate at which a
similar borrowing could be obtained from an independent
financier under comparable terms and conditions.
Contingent consideration is classified either as equity or
a financial liability. Amounts classified as a financial
liability are subsequently remeasured to fair value with
changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the
acquisition date carrying value of the acquirer’s
previously held equity interest in the acquiree is
remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date. Any
gains or losses arising from such remeasurement are
recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continvea
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.4

2.5

Separate financial statements

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost less
impairment in the separate financial statements of the
Company. Cost includes direct attributable costs of
investment. The results of subsidiaries are accounted for
by the Company on the basis of dividend received and
receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries is
required upon receiving a dividend from these
investments if the dividend exceeds the total
comprehensive income of the subsidiaries in the period
the dividend is declared or if the carrying amount of the
investments in the separate financial statements exceeds
the carrying amount in the consolidated financial
statements of the investee’s net assets including
goodwill.

Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent
with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating
decision-maker. The chief operating decision maker is
responsible for allocating resources and assessing
performance of the operating segments, has been
identified as the executive directors, who makes strategic
decisions.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continuea)
A IS RERM s

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.6 Foreign currency translation

(a)

(b)

Functional and presentation currency

ltems included in the financial statements of each
of the Group entities are measured using the
currency of the primary economic environment in
which the entity operates (the “functional
currency”). The consolidated financial statements
are presented in Renminbi (“RMB"), which is the
functional currency of the Company and
presentation currency of the Group.

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into
the functional currency using the exchange rates at
the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange
gains and losses resulting from the settlement of
such transactions and from the translation of
monetary assets and liabilities denominated in
foreign currencies at year end exchange rates are
recognised in profit or loss. Foreign exchange gains
and losses are presented in the consolidated
income statement on a net basis within “other
income and net gains/(losses).

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair
value in a foreign currency are translated using the
exchange rates at the date when fair value was
determined. Translation differences on assets and
liabilities carried at fair values are reported as part
of the fair value gain or l0ss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continvea
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.6 Foreign currency translation (continued)

(c)

Group companies

The results and financial position of foreign
operations (none of which has the currency of a
hyperinflationary economy) that have a functional
currency different from the presentation currency
are translated into the presentation currency as
follows:

o assets and liabilities for each statement of
financial position presented are translated at
the closing rate at the date of that statement
of financial position,

. income and expenses for each statement of
profit or loss and statement of
comprehensive income are translated at
average exchange rates (unless this is not a
reasonable approximation of the cumulative
effect of the rates prevailing on the
transaction dates, in which case income and
expenses are translated at the dates of the
transactions), and

o all resulting exchange differences are
recognised in other comprehensive income.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising
from the translation of any net investment in
foreign entities and of borrowings are recognised in
other comprehensive income. When a foreign
operation is sold or any borrowings forming part of
the net investment are repaid, the associated
exchange differences are reclassified to profit or
loss, as part of the gain or loss on sale.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.7 Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at historical
cost less depreciation and impairment losses. Historical
cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to
the acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’'s carrying
amount or recognised as a separate asset, as
appropriate, only when it is probable that future
economic benefits associated with the item will flow to
the Group and the cost of the item can be measured
reliably. The carrying amount of any component
accounted for as a separate asset is derecognised when
replaced. All other repairs and maintenance are charged
to the consolidated income statement during the
financial period in which they are incurred.

Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method
to allocate their costs, net of their residual values, over
their estimated useful lives as follows:

Plant and machinery 20% per annum

Furniture and equipment ~ 20% per annum

Office equipment 20% per annum

Leasehold improvements  Over the shorter of
remaining lease term or
20% per annum

Motor vehicles 20% per annum

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed,
and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each financial
year.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately
to its recoverable amount if the asset's carrying amount
is greater than its estimated recoverable amount (Note
2.8).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continvea
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.7

2.8

Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Gains and losses on disposal are determined by
comparing the proceeds with the carrying amount and
are recognised within “other income and net gains/
(losses) in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Non-financial assets are tested for impairment whenever
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment
loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s
carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The
recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value
less costs of disposal and value in use. For the purposes
of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the
lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable
cash inflows which are largely independent of the cash
inflows from other assets or groups of assets (cash-
generating units). Non-financial assets other than
goodwill that suffered an impairment are reviewed for
possible reversal of the impairment at the end of each
reporting period.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continuea)
A IS RR N

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.9 Investments and other financial assets

(a)

(b)

Classification

The Group classifies its financial assets in the
following measurement categories:

. those to be measured subsequently at fair
value (either through other comprehensive
income or through profit or loss), and

. those to be measured at amortised cost.

The classification depends on the Group business
model for managing the financial assets and the
contractual terms of the cash flows.

For assets measured at fair value, gains and losses
will either be recorded in profit or loss or other
comprehensive income. For investments in debt
instruments, this will depend on the business
model in which the investment is held. For
investments in equity instruments that are not held
for trading, this will depend on whether the Group
has made an irrevocable election at the time of
initial recognition to account for the equity
investment at fair value through other
comprehensive income.

See Note 25 for details of each type of financial
assets.

Recognition and derecognition

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets
are recognised on trade-date, the date on which
the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset.
Financial assets are derecognised when the rights
to receive cash flows from the financial assets have
expired or have been transferred and the Group
has transferred substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continvea
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.9 Investments and other financial assets
(Continued)

()

Measurement

At initial recognition, the Group measures a
financial asset at its fair value plus, in the case of a
financial asset not at FVPL, transaction costs that
are directly attributable to the acquisition of the
financial asset. Transaction costs of financial assets
carried at FVPL are recorded in profit or loss.

Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments
depends on the Group's business model for
managing the asset and the cash flow
characteristics of the asset. There are three
measurement categories into which the Group
classifies its debt instruments:

o Amortised cost: Assets that are held for
collection of contractual cash flows where
those cash flows represent solely payments
of principal and interest are measured at
amortised cost. Any gain or loss arising on
derecognition is recognised directly in profit
or loss and presented in other income and
net gains/(losses) together with foreign
exchange gains and losses. Impairment
losses are presented as separate line item in
the statement of profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continuea)
A IS RR N

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.9 Investments and other financial assets

(Continued)

(c)

Measurement (Continued)

Debt instruments (Continued)

Fair value through other comprehensive
income (“FVOCI"): Assets that are held for
collection of contractual cash flows and for
selling the financial assets, where the assets’
cash flows represent solely payments of
principal and interest, are measured at FVOCI.
Movements in the carrying amount are taken
through other comprehensive income, except
for the recognition of impairment gains or
losses, interest income and foreign exchange
gains and losses which are recognised in
profit or loss. When the financial asset is
derecognised, the cumulative gain or loss
previously recognised in other
comprehensive income is reclassified from
equity to profit or loss and recognised in
other income and net gains/(losses). Interest
income from these financial assets is
included in finance income or other income
using the effective interest method. Foreign
exchange gains and losses are presented in
other income and net gains/(losses) and
impairment expenses are presented as
separate line item in profit or loss.

Fair value through profit or loss (“FVPL"):
Assets that do not meet the criteria for
amortised cost or FVOCI are measured at
FVPL. A gain or loss on a debt investment
that is subsequently measured at FVPL and
presented net in profit or loss within other
income and net gains/(losses) in the period in
which it arises.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.9 Investments and other financial assets
(Continued)

()

(d)

Measurement (Continued)
Equity instruments

The Group subsequently measures all equity
investments at fair value. Where the Group’s
management has elected to present fair value
gains and losses on equity investments in other
comprehensive income, there is no subsequent
reclassification of fair value gains and losses to
profit or loss following the derecognition of the
investment. Dividends from such investments
continue to be recognised in profit or loss as other
income when the Group's right to receive
payments is established.

Changes in the fair value of financial assets at FVPL
are recognised in other income and net gains/
(losses) in the profit or loss. Impairment losses and
reversal of impairment losses on equity
investments measured at FVOCI are not reported
separately from other changes in fair value.

Impairment

The Group recognises a loss allowance for ECLS on
the financial assets measured at amortised cost
(including trade and other receivables, loan and
interest receivables, bond measured at amortised
cost, rental deposit and cash and cash equivalents).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements contined)
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.9 Investments and other financial assets
(Continued)

(d)

Impairment (Continued)
Measurement of ECLS

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit
losses. Credit losses are measured as the present
value of all expected cash shortfalls (i.e. the
difference between the cash flows due to the
Group in accordance with the contract and the
cash flows that the Group expects to receive).

The expected cash shortfalls are discounted using
the following discount rate where the effect of
discounting is material:

— fixed-rate financial assets and trade and other
receivables: effective interest rate determined
at initial recognition or an approximation
thereof;

— variable-rate financial assets: current effective
interest rate;

The maximum period considered when estimating
ECLs is the maximum contractual period over
which the Group is exposed to credit risk.

In measuring ECLS, the Group takes into account
reasonable and supportable information that is
available without undue cost or effort. This includes
information about past events, current conditions
and forecasts of future economic conditions.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continvea

T E

B MR M T

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.9 Investments and other financial assets
(Continued)

(d)

Impairment (Continued)
Measurement of ECLS (Continued)

ECLs are measured on either of the following
bases:

— 12-month ECLs: these are losses that are
expected to result from possible default
events within the 12 months after the
reporting date; and

— lifetime ECLs: these are losses that are
expected to result from all possible default
events over the expected lives of the items to
which the ECLs model applies.

Loss allowances for trade receivables are always
measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECLS.
ECLs on these financial assets are estimated using
a provision matrix based on the Group’s historical
credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are
specific to the debtors and an assessment of both
the current and forecast general economic
conditions at the reporting date.

For all other financial instruments, the Group
recognises a loss allowance equal to 12-month
ECLs unless there has been a significant increase in
credit risk of the financial instrument since initial
recognition, in which case the loss allowance is
measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECLS.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements contined)

AU BREM T

e

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

2.9 Investments and other financial assets
(Continued)

(d)

Impairment (Continued)
Significant increases in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk of a financial
instrument has increased significantly since initial
recognition, the Group compares the risk of default
occurring on the financial instrument assessed at
the reporting date with that assessed at the date of
initial recognition. In making this reassessment, the
Group considers that a default event occurs when
(i) the borrower is unlikely to pay its credit
obligations to the Group in full, without recourse by
the Group to actions such as realising security (if
any is held); or (i) the financial asset is 90 days past
due. The Group considers both quantitative and
qualitative information that is reasonable and
supportable, including historical experience and
forward-looking information that is available
without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition:

— failure to make payments of principal or
interest on their contractually due dates;

— an actual or expected significant deterioration
in a financial instrument’s external or internal
credit rating (if available);

— an actual or expected significant deterioration
in the operating results of the debtor; and

— existing or forecast changes in the
technological, market, economic or legal
environment that have a significant adverse
effect on the debtor’s ability to meet its
obligation to the Group.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continvea

T E

B MR M T

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.9 Investments and other financial assets
(Continued)

(d)

Impairment (Continued)
Significant increases in credit risk (Continued)

Depending on the nature of the financial
instruments, the assessment of a significant
increase in credit risk is performed on either an
individual basis or a collective basis. When the
assessment is performed on a collective basis, the
financial instruments are grouped based on shared
credit risk characteristics, such as past due status
and credit risk ratings.

ECLs are remeasured at each reporting date to
reflect changes in the financial instrument’s credit
risk since initial recognition. Any change in the ECLs
amount is recognised as an impairment gain or l0ss
in profit or loss. The Group recognises an
impairment gain or loss for all financial instruments
with a corresponding adjustment to their carrying
amount through a loss allowance account.

Basis of calculation of interest income

Interest income recognised in accordance with
Note 2.21 is calculated based on the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset unless the financial
asset is credit-impaired, in which case interest
income is calculated based on the amortised cost
(i.e. the gross carrying amount less loss allowance)
of the financial asset.

At each reporting date, the Group assesses
whether a financial asset is credit-impaired. A
financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more
events that have a detrimental impact on the
estimated future cash flows of the financial asset
have occurred.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements contined)

4T

AU BREM T

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.9 Investments and other financial assets
(Continued)

(d)

Impairment (Continued)
Basis of calculation of interest income (Continued)

Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired
includes the following observable events:

— significant financial difficulties of the debtor;

— a breach of contract, such as a default or
past due event;

— it becoming probable that the borrower will
enter into bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation,

— significant changes in the technological,
market, economic or legal environment that
have an adverse effect on the debtor; or

— the disappearance of an active market for a
security because of financial difficulties of the
issuer.

Write-off policy

The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is
written off (either partially or in full) to the extent
that there is no realistic prospect of recovery. This
is generally the case when the assets becomes 12
months past due or when the Group determines
that the debtor does not have assets or sources of
income that could generate sufficient cash flows to
repay the amounts subject to the write-off.

Subsequent recoveries of an asset that was
previously written off are recognised as a reversal
of impairment in profit or loss in the period in which
the recovery occurs.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements wcontinues
A IS RERM 5L

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2
POLICIES (continued)

2.10 Offsetting financial instruments

FTESHTHEHRE»)

210 sHE R T A

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net
amount reported in the consolidated statement of
financial position when there is a legally enforceable right
to offset the recognised amounts and there is an
intention to settle on a net basis or realise the asset and
settle the liability simultaneously. The legally enforceable
right must not be contingent on future events and must
be enforceable in the normal course of business and in
event of default, insolvency or bankruptcy of the Group
or the counterparty.

2.11 Financial guarantee contracts

Financial guarantee contracts are recognised as a
financial liability at the time the guarantee is issued. The
liability is initially measured at fair value and
subsequently at the higher of:

o the amount determined in accordance with the
ECLs model under HKFRS 9 Financial instrument,
and

o the amount initially recognised less, where
appropriate, the cumulative amount of income
recognised in accordance with the principles of
HKFRS 15 Revenue from contracts with customers.

The fair value of financial guarantees is determined
based on the present value of the difference in cash
flows between the contractual payments required under
the debt instrument and the payments that would be
required without the guarantee, or the estimated amount
that would be payable to a third party for assuming the
obligations.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.12 Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for
services provided in the ordinary course of business.

Trade receivables are recognised initially at the amount
of consideration that is unconditional unless they
contains significant financing components, when they
are recognised at fair value. The Group holds the trade
and other receivables with the objective to collect the
contractual cash flows and therefore measures them
subsequently at amortised cost using the effective
interest method. See Note 2.9 for further information
about the Group’s accounting for trade and other
receivables and Note 2.9(d) for a description of the
Group's impairment policies.

If collection of trade and other receivables is expected in
one year or less, they are classified as current assets. If
not, they are presented as non-current assets.

2.13 Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated
statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents
includes cash on hand, deposits held at call with financial
institutions, other short-term, highly liquid investments
with original maturities of three months or less that are
readily convertible to known amounts of cash and which
are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.

2.14 Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental
costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares are
shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the
proceeds.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements wcontinues
A BRI S

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2
POLICIES (continued)

2.15 Trade and other payables

FTESHTHEHRE»)
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These amounts represent liabilities for goods and
services provided to the Group prior to the end of
financial year which are unpaid. Trade and other
payables are presented as current liabilities unless
payment is not due within 12 months after the reporting
period. They are recognised initially at their fair value and
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method.

2.16 Borrowings costs

Borrowing costs include interest expense and finance
charges in respect of lease. They are recognised in
consolidated statement of profit or loss in the period in
which they are incurred.

2.17 Current and deferred income tax

The income tax expense or credit for the period is the tax
payable on the current period’s taxable income based on
the applicable income tax rate for each jurisdiction
adjusted by changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities
attributable to temporary differences and to unused tax
losses.

(@) Current income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on
the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively
enacted at the end of the reporting period in the
countries where the Company and its subsidiaries
operate and generate taxable income. Management
periodically evaluates positions taken in tax returns
with respect to situations in which applicable tax
regulation is subject to interpretation and considers
whether it is probable that a taxation authority
will accept an uncertain tax treatment. The Group
measures its tax balances either based on the most
likely amount or the expected value, depending on
which method provides a better prediction of the
resolution of the uncertainty.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continuea)
A IS RR N

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.17 Current and deferred income tax (continued)

(b)

Deferred income tax

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the
liability method, on temporary differences arising
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and
their carrying amounts in the consolidated financial
statements. However, deferred tax liabilities are not
recognised if they arise from the initial recognition
of goodwill. Deferred income tax is also not
accounted for if it arises from initial recognition of
an asset or liability in a transaction other than a
business combination that at the time of the
transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable
profit or loss and does not give rise to equal taxable
and deductible temporary differences. Deferred
income tax is determined using tax rates (and laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted
by the end of the reporting period and are expected
to apply when the related deferred income tax
asset is realised or the deferred income tax liability
is settled.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised only if it
is probable that future taxable amounts will be
available to utilise those temporary differences and
losses.

Deferred tax liabilities and assets are not
recognised for temporary differences between the
carrying amount and tax bases of investments in
foreign operations where the company is able to
control the timing of the reversal of the temporary
differences and it is probable that the differences
will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continvea
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.17 Current and deferred income tax (continued)

(b)

Deferred income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when
there is a legally enforceable right to offset current
tax assets and liabilities and when the deferred tax
balances relate to the same taxation authority.
Current tax assets and tax liabilities are offset
where the Group has a legally enforceable right to
offset and intends either to settle on a net basis, or
to realise the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously.

Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit or
loss, except to the extent that it relates to items
recognised in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity. In this case, the tax is also
recognised in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity, respectively.

2.18 Employee benefits

(a)

Short-term obligations

Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-
monetary benefits and accumulating sick leave that
are expected to be settled wholly within 12 months
after the end of the period in which the employees
render the related service are recognised in respect
of employees’ services up to the end of the
reporting period and are measured at the amounts
expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled.
The liabilities are presented as current employee
benefit obligations in the consolidated statement of
financial position.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements contined)

AR

A BT REN T

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.18 Employee benefits (continued)

(b)

Other long-term employee benefit obligations

The liabilities for annual leaves are not expected to
be settled wholly within 12 months after the end of
the period in which the employees render the
related service. They are therefore measured as
the present value of expected future payments to
be made in respect of services provided by
employees up to the end of the reporting period
using the projected unit credit method.
Consideration is given to expected future wage and
salary levels, experience of employee departures
and periods of service. Expected future payments
are discounted using market yields at the end of
the reporting period of high-quality corporate
bonds with terms and currencies that match, as
closely as possible, the estimated future cash
outflows. Remeasurements as a result of
experience adjustments and changes in actuarial
assumptions are recognised in profit or 10ss.

The obligations are presented as current liabilities
in the consolidated statement of financial position
if the entity does not have an unconditional right to
defer settlement for at least twelve months after
the reporting period, regardless of when the actual
settlement is expected to occur.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continued
e EEe

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.18 Employee benefits (continued)

(c)

Post-employment obligations

The Group operates and pays contributions to
defined contribution schemes which are available
for all employees in the PRC, Hong Kong and
overseas offices, where applicable. The assets of
these schemes are held in separate trustee
administered funds. Both the Group and the
employees are required to contribute based on a
percentage of the employees’ basic salaries
according to the related local labour laws where
the Group operates. Contributions are made on a
mandatory, contractual or voluntary basis. The
Group has no further payment obligations once the
contributions have been paid.

The employees of the Group'’s subsidiary in the PRC
are members of a state-managed retirement
benefit scheme operated by the government of the
PRC. The subsidiary is required to contribute a
certain percentage of payroll costs to the
retirement benefit scheme to fund the benefits. The
only obligation of the Group with respect to the
retirement benefit scheme is to make the specified
contributions under the schemes. During both
current and prior years, the total amounts
contributed by the Group to the scheme and
charged to the profit or l0ss represent contributions
paid/payable to the scheme by the Group at rate
specified in the rules of the scheme.

MPF Scheme in Hong Kong is a defined contribution
plan for certain employees. The assets of the MPF
Scheme are held in separate trustee-administered
funds. Both the entity and the employees are
required to contribute 5% of the employees’
relevant income up to a maximum of HK$1,500 per
employee per month. The entity’s contributions to
the MPF Scheme are expensed as incurred.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements contined)
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.18 Employee benefits (continued)

(d)

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are payable when
employment is terminated by the Group before the
normal retirement date, or when an employee
accepts voluntary redundancy in exchange for
these benefits. The Group recognises termination
benefits at the earlier of the following dates: (a)
when the Group can no longer withdraw the offer
of those benefits; and (b) when the entity
recognises costs for a restructuring that is within
the scope of HKAS 37 and involves the payment of
terminations benefits. In the case of an offer made
to encourage voluntary redundancy, the
termination benefits are measured based on the
number of employees expected to accept the offer.
Benefits falling due more than 12 months after the
end of the reporting period are discounted to
present value.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continued
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.19 Share-based payments

(a)

Equity-settled share-based payments
transactions

The Group operates an equity-settled share-based
compensation plan, under which the entity receives
services from employees as consideration for
equity instruments (options, shares and convertible
bonds) of the Group. The fair value of the employee
services received in exchange for the grant of the
options, shares and convertible bonds is
recognised as an expense with a corresponding
increase in equity. The total amount to be expensed
is determined by reference to the fair value of the
options granted:

o including any market performance conditions
(for example, an entity’s share price),

. excluding the impact of any service and non-
market performance vesting conditions (for
example, profitability, sales growth targets
and remaining as an employee of the entity
over a specified time period); and

° including the impact of any non-vesting
conditions (for example, the requirement for
employees to save or holding shares for a
specified period of time).

Non-market vesting conditions are included in
assumptions about the number of options that are
expected to vest. The total expense is recognised
over the vesting period, which is the period over
which all of the specified vesting conditions are to
be satisfied.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.19 Share-based payments (continued)

(a)

(b)

Equity-settled share-based payments
transactions (Continued)

After vesting, when the share options are forfeited
prior to the expiry date, the amount previously
recognised in the “share option reserve” will be
transferred to the "Retained earnings” within the
consolidated statement of changes in equity.

At the end of each reporting period, the entity
revises its estimates of the number of options that
are expected to vest based on the non-marketing
vesting conditions. It recognises the impact of the
revision to original estimates, if any, in the
consolidated income statement, with a
corresponding adjustment to equity.

When the options are exercised, the Company
issues new shares. The proceeds received net of
any directly attributable transaction costs are
credited to share capital (nominal value) and share
premium.

Share-based payment transactions among
group entities

The grant by the Company of options over its equity
instruments to the employees of subsidiary
undertakings in the Group is treated as a capital
contribution. The fair value of employee services
received, measured by reference to the grant date
fair value, is recognised over the vesting period as
an increase to investment in subsidiary
undertakings, with a corresponding credit to equity
in the parent entity accounts.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements wcontinues
A BRI S

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 IFEE€:HEHME %)
POLICIES (continued)
2.20 Provisions 220 B

Provisions for legal claims, service warranties and make
good obligations are recognised when the Group has a
present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past
events, it is probable that an outflow of resources will be
required to settle the obligation and the amount can be
reliably estimated. Provisions are not recognised for
future operating losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the
likelihood that an outflow will be required in settlement is
determined by considering the class of obligations as a
whole. A provision is recognised even if the likelihood of
an outflow with respect to any one item included in the
same class of obligations may be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of
management’s best estimate of the expenditure required
to settle the present obligation at the end of the reporting
period. The discount rate used to determine the present
value is a pre-tax rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the liability. The increase in the provision due
to the passage of time is recognised as interest expense.

2.21 Revenue recognition

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a
performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of
the goods or services underlying the particular
performance obligation is transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or
a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a series
of distinct goods or services that are substantially the
same.

221 Wam

EAKERBEEMHMAAERAZL
REMEET  METETHRAUE
FEERRL BAWSEAENE
HER - TEERERER - REK
ERZERBTEEREE - HMTERAK
K& 2 B R RER TR -

MHBRZERUEE  FEERRH
NEITEENT R E EREE
FERIRERE - BMEstREEEHE
Al —IRHIRE R A REETA
e mEREE -

BEZEEBN RS MRYETRA
BEMFHHMERERNRE
FHE - ANEEIRERBLE X SRR
ERTSHSENERERBERE
R R RHE RO AT I K - BERS R AT
MBIy B A RER R SRS -

R

EAREETKENELE  NESERE
MEERBENE SRR [ ]
BETEPRER K

BHOBETE - ARENE RRG
(FH—HE MRS H— RFIAREGE
[ Y AR o S AR T

HREFEREBERAR/ — T~ —F5RH

159



160

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements contined)

AR

A BT REN T

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.21 Revenue recognition (continued)

Control is transferred over time and revenue is
recognised over time by reference to the progress
towards complete satisfaction of the relevant
performance obligation if one of the following criteria is
met:

o the customer simultaneously receives and
consumes the benefits provided by the Group’s
performance as the Group performs;

o the Group’s performance creates or enhances an
asset that the customer controls as the Group
performs; or

o the Group’s performance does not create an asset
with an alternative use to the Group and the Group
has an enforceable right to payment for
performance completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when
the customer obtains control of the distinct good or
service.

A contract asset represents the Group’s right to
consideration in exchange for goods or services that the
Group has transferred to a customer that is not yet
unconditional. It is assessed for impairment in
accordance with HKFRS 9. In contrast, a receivable
represents the Group's unconditional right to
consideration, i.e. only the passage of time is required
before payment of that consideration is due.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to
transfer goods or services to a customer for which the
Group has received consideration (or an amount of
consideration is due) from the customer.

A contract asset and a contract liability relating to the
same contract are accounted for and presented on a net
basis.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)
2.21 Revenue recognition (continued)

Over time revenue recognition: measurement of progress
towards complete satisfaction of a performance
obligation

The progress towards complete satisfaction of a
performance obligation is measured based on output
method, which is to recognise revenue on the basis of
direct measurements of the value of the goods or
services transferred to the customer to date relative to
the remaining goods or services promised under the
contract, that best depict the Group’s performance in
transferring control of goods or services.

(a) Transportation service, warehousing service
and in-plant logistics service

Transportation service represents delivery of the
customers’ inventory to their downstream clients,
manufacturing plants and/or designated locations.
The transportation services cover across the PRC
and Egypt.

Warehousing service represents provision of
inventory storage and management services in the
Group's warehouses located in the PRC with
specified physical conditions.

In-plant logistics service represents provision of
wide-range of in-house services at customers’
manufacturing plants to integrate the production
processes, which cover the management of the
movements of (a) production materials and
components and work-in progress to the
production lines within the manufacturing plants of
the customers of the Group; and (b) delivery of
finished goods to the factory gates of the relevant
customers deployed by staff of the Group at its
customers’ manufacturing plants.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements contined
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.21 Revenue recognition (continued)

(a)

(b)

(c)

Transportation service, warehousing service
and in-plant logistics service (Continued)

Revenue from the from the provision of the
transportation service, warehousing service and in-
plant logistics service is recognised over time when
the Group provides the services and all of the
benefits are received and consumed
simultaneously by the customer throughout its
contract period. Thus, the Group satisfies a
performance obligation and recognised revenue
over time and the Group has present right to
payment.

Customisation service

Customisation service represents provision of
labelling services (i.e. sticking labels onto the
surface of the inventory according to customers’
instructions) and the bundling services (i.e. bundling
the inventory to facilitate handling and
transportation) generally provided inside the
Group'’s warehouses.

Revenue from customisation service is recognised
at a point in time when the customers accept the
services and the Group has present right to
payment and collection of the consideration is
probable.

Interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective
interest method. When a receivable is impaired, the
Group reduces the carrying amount to its
recoverable amount, being the estimated future
cash flow discounted at the original effective
interest rate of the instrument, and continues
unwinding the discount as interest income. Interest
income on impaired loans is recognised using the
original effective interest rate.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continvea
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.22 Earnings per share
(a) Basic earnings per share

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing:

the profit attributable to owners of the
Company, excluding any costs of servicing
equity other than ordinary shares

by the weighted average number of ordinary
shares outstanding during the financial year,
adjusted for bonus elements in ordinary
shares issued during the year and excluding
treasury shares.

(b) Diluted earnings per share

Diluted earnings per share adjusts the figures used
in the determination of basic earnings per share to
take into account:

2.23 Leases

the after-income tax effect of interest and
other financing costs associated with dilutive
potential ordinary shares, and

the weighted average number of additional
ordinary shares that would have been
outstanding assuming the conversion of all
dilutive potential ordinary shares.

Leases are recognised as a right-of-use asset and a
corresponding liability at the date at which the leased
asset is available for use by the Group.

Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and
contain a wide range of different terms and conditions.
The lease agreements do not impose any covenants
other than the security interests in the leased assets that
are held by the lessor. Leased assets may not be used as
security for borrowing purposes.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.23 Leases (continued)

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially
measured on a present value basis. Lease liabilities
include the net present value of the fixed lease
payments. Lease payments to be made under reasonably
certain extension options are also included in the
measurement of the liability.

The lease payments are discounted using the interest
rate implicit in the lease. If that rate cannot be readily
determined, which is generally the case for leases in the
Group, the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate is used,
being the rate that the individual lessee would have to
pay to borrow the funds necessary to obtain an asset of
similar value to the right-of-use asset in a similar
economic environment with similar terms, security and
conditions. To determine the incremental borrowing rate,
the Group, where possible, uses recent third-party
financing received by the individual lessee as a starting
point, adjusted to reflect changes in financing conditions
since third party financing was received and makes any
adjustments specific to the lease, e.g. term, country,
currency and security.

Lease payments are allocated between principal and
finance cost. The finance cost is charged to profit or loss
over the lease period so as to produce a constant
periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the
liability for each period.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the
following:

° the amount of the initial measurement of lease
liability,

o prepayment, and

o any initial direct costs.

Yues International Holdings Group Limited / Annual Report 2022

2

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continuea)
A IS RERM s

FESHBERE#)

223ME&E #)

HEELMEERBBEYFRBRER
E-HERBERRFBEEMNKNFR
B RIBAEETERNRIEENN
HENFKITFARBEAEZA

HENFERABEERR SR ET A
BEER - RN XN S E (REE
HE-RBUERR) - AEREE
ANEEEFRFE - AMERIABARE
GREMEEEBERUNEERR
RS PRI P SRAR DGR R ~ B2 16k
HEAMBESBAINONE - 5
EFIREERNE - REBEEM LIS
R ERERAMAASRESNE
= RERHEIFHRARBRARKRE
BEE=7TREARRE GITNE
FAETTEEE SR ERE - flanHs
R BIR - B RER -

AENRA RS RBERKZMH
B o B4 A A TE R B IR R SR 5
% - BIAS BB E EHED IR
R —5 o

EREEERKAE  BEATS

18

s FHEHERGENDE

. ERE R

[ESCIEUE CN=REIDRINE



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continued
e EEe

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2
POLICIES (continued)

2.23 Leases (continued)

FTESHTHEHRE»)

223ME&E #)

Right-of-use assets are generally depreciated over the
shorter of the asset’s useful life and the lease term on a
straight-line basis. If the Group is reasonably certain to
exercise a purchase option, the right-of-use asset is
depreciated over the underlying asset’s useful life.

Payments associated with short-term leases of premises
and all leases of low-valued assets are recognised on a
straight-line basis as an expense in profit or loss. Short-
term leases are leases with a lease term of 12 months or
less.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under
HKFRS 9 and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments
to fair value at initial recognition are considered as
additional lease payments and included in the cost of
right-of-use assets.

Lease modifications

The Group accounts for a lease modification as a
separate lease if:

o the modification increases the scope of the lease
by adding the right to use one or more underlying
assets; and

J the consideration for the leases increases by an
amount commensurate with the stand- alone price
for the increase in scope and any appropriate
adjustments to that stand-alone price to reflect the
circumstances of the particular contract.

For a lease modification that is not accounted for as a
separate lease, the Group remeasures the lease liability
based on the lease term of the modified lease by
discounting the revised lease payments using a revised
discount rate at the effective date of the modification.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.23 Leases (continued)

Lease modifications (Continued)

The Group accounts for the remeasurement of lease
liabilities by making corresponding adjustments to the
relevant right-of-use asset. When the modified contract
contains a lease component and one or more additional
lease or non-lease components, the Group allocates the
consideration in the modified contract to each lease
component on the basis of the relative stand- alone price
of the lease component and the aggregate stand-alone
price of the non-lease components.

2.24 Dividend distribution

Dividend distribution to the shareholders is recognised as
a liability in the consolidated financial statements in the
period in which the dividends are approved by the
Company'’s shareholders or directors, where appropriate.

Dividend proposed or declared after the reporting period
but before the consolidated financial statements are
authorised for issue, are disclosed as a non-adjusting
event and are not recognised as a liability at the end of
the reporting period.

2.25 Government grants

Grants from the government are recognised at their fair
value when there is reasonable assurance that the grant
will be received and the Group will comply with all the
attached conditions.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements wcontinues
A BRI S

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 FES:HHFEHE %)
POLICIES (continued)

2.26 Contingent liabilities 226 ABE

A contingent liability is: SARBEE -

(@) A possible obligation that arises from past events (@ HEBRAEFEMUMmAsEs EE
and whose existence will be confirmed only by the % BREESRGEEFER
occurrence and non-occurrence of one or more /J&E/\—IE%;:IEI#KEIT
uncertain future events not wholly within the EHINRRTEEEHS
control of the Group. Eé’éi

(b) A present obligation that arises from past events b)) BEBREFRHMELENBEGES
but is not recognised because: F DA R B AR
(i) Itis not probably that an outflow of resources () BEEBEIHIREER

embodying economic benefit will be required B ERME - 3

to settle the obligation; or

(i)  The amount of the obligation cannot be (il EHBEEIADAHE
measured with sufficient reliability. B
Contingent liabilities are not recognised but are disclosed FARBBEDTHER - EZRAIEHR
in the notes to the consolidated financial statements KB 20 AR TEAR & BT IS R I 5T
when an inflow of economic benefits is probable. When PR - WELEBEARA - AR
inflow is virtually certain, an assets is recognised. BE -
2.27 Related parties 2.27 B3 5
(@) A person, or a close member of that person’s (@ MBI TAL:  BIZALsZz
family, is related to the Group if that person: AT 2R B [ B
(i) has control or joint control over the Group; () kRS AER
(i) has significant influence over the Group; or (il HAEEEERZEN
B3
(i) is a member of the key management (il AAKESIAEEHTA
personnel of the Group or the Group’s parent. FINEEZEEREKE -
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.27 Related parties (continued)

(b)  An entity is related to the Group if any of the
following conditions applies:

(i)

(if)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

The entity and the Group are members of the
same group (which means parent, subsidiary
and fellow subsidiary is related to the others).

One entity is an associate or joint venture of
the other entity (or an associate or joint
venture of a member of a group of which the
other entity is a member).

Both entities are joint ventures of the same
third party.

One entity is a joint venture of a third entity
and the other entity is an associate of the
third entity.

The entity is a post-employment benefit plan
for the benefit of employees of either the
Group or an entity related to the Group.

The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by
a person identified in (a).

A person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of
the key management personnel of the entity
(or of a parent of the entity).

The entity, or any member of a group of
which it is a part, provides personnel services
to the Group or to the Group’s parent.

Close members of the family of a person are those family
members who may be expected to influence, or be
influenced by, that person in their dealings with the

entity.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continvea
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
3.1 Financial risk factors

The Group's activities expose it to a variety of financial
risks: market risk (including price, foreign exchange and
interest rate), credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group's
overall risk management programme focuses on the
unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to
minimise potential adverse effect on the Group's financial
performance.

(@) Market risk

0]

(i)

Price risk

Price risk is the risk that the fair value of the
Group's financial assets at FVPL will fluctuate
as a result of changes in significant
unobservable input as stated in Note 3.3(a),
whether those changes are caused by factors
specific to the individual investment or factors
affecting all instruments in the market.

In arriving at the fair value of the financial
assets at FVPL , the Group may use valuation
technigues which require the estimation of
key variables. Details of the valuation method
and the sensitivity analysis for the possible
impact given a reasonable shift in the key
variable are set out in Note 3.3.

Foreign exchange risk

The Group holds monetary assets or liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies, which can
be affected by currency fluctuations and
expose to currency risks.

The Group currently does not have foreign
currency hedging policy. However, the
management closely monitors foreign
exchange exposure and will consider hedging
significant foreign currency exposure should
the need arise.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continuea)
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)
Market risk (Continued)

(@

(ii)

Foreign exchange risk (Continued)

The Group's currency risk is mainly
attributable to exposure on outstanding bank
balances, trade receivables, and trade
payables that are denominated in currencies
other than functional currency of the entities
within the Group. The currencies giving rise
to this risk are primarily United States dollar
("USD").

The following table details the Group’s
exposure at the end of the reporting period to
currency risk arising from recognised assets
or liabilities denominated in a currency other
than the functional currency of the entity to
which they relate. For presentation purposes,
the amounts of the exposure are shown in
RMB, translated using the spot rate at the
year end date.

3

EEEAMRER 2
3.1 erEREEE)
@) TBERE)

i) SNERR ()
AEBNEERBRTS
BRERUAEEE R
AL LA SN B B IS B
REWMRITES BH
FE U 2R B LA 2 B 5 R A
RIER R - E4 LA
B e T EAET (&
) o

TRFIAREERRE
HIPK P B A MBS & B
WEEER AN BB G
ENEEREENXBE
FELNEERR - 5t
2HWME - AReEN
ARBIR WIRAF
EEMEHE XSRS -

Exposure to foreign
currencies (expressed in RMB)

ShEERBE (LLARRZS)

2022 2021
20225 20214
United United
States States
Dollars Dollars
ET ETT
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®TR ARETT

Trade and other receivables B 5N E bl FE 9,590 26,965
Cash and cash equivalents B RASEEY 9,739 19,503
Trade and other payables 5 R EAMRESFRIE (3,858) (19,121)
Net exposure arising from EEREENRABBEEN

recognised assets and B

liabilities 15,471 27,347
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3 EEERERE#)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued) 31 eRtREREZRE@®
(@) Market risk (Continued) (a) TWHEEE(E)
(i) Foreign exchange risk (Continued) (i) shEERSE (E)
The following table details the Group’'s TRFAWAEEHAR
sensitivity to a 5% increase and decrease in MHBEINEEART
RMB against the relevant foreign currencies. X 5% BV BURAE © 5% K
5% represents management’s assessment of EEBHINEEERSIE
the reasonably possible change in foreign A EE B B A T Ml o B
exchange rates. The sensitivity analysis EAmEREREEN
includes only outstanding foreign currency BatEE®EE - R
denominated monetary items and adjusts ¥ 25 B R 5t 5% ) SN EE (&
their translation at the end of the reporting TSP HELGE - MU
period for a 5% change in foreign currency TEHEERTWERAMN
rates. A negative number below indicates an AR S ABBEINE A
increase in post-tax loss (2021: an increase in 5% - RIIBR B 14 & 1838 N
post-tax loss) for the reporting period where (2021 4F - BRIR1Z B 1B 0%
RMB strengthens 5% against the relevant hn) o i AR EE K AR RS
foreign currency. For a 5% weakening of RMB BeBZ1E 5% + RIBRFL1& &S
against the relevant foreign currency, there BEEESRERTE -
would be an equal and opposite impact on
the post-tax loss.
2022 2021
2022 % 20214
Effect on Effect on
Increase/ loss after Increase/ loss after
(decrease) taxand (decrease) tax and
in foreign retained in foreign retained
exchange earnings exchange earnings
rate RMBS$'000 rate RMB$'000
PRk BBz
Bk BiER
SHesER RrEE2F HINEE B R REBAF
% 4 -0 4 A Eob-7
(TFHE) AR®WTTRT (TR) ARBFT
usb £ 5% 646 5% 1,155
(5%) (646) (5%) (1,155)
SREREREBESRAT/ T - —FFH 177
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements contined)
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)
(@) Market risk (Continued)

(i)

Interest rate risk

The Group has no significant interest-bearing
assets and liabilities except for cash at banks,
loan receivables and bond measured at
amortised cost.

In the opinions of the directors of the
company, the interest income derived from
the bank balances is insignificant and the
Group's income and operating cash flows are
substantially independent of changes in
market interest rates. Accordingly, no
sensitivity analysis is performed.

As at 31 December 2022, the Group’s loan
receivables (2021: bond measured at
amortised cost) bore fixed interest rates
which expose the Group to fair value interest
rate risk. Management considers the fair
value interest rate risk is insignificant to the
Group.

The Group has not used any financial
instrument to hedge the interest rate risk that
it is exposed to currently. However, the
management of the Group monitors interest
rate exposure and will consider hedging
significant interest rate exposure should the
need arises.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements wcontinues
A IS RERM 5L

3  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(b)

Credit risk

Credit risk is managed on a group basis. The
Group's credit risk primarily arises from trade
receivables, loan and interest receivable, bond
measured at amortised cost, deposits, other
receivables and cash deposited at banks. The
Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk which
will cause a financial loss to the Group in the event
of the counterparties failure to perform their
obligations as at the end of the reporting period in
relation to each class of recognised financial assets
is the carrying amount of these assets which are
stated as follows:

3

EEEARER 2
3.1 erEREZ@E)

(b) EERB
1:1,\}—“;»\?;(2@/\%’&%}% ZJS
EENEERARTIEREES
PRI - RN Il
RBERAGENES &
& HitEWRBERIRITHE
o ¥ 7R R ER R R AL
BAEEM AAEEFGEE
ERZACRMEEMEY SR

AREELMBEBEBRNERE
ERBRREEAENEREE
I
2022 2021
20225 20214
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®TT ARETT

Trade receivables B 5 WA 26,508 45,760
Other receivables H b Uk 5kIA 1,417 2,136
Bond measured at amortised cost LA 84K ANEH B B & 5 = 40,000
Loan and interest receivables fEUE R FIE 58,587
Rental and other deposits e kHEtize 9,785 10,165
Deposit in relation to investment in 3z A (EzH AIBZEAY
financial asset at FVTPL TREERERELRS 6,898 -
Cash deposited at banks TFHRIBITHIRS 55,493 68,130
158,688 166,191
HREARZEREBERAR / T - —FFH
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continuea)
A IS RERM s

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(b)

Credit risk (Continued)
Trade receivables

In order to minimise the credit risk, management is
responsible for the determination of credit limits,
credit approvals and other monitoring procedures
to ensure that follow-up action is taken to recover
overdue trade receivables. Normally, the Group
does not hold any collateral over trade receivables.
In addition, individual credit evaluations are
performed on all customers requiring credit over a
certain amount. These evaluations focus on the
customer’s past history of making payments when
due and current ability to pay, and take into
account information specific to the customer as
well as pertaining to the economic environment in
which the customer operates. Trade receivables
are generally due within 0 to 150 days (2021: 0 to
150 days) from the date of billing.

The Group has a concentration of credit risk from
trade receivables from certain customers. For the
year ended 31 December 2022, the top customer
accounted for approximately 32% (2021: 40%) of
the Group's revenue. As at 31 December 2022, 47%
(2021: 70%) and 65% (2021 83%) of the total trade
debtors was due from the largest customer and the
five largest customers respectively.

The group measures loss allowances for trade
receivables at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs,
which is calculated using a provision matrix. As the
Group's historic credit loss experience does not
indicate significantly different loss patterns for
different customer segments, the loss allowance
based on past due status is not further
distinguished between the Group’s different
customer bases.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continued
A BT ISR s

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(b)

Credit risk (Continued)
Trade receivables (Continued)

Based on the historic data, current conditions and
the Group's view of economic conditions over the
expected lives of the trade receivables, the
directors of the Company have considered the
credit risk of trade receivables and note that there
was no actual loss nor significant past due
experience over the past 3 years, including periods
of unfavourable economic conditions. The directors
consider the aggregate risks arising from the
possibility of credit loss on trade receivables is not
significant and no allowance for credit losses were
made as at 31 December 2022 and 2021.

Loan and interest receivables

The Group manages and analyses the credit risk for
each of their new borrowers before making loans
to them and offering the terms and conditions. The
directors of the Company would evaluate the credit
quality of the borrower by assessing the identity,
background, financial position, purpose of
borrowings, etc. The Group may request for
collateral after granting the loan, if necessary. Over
the terms of the loans, management of the Group
accounts for its credit risk by appropriately
providing for ECLs on a timely basis by reference to
each of the borrower’s financial capabilities and
their repayment history, and adjust with current
and forward looking economic conditions. As at 31
December 2022, the outstanding loan and interest
receivables were from the loans and interest made
to eight third parties, which all the loan and interest
receivable balances were not past due.

The management has reviewed those borrowers
with strong capacity to meet the contractual cash
flow and satisfactory repayment history. The
directors of the Company are of the opinion that
aggregate risks arising from the possibility of credit
losses are not significant and no allowance for
credit losses were made as at 31 December 2022.

3 EEERERE#)
31 eptRRAEAZEE)

(b)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continuea)
A IS RR N

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(b)

Credit risk (Continued)
Bank balances

The credit risk on deposits with banks is limited
because the counterparties are several reputable
and creditworthy banks. Management does not
expect any losses from non-performance by these
banks and financial institutions as they have no
default history in the past. Therefore, expected
credit loss rate of cash at bank is assessed to be
immaterial and no provision was made as at 31
December 2022 and 2021.

Deposits, other receivables and bond measured at
amortised cost

For deposits, other receivables and bond measured
at amortised cost, management makes periodic
collective assessments as well as individual
assessment on the recoverability of deposits, other
receivables and bond measured at amortised cost
based on historical settlement records and past
experience. Those balances are assessed by the
management of the Group as low risk of default
with no any indicator to trigger a significant
increase in credit risk nor deterioration of credit
quality, since the relevant counterparties have
strong capacity to meet the contractual cash flow.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continvea
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

()

3 EEERERE#)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued) 31 eRRREZR@E)
Liquidity risk (c) REBELEAK
With prudent liquidity risk management, the Group REEREMETRDE SR
aim to maintain sufficient cash and cash RER BEAKFATNES
equivalents and ensure the availability of funding MEeESEMRERITBEBRR
through an adequate amount of available financing. TRESENGEAIRESR K
It is the policy of the Group to regularly monitor SENSHATHEEEN R
current and expected liquidity requirements and to TBERESESF R - WHERE
ensure that adequate funding is available for BRAMESIANREE 1§
operating, investing and financing activities. BERBEEE -
The table below analyses the Group’s non- TRETAEENIEITETE
derivative financial liabilities into relevant maturity BE - RREBEND EER
groupings based on the remaining period at the BERREARZEARIEHA
end of the reporting period to the contractual RO R BRI T D AT - FER A
maturity date. The amounts disclosed in the table BENSERE N RMIRD
are the contractual undiscounted cash flows. WEME °
Undiscounted cash flows
*Hﬁmﬁﬁl)lb;
On demand
or less than 1to 2to Carrying
1year 2 years 5 years Total amount
BEXE
PRE 1828 2E5% #t FEE
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT  AREFTT  ARETRT  ARETR  AR%ETR
As at 31 December 2022  #2022%12A31H
Trade and other payables ~ BSREMENTE 24,973 - - 24,973 24,973
Lease liabilities RERR 3,664 3,242 1,150 8,056 7,592
Amount due to a director [ EES 2,388 - - 2,388 2,388
31,025 3,242 1,150 35,417 34,953
As at 31 December 2021  12021%£12A 318
Trade and other payables B REMENTIE 43032 43032 43032
Lease liabilities REAR 3,701 2,898 3850 10,449 9623
46,733 2,898 3850 53,481 52,655
SREREREBARAT/ —F = —FFR
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
3.2 Capital risk management

The Group's objectives when managing capital are to
safeguard the Group's ability to continue as a going
concern in order to provide returns for shareholders and
benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an
optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the
Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to
shareholders, return capital to shareholders, issue new
shares or sell assets to reduce debt plus net new debts.

The Group monitors its capital on the basis of the gearing
ratio, which is expressed as a percentage of net debt
divided by total capital. Net debt is calculated as the sum
of lease liabilities and amount due to a director less the
sum of cash and cash equivalents. Total capital
represents total equity as shown on the consolidated
statement of financial position plus net debts.

Since the amount of cash and cash equivalents exceeded
the sum of lease liabilities and amount due to a director,
the Group is at net cash position and the gearing ratio
was not applicable as at 31 December 2022 and 2021.
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3 SREARERE®
3.3 Fair value estimation 3 AFEME
Financial assets measured at fair value (@) RAFEFENSREE
The table below analyses financial instruments TREFEAFEZHERN
carried at fair value, by level of the inputs to FrABASEBENER  DiTiZ
valuation techniques used to measure fair value. ANTFENEZSBTH - 5F
Such inputs are categorised into three levels within iﬁj)\%ﬂfﬁ&TXﬁﬁLﬁﬁ“*ﬁ
a fair value hierarchy as follows: AFEERERAN=ERE
%& :
Level 1: Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active ENE HEEEXBERNE
markets for identical assets or iGN mECRE
liabilities. HE) o
Level 2: Inputs other than quoted prices F2Mm BEESBBEEZD
included within level 1 that are PlanfE &) skfa % (BN
observable for the assets or liabilities, FAERE) TBEEW
either directly (that is, as prices) or AR (Z 102
indirectly (that is, derived from prices). R RERIN) o
Level 3: Inputs for the assets or liabilities that F3M BEXBEIIEKRE
are not based on observable market ABEMIZEERNg
data (that is, unobservable inputs). NS (AR 8=
AR o
The following table presents the Group's financial TE25AREFR202F K
assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value 2021F 12 AN B IR A FER
at 31 December 2022 and 2021. ENSREEREBE -
Level 3
EIR
2022 2021
2022 E 20214
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR%®TT ARBT T
Financial assets at FVPL BATER ABED
SREE 6,093 6,000

SRERZEREEGRAT / — S FFH
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements contined)
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3 SRIEREE®
3.3 Fair value estimation (continued) NSRENEE e )
Financial assets measured at fair value (@) BRAFEIENEMEEE)
(Continued)
If one or more of the significant inputs is not based A —IA S % IH B K& A BRI
on observable market data, the instrument is FERBAIBRMISER - Al
included in level 3. SRIESIAEIR -
The following table provides the information about TREHEHEEIRATER
Level 3 fair value measurements: EMER
Relationship
of key inputs
Valuation and significant
2022 2021 techniques Significant unobservable
Financial assets at 2022% 20215 and  unohservable inputs to Sensitivity of fair
FVTPL RMB'000 RMB'000 Key inputs inputs fair value Rate value to the input(s)
TERANE
REXFT
BATEHAREH fhERER EXTIHR N i
eREE ABBTR  \E¥TR TERANE BABE HOTENRR it LFEHRABBNHRE
Unlisted investment 6,093 6,000 Incorme Discount for Higher the 2.85% 5% increase/(decrease)
approach future cashflow rate of discount, inthe discount rate of
(2021: Recent forecast lower the fair future cashflow forecast
transaction price) value and vice would resultin
versa (decrease)/increase
in fair value of
approximately RMB227,000
and RMB233,000 respectively
#ITRE WA FRBLNE RERE 2.85% ﬂﬁé?ﬁ%fﬁ“ﬁﬁﬁ
(20215 - BHER AIATERE - RELA/(TH)5%
TR HER) R 8 H%%MHE;:E‘J(W/ )/
BEIAOARE 27,0007 R
ARE 23,0007
Discount for Higher discount 15.70% 5% increase/(decrease)
lack of rate of lack of in the discount rate of
marketability marketability, [ack of marketability
lower the fair value would result in (decrease)/
and vice versa increase in fair value of
approximately RMB57,000
and RMBS56,000 respectively
it bl s ifid 15.70% &B%“f%‘}ﬁ%_’\ﬁﬁﬁf%?
MEMEHR GREAS AATE H+/ 5% A7
BIE - RZHA TFE(/J@*%/)/
tgnumﬁm,ooom
AR 56,0007
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continued
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
3.3 Fair value estimation (continued)

(@

Financial assets measured at fair value
(Continued)

As at 31 December 2021, the directors of the
Company determined the fair value of the unlisted
equity investment at the end of reporting period
with reference to recent transaction prices of the
investment.

As at 31 December 2022, the directors of the
Company updated their assessment of the fair
value of the unlisted equity investment, which was
determined using the income approach as it is
considered as a better estimation of the future
economic benefits derived from the unlisted
investment. In this approach, the discounted cash
flows method was used to capture the present
value of the expected future economic benefits to
be derived from the equity ownership of this
unlisted shares.

The following table presents the changes in level 3
instruments for the years ended 31 December 2022

3 EEERERE#)
3.3 AYEMRHET &)
@ BATFENBHSREE(H)

R2021F 128318 AR 7
EELEREMNAARSER
BT LTRAKRENREH
KEQAFE -

M2022F12A318 » AR &
EEFTHWEHIF LHRAR
BRFENFE - AREAOR
R RE I EHIREREEN
REGEN m e EEF - &
BRI RARAEEE °
&S - RRBEREE
AR ENZIE LT A
FERRE B E A TR HIR R IE I
MR IRME

TR Z2FNE ZE 2022 4 1 2021
FI2ANBIUEFEZEIRT

and 2021: A2F)
2022 2021
2022 2021 4F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TRT ARBTT
Financial assets at FVTPL BAFEEARED
SMBEE
At 1 January ®n1A18 6,000 -
Addition NE = 6,000
Fair value changes recognised in B8P RN A FEE
profit or l0ss 93 _
At 31 December M®12H31H 6,093 6,000
Unrealised gain recognised RIB TR AR E IR =
in profit or loss 93 -

SRERZEREEGRAT / — S FFH
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements contined)
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.3 Fair value estimation (continued)

(b) Fair value of financial assets and liabilities
carried at other than fair value

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial
instruments carried at cost or amortised cost were
not materially different from their fair values as at
31 December 2022 and 2021.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGMENTS

Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated and are
based on historical experience and other factors, including
expectations of future events that are believed to be
reasonable under the circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the
future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition,
seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates and
assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year are addressed below.

(@) Impairment of trade receivables

The Group considers the ECLs of trade receivables are
based on management’s estimate of the lifetime ECLs
which is taking into account the historical loss
experience, ageing of overdue trade receivables,
customers’ repayment history, customers’ financial
position and an assessment of both the current and
forecast general economic conditions, all of which
involve a significant degree of management judgement.
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4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGMENTS (continueq)

(@)

Impairment of trade receivables (continued)

The provision of ECLs is sensitive to changes in
circumstances and of forecast general economic
conditions. The information about the ECLs and the
Group’s trade receivables are disclosed in notes 3.1(b)
and 17 respectively. If the financial condition of the
customers or the forecast economic conditions were to
deteriorate, actual loss allowance would be higher than
estimated.

As at 31 December 2022, the carrying amount of trade
receivables was RMB26,508,000 (2021: RMB45,760,000).

Impairment of loan and interest receivables

The measurement of impairment of loan and interest
receivables requires judgement and estimation on the
amount and timing of future cash flows with, in particular,
assessment of the collateral values and a significant
increase in credit risk. During the judgement process, the
impairment of loan and interest receivables is assessed
on 12-month ECLs basis as there has been no significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition unless
there has been a significant increase in credit risk of the
receivables, in which case the loss allowance is
measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs. In
measuring whether the credit risk of receivables has
increased significantly, the management has taken into
accounts occurrence of default event, expected future
cash flows and both the current and forecast general
economic conditions.

The provision of ECLs is sensitive to changes in
estimates. The information about the ECLs and the
Group's loan and interest receivables are disclosed in
Notes 3.1(b) and 17 respectively. As at 31 December
2022, the carrying amount of loan and interest
receivables was RMB58,587,000 (2021: Nil).

4
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(@)
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EEEAEEE S RYGIBNEN S
RIRRHIFE3D) K17 E - HEFPH
AR KIBRLEM B - BIE
BEBRRERESNhE

MR202E12A31H - B 5 EWRIE
REREE A A R #26,508,0007T (2021
& AR®E45,760,0007T) °

FEWE TR A BIRE
HHERENE R RS RER B
B BN ST R R B R

i LERRHEERREEREER
REEIL I - NAERIET - BRE

REMEZBBEEZRI2EABHEER
EEEENE - REAEERREY
I TR LA R M AR N - BRIFFEWR

FIEZEERBBEEEM  EHER
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SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group's operating segments, which also represent the
Group’s reportable segments, are determined based on
information reported to the chief operating decision-maker of
the Group, who has been identified as the executive directors
of the Company. Chief operating decision-maker reviews the
Group's internal reports in order to assess performance,
allocate resources and determine the operating segments.

The Group is organised into business units based on their
products and services and has four reportable operating
segments as follows:

(i) Transportation service;

(i) Warehousing service,

(i) In-plant logistics service; and

(iv)  Customisation service.

Reportable segment results represent the profit or loss resulted
by each segment and exclude interest income from bank
deposits, third parties and bond measured at amortised cost,
interest expenses on bank borrowing, impairment of property,
plant and equipment, unrealised gain on fair value change of
financial assets at FVPL, and unallocated corporate income and
EXPenses.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements wcontinues
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5 SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 5 o2BER@E
The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue from T AEREEZ)HE DTG LK
contracts with customers and results by segment: MEEDT
Year ended 31 December 2022 #§F¥ 20226 12A31HLEE
In-plant
Transportation ~ Warehousing logistics Customisation
service service service service Total
EWlR% BRBE  EAMRRE ERRS ot
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

AR®TR ARBFTR ARBTR AR®TR AR®TR

Segment revenue: SERE :
Sales to external customers — EINEERFHIHE 73,127 34,465 69,071 2,820 179,483
Segment results fEER 8,900 (1,281) 13,492 383 21,494

Interest income frombank — H7EHFIEMA

deposits 801
Interest income from loan PEFIEE RISV ON

receivables 1,344
Interest income frombond 7R & LA SERR AT 4

measured at amortised cost &5 &F BMA 1,274

Unrealised gainon fair value R A P& ABZE
change of financial assets ~ 2BEEATFEES

at FYPL AREBRNE 93
Unallocated corporate income & D EERE WA 3,152
Unallocated corporate FAMEERT

expenses (29,208)
Loss before income tax BATSHAIEE (1,050)

In-plant
Transportation Warehousing logistics  Customisation
service service service service Unallocated Total
EBkE 418 BRMR RS ERERE FESE o
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

IN: ABRFR N: 5 ABRFR ARRFR N S

Other segment RtRHEs

information:
Depreciation of property, #1% - BER

plant and equipment REFE 299 229 - - 761 1,295
Depreciation of FRELENE

right-of-use assets - 2,746 - - 812 3,558

Loss on disposal of HENE  BRE

property, plant and RitEER

equipment - - - - 6 6
Capital expenditure EXRT - - - - 2949 2949

LREFEREBERAR/ T - —FF®% 185



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements contined)

b & BT IS SR B S n

5 SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 5 2EERE
The following is an analysis of the Group's revenue from NTRALEERSHEDHNEF ALK
contracts with customers and results by segment: (Continued) KEZESWT : (&)
Year ended 31 December 2021 BZE2021F1283181LEE
In-plant
Transportation Warehousing logistics Customisation
service service service service Total
BRRE RERE BRI RS ERRE ok
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBFL ARBFL ARBTFL AREFTL ARBFIL
Segment revenue: SBE -
Sales to external customers  #9NIEE FHYEE 95,565 43,709 70,942 1,563 211,779
Ssegment results ABEE 9,110 (4,890) 16,013 610 20,843
Interestincome frombank ~ $F1TEHFEWA
deposits 762
Interestincome frombond 7R B LA SRS E Y
measured at amortised cost  EHHF| B 664
Interest expenses onbank BT HAEHR
horrowing (574)
Impairment of property, nE - BEREERE
plant and equipment (16,479)
Unallocated corporate income A B4 £\ 50
Unallocated corporate FAMEERT
expenses (26,883)
Loss hefore income tax BRETETAIEE (21,082)
In-plant
Transportation Warehousing logistics Customisation
service service service service Unallocated Total
ERRE EERE BRI IRE THRB RERT Bt
RVB'000 RMB'000 RVB'000 RMB'000 RVB'000 RVB'000
AREFT AREFT ARETR AREFT AEETR AREFTT
Other segment Eh 3 HEH
information:
Depreciation of property, #1% - BiER
plant and equipment RETE 302 404 - - 1,166 1912
Depreciation of RRELENE
right-of-use assets - 8,707 - - 951 9,658
Loss on disposal of LENE BE
property, plant and RikEEE
equipment - - - - 47 47
Impairmentof property,  ¥1% - BER
plant and equipment SERE - - - - 16,479 16,479
Capital expenditure BARRY - - - - 301 301
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)
Segment assets and liabilities

No segment assets and segment liabilities and other segment
information are presented as such amounts are not reviewed
by the Group's chief operating decision-makers for the purpose
of resource allocation and performance assessment or
otherwise regularly provided to the Group’s chief operating
decision-makers.

Geographical information
The Group principally operates in the PRC.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, 97% (2021: 97%) of
the Group's revenue from external customers, based on the
operation location of respective customers, is derived from the
PRC.

The Group's non-current assets other than financial
instruments by geographical locations, which are determined
by the geographical locations in which the asset is located in
the case of property, plant and equipment and right-of-use
assets are as follows:

MR ARSBTREAEE T ELERRE
ERMUAETERDERREFGREHR
REMmMILARFRRHTFAEE LI ELE
REE - MAB2INHEERD AR
IAR Bt 7 BB E Y o

h & & K
REBMESNRBILCEER -

REZE202F12A3MBIELFE - BES
BRPMEEME - REBKRBINBRF
U 25 89 97% (20214 : 97%) 2R E R -

REBIZHIENE (MAYWE - BB &EE
UREREEE AR EEMRT 2B
BEE)HASMIERDEE (TRESRT
BT

2022 2021
2022 2021 4F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARETTT

Non-current assets IEREEE
The PRC =8 9,195 11,388
Hong Kong B 1,820 -
11,015 11,388
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5 SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 5 2TER @
Information about major customers EAXEREFPNER
Revenue from major customers, each of whom amounted to gﬁf?”ﬁﬁﬁm%ﬁut%f%gﬁ%é
nK:

10% or more of the Group's revenues, is set out below:

2022 2021
20225 20214
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®TE ARETTT

Customer A ZFEA 56,891 85,686
Customer B ZFB 18,563 56,176
Customer C EEC N/ARER * 25,061
* The corresponding revenue did not contribute 10% or more of the * FERE M 2R I R AR SR W 2 B RK 10% SIA | o
Group’s revenue.
6 REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH 6 REEFFSHHWHE
CUSTOMERS
Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with external KBNS P& LM AT
customers
2022 2021
2022 20214
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®BTRT ARTT

Revenue from contracts with ERMBEREENE 158

customers within the scope HEANKEEREH

of HKFRS 15: B S -
Recognised over time & e P B R

— Transportation service — BRI 73,127 95,565

— Warehousing service — B RR% 34,465 43,709

— In-plant logistics service — A RS 69,071 70,942
Recognised at a point in time RE—FEFER

— Customisation service — TE AR TS 2,820 1,563

179,483 211,779

The Group did not recognise any revenue-related contract B E2022F R2021F12A3MB EFE
assets and liabilities during the years ended 31 December 2022 REEVEBERETABEBEENEER
and 2021. af&E-
All revenue is for periods of one year or less. As permitted FrEWzT A —F A THIR « A E
under HKFRS 15, the transaction price allocated to these B mEERE ISR WEREES
unsatisfied contracts is not disclosed. REZERBITEHNRSEE -
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OTHER INCOME AND NET GAINS/(LOSSES) 7

Htt AR s, (B51R) F8

2022 2021
20225 2021 4F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TT AREEF T
Income A
Interest income from bank deposits HRITIF A EMA 801 762
Interest income from bond measured at LA $SRC A ET 2 MBS W

amortised cost FEMKA 1,274 664
Interest income from loan receivables JEUE FRA B ULA 1,344 -
Interest income from rental deposits AEZRSFEWKRA 39 90
Government grants (Note) B (M aE) 594 548
Gain on early termination of lease REBRIEAE WS (M1EF 15(0)

(Note 15(b)) 1 2,291
Gain on lease modification (Note 15(b)) g &S (HaF 150)) 11 -
Unrealised gain on fair value change of BAFEFABENERMEE

financial assets at FVPL N EZEH AR Y 93 -
Net foreign exchange gains/(losses) PE 5 Uiz, (H518) F 58 2,558 (342)
Others Hih 123 42

6,838 4,055
Note: Biet

For the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021, the amount mainly included
government grants to the Group for retention of staff and value-added tax (“VAT")
credit granted under the VAT policy with no unfulfilled conditions attached before
recognition.

EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES
(INCLUDING DIRECTORS' EMOLUMENTS)

HE202FR2021F12ANBLEFE  AHEHEES
BEMSBERTMATAEENBUFEN - ARIREE
BB (HEED ] BER T WIREREN - M RERA I &
RS ARE R LT

BERAMAX (BRESHE)

2022 2021
20225 2021 4F
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR®TT ARBTT

Fees, wages and salaries, and e - TE R ® AR E A 2AE
other allowances 60,706 61,504
Contribution to defined contribution plans  ExB4E ka2 3k 9,942 10,178
70,648 71,682

Note:

As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, there was no forfeited contribution under the
retirement benefit scheme which may be used by the Group to reduce the
contribution payable in the future years.

ez

M 20224F 2021 12 A31 B » BHEERIKEF G EIET
BB KA T AR BRARRE ERER DB R -

SREREREEERAR/ — T —FFH 189



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continuea)
A R RE I e

8 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES 8 EERFABXX(BFEEEM)
(INCLUDING DIRECTORS' EMOLUMENTS) ()
(Continued)
(a) Benefits and interest of directors @ W\NkESER
(i) Directors’ emoluments iy =E==M=
The remuneration of every director for the year BZEEHE2022912831H
ended 31 December 2022 are set out below: IEFENMESETIAT
Salaries, Contribution
allowances to defined
and benefits  Discretionary  contribution
Fees in kind bhonuses plans Total
Fe 2ER ERER
e Enig BT SR #i
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

AEBTT AEBTT AEBTT ARBTTR ARBTT

Executive directors: HITEE

Mr. Le Kang SEEE 618 - - = 618
Mr. Li Jiahao* REER 430 346 - 51 877
M. Li Jal RENRE 480 352 - 51 883
Mr. Song Ruipeng R ke = - - - -
Non-executive director: FHITEE

Mr. Du Yingyou (Note xiv) HBEREE (W Ex) 21 - - - 21

Independent non-executive  BUHHTEE :

directors:

Mr. Yu Chun Man SENEE 13 - - - 113
Mr. Lau Wai Piu Patrick Bl L £ (W)

(note ix) 53 - - - 53
Dr. Wang Yi (note xj TekE+ (ftn) 21 - - - 21
Mr. Chan Koon Yung (Note xii) &5 B 4 4 (Wit xii) 21 - - - 21
Ms. Wong Carol Ka-low TEENMEH#x)

(Note x) 53 - - - 53
Mr. Shao Wei (Note i) BRE S5 (W2 i) 23 69 - - 92
Mr. Law Cho Kwan Derek RS (W i)

(Note Xiil) 23 69 - - 92

1,906 836 = 102 2,844
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BRI

AR E
8 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES 8 EERFABXX(BEREEEM=)
(INCLUDING DIRECTORS' EMOLUMENTS) ()
(Continued)
(@) Benefits and interest of directors (continued) () w\ANESEZ®
(i) Directors’ emoluments (Continued) () EEM2(#E)
The remuneration of every director for the year BEEEHE2021F12A31H
ended 31 December 2021 are set out below: LEFERBMESHEINNT
Salaries, Contribution
allowances to defined
and benefits Discretionary contribution
Fees inkind bonuses plans Total
5 2ZHR EBHE
e EWAlE iz SRR it
RMB'000 RMB000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB000
AREFTL AREFTL ARBFT AREFTL ARBFT
Executive directors: HITEE:
Mr. Li Jiahao* (Note RRERE (W) - 0 7 % 385
M. LiJili (ote ) BENGE W) - 276 7 % 338
Ms. Lin Jianfang (Note v) WEEL (i) - 3 12 43 399
Mr. Le Kang (Note v) LEREEWFY) - - - - -
Mr. Li Jianming (Note vii) REEB% A (vi) - 624 ki - 656
Mr.SongRuipeng (Note v)  RIgEE4EE (Hitv) - - - - -
Mr. Li ianxin (Note vii) RS A (W vi) - 1,155 - 58 1213
Independent non-executie  BUHHTEE :
directors:
Mr. Shao Wei ks 109 - - - 109
Dr.WanHoYuenTerence  B&BEL (Hatii)
(Note ii) 100 - - - 100
Dr. Wu Ka Chee Davy (Note /i) 4B &8+ (Hiztii) 100 - - - 100
Mr. Law Cho Kwan Derek BRBEE (W70
(Note i) 15 - - - 15
Mr.YuChunMan(Note ) &M Uk4 (Biti) 15 - - - 15
Ms. Wong Carol Ka-low TREME - - - - -
339 2,669 2% 174 3280
* Mr. Li Jiahao is the Chief Executive Officer. * REETERITIREH -
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8 EMPLOYEE

BENEFIT EXPENSES

(INCLUDING DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS)

(Continued)

(@) Benefits and interest of directors (continued)
(i) Directors’ emoluments (Continued)

Notes:

(iii)

(vii)

(viii)

Mr. Li Jiahao and Mr. Li Jiali were existing employees of the
Group and have been appointed as executive directors
with effect from 4 August 2021. The emoluments disclosed
above included those for services rendered by them as
employees.

Mr. Law Cho Kwan Derek and Mr. Yu Chun Man have been
appointed as independent non-executive directors on 12
November 2021.

Dr. Wan Ho Yuen, Terence and Dr. Wu Ka Chee Davy have
resigned as independent non-executive directors on 12
November 2021.

Mr. Le Kang has been appointed as an executive director
on 6 December 2021.

Mr. Song Ruipeng has been appointed as an executive
director on 15 December 2021.

Ms. Lin Jianfang has resigned as an executive director on 6
December 2021.

Mr. Li Jianming has resigned as an executive director on 15
December 2021.

Mr. Li Jianxin has resigned as an executive director on 21
December 2021.

Mr. Lau Wai Piu Patrick has been appointed as
independent non-executive director on 28 June 2022.

Ms. Wong Carol Ka-low has resigned as independent non-
executive directors on 28 June 2022.

Dr. Wang Yi has been appointed as independent non-
executive director on 17 October 2022.
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8 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES 8 EERAFXX(BEEEM)

(INCLUDING DIRECTORS' EMOLUMENTS) (%)
(Continued)
(@) Benefits and interest of directors (continued) (@) B RES#EZ®)
(i) Directors’ emoluments (Continued) () EEM2(#E)
Notes: (Continued) Bfat - (48)

(ii)

(Xii)  Mr. Chan Koon Yun has been appointed as independent
non-executive director on 19 October 2022.

(xiii) ~ Mr. Shao Wei and Mr. Law Cho Kwan, Derek have resigned
as independent non-executive directors on 19 October
2022.

(xiv)  Mr. Du Yingyou has been appointed as non-executive
director on 19 October 2022.

None of the directors waived any emolument
during the year ended 31 December 2022 (2021:
Nil).

No emoluments were paid by the Group to the
directors of the Company as an inducement to join
or upon joining the Group or as compensation for
loss of office during the year ended 31 December
2022 (2021: Nil).

Directors’ retirement and termination
benefits

No retirement benefits were paid to or receivable
by any directors in respect of their other services in
connection with the management of the affairs of
the Company or its subsidiaries undertaking during
the year ended 31 December 2022 (2021: Nil).

No payment was made to the directors as
compensation for early termination of the
appointment during the year ended 31 December
2022 (2021: Nil).

(ii)

(i) PR B AER2022F 108198
EZEARBIIERTES -

(i) BMESEAE MR EAED RN 2022
FOARBEBLIENTE
=

(xiv)  HERTER202F10819H
EZEARIFNTES -

HE202F12 A3 B IEFEE -
14 B = R EE ] B 2 (2021
£

HZE202F 128318 EFE
AEEHBERARQBEEIN
e ERBFBMASMALRE
E iz BB kR B E
(20214 : &) ~

ESRMARAILER

HE2022F12A31HILEFE -
MESEERREEERARIX
HMB AR EBHEENH MR
75 1 s B s R HSGR AR AE 1 (2021
FE) o

HZE2022F12 A31 B IEFE
MEEERIRAR L ZBmE
S AHERHE (2021 4F « 4E) ©
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8 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES
(INCLUDING DIRECTORS’' EMOLUMENTS)
(Continued)

(@) Benefits and interest of directors (continued)

(iii) Consideration provided to third parties for
making available directors’ services

The Company did not pay consideration to any
third parties for making available directors’ services
for the year ended 31 December 2022 (2021: Nil).

(iv) Information about loans, quasi-loans and
other dealings in favour of directors,
controlled bodies corporate by and
connected entities with such directors

During the year ended 31 December 2022, there
were no loans, quasi-loans and other dealing
arrangements in favour of the directors, or
controlled body corporates and connected entities
of such directors (2021: Nil).

(v) Directors’ material interests in transactions,
arrangements or contracts

Save as disclosed in the Note 26, no significant
transactions, arrangements and contracts in
relation to the Group’s business to which the
Company or any of the subsidiaries of the Company
was a party and in which a director of the Group
had a material interest, whether directly or
indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any
time during the year ended 31 December 2022
(2021 Nil).
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8 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES 8
(INCLUDING DIRECTORS' EMOLUMENTS)
(Continued)

(b) Five highest paid individuals
Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments,
three (2021: five) individuals are directors whose
emoluments are disclosed in note 8(a)(i). The aggregate
of the emoluments in respect of the other two (2021: Nil)
individuals are as follows:

EERAMX(BRESH:)
(%)

b)) AEEZEHFMAL
AETmEHMALTH - =5 (20214 :
AB)ATAESE - HES KIS
WEE - HERMAZ (20214 « ) AR

MEmEEm T
2022 2021
2022 202148
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®TR ARETTT

Wages and salaries Iﬁ&%ﬁA 1,906 -

Retirement benefit scheme RIREFET 2R
contribution 11 _
1,917 -

The emoluments of the remaining 2 (2021: Nil) highest
paid individuals other than the directors fell within the
following bands:

BREEIIMEM2E (2021F - B) &
SEFIA TN FATEE

Number of individuals

A
2022 2021
2022 20214
Emolument band N € E
Nil to HKD 1,000,000 07 7T % 1,000,000 7T -
HKD1,000,001 to HKD1,500,000 1,000,001 % 7T, 2= 1,500,000 7% 7T 1 -

None of the above individuals who are not directors of
the Company received any emoluments from the Group
as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or
compensations for loss of other.

BELMERARREEHALTELRE
B EE R B2 E R IA RSB R
AR BBIRS 2 5 (R ot 8 Hofts A B
BReymE o

SRERZEREEGRAT / — S FFH
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9 OTHER EXPENSES

9 HiFx

2022 2021
2022 2021
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR®TRT ARBT T
Auditor's remuneration % B 5 A 1,287 1,000
Entertainment expenses RERAX 1,132 1,017
Fleet operating expenses $% SER Y 4,604 4,962
Insurance expenses RBFX 861 785
Legal and professional fees ;‘2&&?@%%% 3,381 1,779

Loss on disposal of property, HEYE  BEMEEESE
plant and equipment 6 47
Other taxes and surcharges H b FiTE N 535 451
Outsourced labour costs SNEL &S TR 8,575 7,366
Repair and maintenance expenses wERFERX 142 982
Telephone and communication fees BELEAE 393 392
Travelling expenses EIRFAX 158 393
Utilities expenses =R 1,079 1,605
Other operating expenses HmgEms 3,148 5,926
25,301 26,705

10 FINANCE COSTS 10 @ERAK
2022 2021
2022 2021 4F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TR ARBTT
Interest expenses on lease liabilities HEBENERX

(Note 15(b)) (Ktat 15(D) 427 1,389
Interest expenses on bank borrowing HRITE SN B = S74
427 1,963
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T E

11

B MR M T

INCOME TAX

(1)

(iif)

PRC Enterprise Income Tax

The PRC Enterprise Income Tax (“EIT") is calculated at
25% (2021: 25%) of the estimated assessable profits for
the current year. One of the subsidiaries of the Company
is entitled to preferential tax concession rate at 15% as it
has obtained the High and New Tech Enterprises licence.
No provision for EIT has been made as the subsidiary
established in the PRC had incurred tax losses for both
current and prior years.

Hong Kong Profits Tax

Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% (2021:
16.5%) on the estimated assessable profit. No provision
for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been made for the
subsidiaries incorporated in Hong Kong as there are no
assessable profits for both current and prior years.

Income tax from other tax jurisdictions

Taxation arising in other jurisdictions is calculated at the
rates prevailing in the relevant jurisdictions.

11 FRE
(i)

(iif)

S8

BT

PRI EETS ([ R ERRR )RR
FREREEHERT R F25% (20214 -
25%) 5t E o ARRIEFR—EHNBAR
AIREMEMEHIhEER - Eak
ZHEEEVEREIS% - RAFEK
BAFE  WETIRECEMBHE
# - RE RN BRI BAFR
ZEFEWEELEMNIBEIE -

BAENEH
5118 B T 34 £ 5 BB R B R %

16.5% (20214 : 16.5%) 5T & » HNfE
EEEMAIHMEARRAFER
BEFEWEERBEF - SR ERS
ZEMBARGHREBBFSHERE -

Hi el AERBTE
m
A A A A A BB TR AR R A
SEEEMIBITH R E -

Taxation recognised in the consolidated statement of RiFeBEmABRZHIENT
profit or 10ss represents:
2022 2021
20225 20214
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TT ARBETF T
The PRC Enterprise Income Tax hER¥RER
Over-provision in respect of prior years i@ 7F 4F JE M EE R & (745) (4,176)
overseas income tax WIPER BN
Current year REE 354 163
Deferred income tax (Note 23) BRIEFRSI (Kit23)
Origination and reversal of temporary i = 587 4 K %@
differences (489) 33
Income tax credit FriSBiiE % (880) (3,980)
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AU BREM T

11 INCOME TAX (continued) 11 B8 &)
The taxation on the Group's loss before income tax differs from ARE B BR TS B AT E 18 2 B8 B (s AR A B
the theoretical amount that would arise using the PRC TEMSHEEREMEEZ FAGRER
Enterprise Income Tax standard rate of income tax as follows: Bz =R ¢
2022 2021
2022 5 20214
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TT AREET T
Loss before income tax B ETIS T AT RS 18 (1,050) (21,082)
Calculated at a taxation rate of 25% Z25% MR E
(2021: 25%) (20214 = 25%) (263) (5,271)
Preferential tax concession rate for AERERBNERERERER
qualified entity (593) 1,873
Tax effect of different tax rate in other REMEERER TR EL
jurisdictions B2 689 243
Additional deduction for research and 2L F X BN ER
development expenses (1,212) (997)
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses AT HE B = MR IS & 982 3,097
Tax effect of unused tax losses not RIERHAREAFIBEEDN
recognised TR 262 1,251
Over-provision in respect of prior years 381 4 /S Az R (745) (4,176)
Income tax credit FTiSFii s (880) (3,980)
12 DIVIDENDS 12 RE

The directors of the Company did not recommend the payment
of any dividend for the years ended 31 December 2022 and

2021.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continvea

T E

13 LOSS PER SHARE

(@)

AU BREM T

Basic (@)
Basic loss per share is calculated by dividing the loss
attributable to the owners of the Company by the

weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue

during the year.

13 ERESE

R
SIAEAIE TR D A AR
BRI R B BT EBRIET
Bt -

2022 2021
2022 % 2021 4F
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®TR ARETTT

Loss for the year attributable to the  ARAFHEA AJERFERER

owners of the Company (170) (17,102)
Weighted average number of ordinary & 317 @A ke FHE (FR)
shares in issue (in thousands) 921,879 804,918

Diluted (b)

Diluted loss per share is the same amount as the basic
loss per share for the years ended 31 December 2022
and 2021 because the exercise of the outstanding share
options would be anti-dilutive.

5w
Ehﬁéﬁﬁrﬁiﬁﬂiaﬁﬁﬁﬂﬂgﬁfﬁ&%

S U E 20224 K% 2021412
H NALEFENGREEHERS
AR EARESIEAR o
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AU BREM T

14 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

14 V¥ BERKZE

Furniture
Plant and and office Leasehold Motor
machinery equipment equipment  improvements vehicles Total
BERER EHRREE N HENERE RE st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT AREFT ARETT ARETT ARETT AREFT
At 1 January 2021 R2021E1B18
Cost KA 14,931 134 1,093 23,662 5881 45,701
Accumulated depreciation Z2iE (13,898) (116) (752) (6252 4,252 (25,270)
Net book amount FRFE 1,033 18 3 17410 1,629 20,431
Year ended 31 December 2021  #ZE 2021412 31 B LEE
Opening net book amount BNERFE 1,033 18 341 17410 1629 20,431
Additions e - 12 m 178 - 301
Disposals HeE
—Cost —fA (4o - (45) - (106) (552)
— Accumulated depreciation —ZitiE 376 - 38 - 91 505
Depreciation & (618) () %) (752 (433) (1912)
Impairment HE - (1) - (16478) - (16479)
Closing net book amount BREETE 390 yll 36 358 1176 2094
At 31 December 2021 and B2021E12A318R
1 January 2022 2022%1R18
Cost [ 14,530 146 1,159 23840 5775 45,450
Accumulated depreciation Zithe (14,140) (121) (813 (7.004) (4,599 (26,677)
Accumulated impairment Z:E - [0} - (16,478) - (16,479)
Net book amount BEE 390 % 346 38 1176 2294
Year ended 31 December 2022 #Z 202212831 ALLEE
Opening net book amount BNEEFE 390 2 346 358 1,176 2,294
Additions e - 8 583 2,358 - 2,949
Disposals e
— Cost — KK (21) (7 (30) = () (60)
— Accumulated depreciation —ZihE 19 6 27 - 2 54
Depreciation ik (1) (4) (113) (720) (417) (1,295)
Exchange adjustment A% - - - 54 - 54
Transfer g - - 138 (138) - -
Closing net book amount BREEFE 347 27 951 1912 759 3,996
At 31 December 2022 R2022512A 318
Cost KR 14,509 147 1,850 26,131 5773 48,410
Accumulated depreciation ZiiE (14,162) (119) (899) (7,741) (5,014) (27,935)
Accumulated impairment ZiAE - (1) - (16,478) - (16,479)
Net book amount REFE 347 27 951 1912 759 3,996
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements wcontinues
A BRI S

15 RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND LEASE 15 EHAEEEREEEE

LIABILITIES
(@) Amounts recognised in the consolidated @ MEeUBRARERZ
statement of financial position KIE
(i) Right-of-use assets () GEAREE
office
premises and
warehouses Forklifts Total
WAMEREHE - et
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBFT AREFTT ARBFT
At 1 January 2021 ®2021E1818 45,001 4,494 49,495
Additions arising from FHEEEMARE
new leases 233 298 531
Lease modification MEER (5,721) - (5,721)
Early termination of lease REKRIAE (23,319) (1,734) (25,553)
Depreciation ne (8,094) (1,564) (9,658)
At 31 December 2021 and #20215128 318
1 January 2022 R2022%F181H 7,600 1,494 9,094
Additions arising from FHEELEMARE
new leases 1,404 201 1,605
Lease modification HEER (4) (80) (84)
Early termination of lease RERIAE (38) = (38)
Depreciation E (2,830) (728) (3,558)
At 31 December 2022 #2022%12831H 6,132 887 7,019
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continuea)
A R RE I e

15 RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND LEASE 15 FRAEEEREEEE®
LIABILITIES (continued)
(@) Amounts recognised in the consolidated (@) C,Z?/\ﬁﬁﬁﬂj:ﬁ%%ﬁ& A7
statement of financial position (continued) SIB ()
(ii) Lease Liabilities (i HEEE
The following table shows the remaining TRINRAEEHE & BRI
contractual maturities of the Group's lease liabilities HHRNB T EAEEER

at the end of the reporting period:

2022 2021
20225 20214
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®TT AR¥ETT

202

Within 1 year 1R 3,356 3,286
After 1 year but within 2 years 1F181B2F A 3,101 2,632
After 2 years but within 5 years 2FBESFA 1,135 3,705

7,592 9,623

The weighted average incremental borrowing rates
applied to the Group's lease liabilities for the year
ended 31 December 2022 ranged from 4.79% to
5.23% (2021: 4.79% 10 5.23%).

(b) Amounts recognised in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss

BE2022F12 AN BILEFE
AEEME R EREAOMNEF

g EERF

RN F479% &

5.23% (20214 : 4.79% &

5.23%) °

2022 2021
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TT AREEFIT
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREESENE (3,558) (9,658)
Interest expenses on lease liabilities FAE& &R L
(Note 10) (H1#E10) (427) (1,389)
Lease payments relating to EEEE R E
short-term leases NES (28,490) (28,282)
Gain on early termination of lease RELIEHEEMY =
(Note 7) (Wtat7) 1 2,291
Gain on lease modification (Note 7) & &z (HaE7) 11 -

Details of total cash outflow for leases are set out in note
27(b).

Yues International Holdings Group Limited / Annual Report 2022

HERS ML RBENFIEEHNHE

27(

=

o



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continvea

/\\IT\

15

16

AU BREM T

RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND LEASE
LIABILITIES (continued)

() The Group's leasing activities and how
these are accounted for

The Group leases various office premises, warehouses
and forklifts for its operations. Lease contracts are
typically made for fixed period ranging from two to six
years. Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis
and contain a wide range of different terms and
conditions. In determining the lease term and assessing
the length of the non-cancellable period, the Group
applies the definition of a contract and determines the
period for which the contract is enforceable. As at 31
December 2022 and 2021, none of the Group's leases
contain any extension nor termination option.

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

15 FRAESEEREESEE®

(©

AEBHHEE
Yap=N
75 8 B 3t 2

SR MARR

BHEETHAME -
BERXE  -FHEAHN—RIEMFR
NERETEEIR T o AERILRE
RIEAERER - #8 B2 TR R

16 o A E M HI R ETE S AT EUH ER
MHREN AEEEASONTE
& WEEALNEHIBITE AR -

MR2022F 202112 A31H » A%
EAERTeE T ERRR LR
i o

16 BRAVEFABRSENESMEE

2022 2021

2022 5 20214

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTT ARBT T

Unlisted investment ELETIRE 6,093 6,000

Unlisted investment represents equity interests in an unlisted
company which is principally engaged in provision of internet
information, data processing, application software, information
technology development and technical support service in the
PRC. The directors of the Company do not intend to divest this
investment in the short term and not held for trading. The fair
value was determined by the directors of the Company with
reference to valuation carried out by an independent qualified
professional valuer. Information regarding the methods and
assumptions used in determining fair value is stated in Note
3.3().

FLTREER —HETENKERHEE
WEN BEEE - EREAHRM  BA
R R RS RS HOIF LT R AR
g - AAREREEAERHAE LA

BE - MFFIEEE -2

FERAREE

ERSE-RBIUAAREXMEMET
MEEMERE - FREERAFEMBITE
R RER VA BB AP RE 3.3(a)
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17 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

A BT IR s

17 ESZREMEKRFIE

2022 2021
2022 2021
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR®TT ARBT T
Trade receivables arising from contracts ZEF&LE+MNE 5 EIWRIE
with customers (Note (a)) (Kta% @) 26,508 45,760
Prepayments TarNt A 3,374 935
Other receivables b W 3k 1E 1,417 2,136
Rental deposits (Note (b)) HE®Re (M b)) 9,785 10,165
Loan and interest receivables (Note (d) W E = & H & (K@) 58,587 -
Deposit in relation to investment in BATEGFABRHNEREE
financial asset at FVPL (Note (c)) BEMRBERS (K () 6,898 -
Less: Non-current portion W IERBE D 106,569 58,996
— Loan receivables (Note (d)) — W E % (K (d) (43,000) -
— Rental deposits (Note (b)) —HERe (KiED) (769) (572)
Current portion mEnEb o 62,800 58,424
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T E

AU BREM T

17 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued)

(@)

Trade receivables

The Group normally grants credit terms to its customers
ranging from 0 to 150 days. The ageing analysis of the
trade receivables based on invoice date is as follows:

17 ESZREMERE

@)

RIH (&)

2 5 R EKIE
REE-BETEEFNT0E150
HOEER - BSEIGRIBZREREA
HZ25|MEREBRSITAT ¢

2022 2021

2022 2021 4

RMB’'000 RMB'000

AR®TT ARBTT

1to 30 days 1230H 15,080 31,737
3110 60 days 31E60H 5,291 7,145
61t0 90 days 61£290H 4,971 5,972
Over 90 days B3 90 A 1,166 906
26,508 45,760

Further details on the Group’s credit policy are set in
Notes 3.1(b).

Rental deposits

Included in the rental deposits of the Group is an
undiscounted amount of RMB143,000 (2021:
RMB143,000) as at 31 December 2022 paid to key
management personnel (2021: directors) of the Company,
and their close family members, as the Group leased an
office premise owned by them.

AEBEEBRRNE —TFHBERH
FE3.1() °

MERE

MR202F12 318 AEEHEER
SHBRE-HAARBEEEEAS
Q01F - EF)REEEZFREXN
KR ITIR & B8 AR 143,000 7T.(2021
F 0 ARB143,0007T) © Ty ARE
EHREREMEANNAME

HEREBZEREBARAT/ —T - —FFH
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17 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued)

(©)

17 ESZREMERE

RIH (4#)

Deposits in relation to investment in € BAFEFABZHNSE
financial asset at FVPL BEERERBRS
Pursuant to the shares subscription agreement between REAEE—H2EWNBRAG ([RE
a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group (“Investor”) EDEAZRKEQR(BEARD
and the target investment company (“Target Company”), I 2RI RIE R - BB TRER
subject to certain conditions, the investor has BT REEDARGRAERED R
conditionally agreed to subscribe certain new shares to DA TEITZETHRG - RELHE
be issued by Target Company. Subsequent to the year Hig  ®E GG RER KBRS
end date, the conditions of investment have not been BIRE °
met and the relevant deposit was refunded.
Loan and interest receivables d EREREFE
2022 2021
2022 20214
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TT AREFIT
Loan receivables FEUE K 57,221 -
Interest receivables JEWLA B 1,366 -
58,587 -
The loan receivables are bearing a fixed rate at ranging FEWE FIZEEFF RN F49%E

from 4.9% to 12% per annum, unsecured and repayable
within 12 to 18 months from the date of inception of the
loans. Included in the loan and interest receivables is the
balances of approximately RMB14,978,000 which were
denominated in Hong Kong dollars.

Further details on the Group's credit policy are set out in
Note 3.1(b).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continvea)
BBl R M FE @

T E

18 BOND MEASURED AT AMORTISED COST

18 LEERATENES

2022 2021

2022 2021 4

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR¥®TT ARBFIT

Unlisted bond FELHES - 40,000

On 13 August 2021, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group
(the “sSubscriber”) entered into a subscription agreement
with an independent third party that listed on the Stock
Exchange, pursuant to which the Subscriber agreed to
subscribe for the bond with principal amount of RMB40 million.

Bond measured at amortised cost was unsecured,

20218 130 » AEBEZ2EWER
A((RMAD BB EMZBIE=S
R REmE B REARSREE
%5 AeBEAARKIWIBET -

NEHERAGENESRERRLAAR

denominated in RMB, bore fixed interest rate at 4.3% per BB RETEFFEAI%E - KFE
annum. This bond was redeemed and fully settled during the ZEHFEEOWEEBER -
year.
19 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 19 RERRESEEY
2022 2021
20225 2021 4F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TR AREBTIT
Cash at banks RITHEE 55,493 68,130
Cash on hand FIER S 37 32
55,530 68,162
Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily RITRSLF BRI ENIRITEAFR

bank deposit rates. The bank balances are deposited with
creditworthy banks with no recent history of default.

FREREF S - RITHERREERIFEYL
I WRBRMIRITHER
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continuea)
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20 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 20 EZRHEMEMNKIE
2022 2021
20225 2021 %
RMB'000 RMB'000

AR®TT ARBT T

Trade payables 2 S EMNFIE 8,112 31,375
Accrued employee benefit expenses EstEEEAEX 5,617 5,065
Other accrued expenses and other HAbFERTRIS R E e A8

tax payables 3,808 1,803
Other payables HAb R 3R 7,436 4,789

24,973 43,032

The credit period granted by the Group’s suppliers mainly REEHEERTHEERREIZA30E
ranges from 30 to 90 days. 90H -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements wcontinues
A BRI S

20 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (continued) 20 ESZRHMEMARIE®
The ageing analysis of the trade payables based on invoice BORNFIBREZHHZNNRED T
date were as follows: NN
2022 2021
20225 20214
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®TT ARETT

1to0 30 days 1£30H 6,188 21,487
31 to 60 days 31E60H 806 4,297
61to 90 days 61E90H 328 4,314
Over 90 days i 90 H 790 1,277

8,112 31,375
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continuea)
A R RE I e

21 SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES 21 BAKF#E
(@) Share capital @@ MR
Number of shares (thousand) Share capital
R B (F8R) B&F
2022 2021 2022 2021
2022 F 20214 2022 F 20214
HKD'000 HKD'000
FTET FAL
Authorised: BE
At 1lJanuary and 31 December %1818 R12A31H 10,000,000 10,000,000 100,000 100,000
Issued and fully paid: ERITRBRE:
At 1 January »1A18 884,400 800,000 8,844 8,000
Issue of shares through share & @R B ELTRG
placing (Note ) (Mazi) 80,000 - 800 -
Issue of shares through share & @17 ABLTRG
subscription (Note i) (Wi - 80,000 - 800
Issue of shares upon exercise  R{TE BTN
of share options (Note 22) (Hizt22) - 4,400 - 44
At 31 December »12A318 964,400 884,400 9,644 8,844
2022 2021
20225 20214
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TRT ARETT
Share capital presented in REMBRREZ
consolidated statement of E’jjﬁm
financial position 8,139 7,450
All shares issued during the years ended 31 December TR #2022 4 2 2021 % 12 A 31
2022 and 2021 rank pari passu in all respects with the HIUEFEERTNRGBRRRRE
existing shares of the Company. BORMBLTEAZARSES -
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B MR M T

21 SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES (continued)
(@) Share capital (continued)

Note:

On 14 July 2022, the Company issued an aggregate of 80,000,000
shares with a price of HK$0.185 each. The gross proceed from the
share placing was approximately HK$14,800,000 (equivalent to
approximately RMB12,474,000).

On 10 December 2021, the Company issued an aggregate of
80,000,000 shares with a price of HK$0.2 each. The gross proceed
from the share subscription was approximately HK$16,000,000
(equivalent to approximately RMB13,050,000).

(b) Nature and purpose of reserves

)

(ii)

Share premium

The application of the share premium account is
governed by the Company’s Articles of Association
and the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands,
which provides that the share premium account
may be applied in making distributions or paying
dividends to shareholders, provided that
immediately following the date on which
distribution or dividend is proposed to be paid, the
Company will be able to pay its debts as they fall
due in the ordinary course of business.

Capital reserve

It represents statutory reserve of the subsidiary of
the Company established in the “PRC". According
to the relevant laws in the PRC, the subsidiary in
the PRC is required to transfer at least 10% of its
net profit after taxation, as determined under the
relevant accounting principles and financial
regulations applicable to enterprises established in
the PRC, to a non-distributable reserve fund until
the reserve balance reaches 50% of its registered
capital. The transfer to this reserve must be made
before the distribution of a dividend to owners.
Such reserve fund can be used to offset the
previous years’ losses, if any, and is non-
distributable other than upon liguidation.

21

B R #EE @)
EeNE )

@)

i :

202297 148 - ARRRLAEGHR0.185
78 JT B 1T #25180,000,000 A% A 15 © & A%
17 B2 & BT 15 9 54 18 48 58 /3 49 14,800,000
I (HERK AR 12,474,0007T)

20215612108 + KR AL FA0.2
78 JT B 1T #25180,000,000 A% A 15 © B A%
17 3R B8 FIT 15 B9 50 18 #8258 /2 49 16,000,000
77T (FE R KA R 13,050,0007T) °

EEOILE KRB H

0]

(ii)

B3 RE
o mERERXARFAE
BERAALRFASRSQARE
BT HRERMDRERMA
B’\‘F’JHX%T’EHJ’ Ak R 3R
CEEREREEL D IRIK
HHXEE%@& C RNRAIEREE
NEBENBEEKBIERE
HRER

BERGHE
HIEARREN [RE] K2 W
BARZEERE - BIEFE
HEER - REINE R RIZAR
RIRE AR A B 7 1 2 A4
et RAI RSB 0B ER
BREEATN R I10%EHEET
AnkEES  EEHELES
é?l]ﬁt%ﬁzﬂﬂ%ﬁﬂiﬁ%@% o IbRE
HEBERAERSADIRRE
RI{EL - BRARES AT ANE
HBTFENBR(WE) B
B FRITADIK
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21 SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES (continued)
(b) Nature and purpose of reserves (continued)

(i)

(iv)

(v)

Other reserve

Other reserve represents (i) an amount of
RMB3,550,000 arising from the effect of the
conversion of Guangzhou World-Link (China) Co.
Ltd. ("Guangzhou World-Link") into a joint stock
company with limited liability in 2016 whereas the
excess of the net assets over the designated
conversion amount attributable to the owners of
the Company; (ii) an amount of RMB3,449,000
arising from a group reorganisation in 2016
pursuant to which the entire registered capital of
Guangzhou World-Link was acquired by a group
entity from its then shareholders. Upon completion
of the above transactions, the balance of the
retained profits and non- distributable reserve of
Guangzhou World-Link attributable to the owners
of the Company; and (iii) an amount of
RMB20,095,000 due to capital contributions from
certain shareholders of the Company in 2017.

Share option reserve

The share option reserve represents the fair value
of the actual or estimated number of unexercised
share options granted to the eligible participants
under the share option scheme of the Company
recognised in accordance with the accounting
policy set out in Note 2.19.

Exchange reserve

The exchange reserve comprises all foreign
exchange differences arising from the translation of
the financial statements of foreign operations. The
reserve is dealt with in accordance with the
accounting policy set out in Note 2.6.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements contined
e EEe

22 SHARE OPTION SCHEME 22 HBRAESTE

Prior to the shares of the Company were successfully listed on
GEM of the Stock Exchange on 18 October 2017, the Company
conditionally adopted a share option scheme (the “Share
Ooption Scheme”) on 26 September 2017 which became
effective and unconditional upon the listing of the shares of the
Company on the Stock Exchange.

The Share Option Scheme remains valid and effective following
the transfer of listing of the shares of the Company from GEM
to Main Board of the Stock Exchange and in full compliance
with the relevant requirements under the Listing Rules. The
listing of the shares of the Company to be issued under the
Share Option Scheme have been transferred to the Main Board
on 19 December 2019 pursuant to the requirements under the
Listing Rules.

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to enable the
Company to grant options to the eligible persons as rewards or
incentives for their contribution to the Group. The Company
may, at its absolute discretion, offer an option to the eligible
persons to subscribe for the shares of the Company at an
exercise price and subject to the other terms of the Share
Option Scheme. The total number of shares of the Company
which may be issued upon exercise of all options to be granted
under the Share Option Scheme and any other schemes of the
Company shall not in aggregate exceed 10% of the total
number of the shares of the Company in issue at any point in
time, without prior approval from the Company’s shareholders.
The number of shares issued and to be issued in respect of
which options granted and may be granted to any individual in
any one year is not permitted to exceed 1% of the shares of
the Company in issue at any point in time, without prior
approval from the Company's shareholders. Options granted to
substantial shareholders or independent non-executive
directors in excess of 0.1% of the Company’s share capital
must be approved in advance by the Company'’s shareholders.

A2 7 B9 A 2017 10 A 18 B 7E B &2
FrGEM X Ih LT AT - R R EIR 201769 A
26 A B G IR A EE AR A v 21 ([ B AR 42 &t
Bl ERARBRMOEBZMEWEE
B R AGE o

AR R B GEM B =B BT 1R £
% BREFEDABRILER  X2E
e LmRAKMEMRTE - RIBEERE
8 T EITHARRBM 2N 2019F12 A
19 BRE EMARRIMEBEEREM

BREGENANRSARAREERA
ITREBEE  MEREBAKERLTE
R B2 B SR o AR F A 2B IS IRTT
EEMEBREENEMIERREEBRA
TREBERE  ARBAXRRND - RE
ARBRRELIAE - BITERIZERE
SRR AR BEAEME R EHAA R
P A e H T AR A B BEA KT
BB A DB MEM R EITH RN H
B RN 10% ° RIEARBIRRE LA
R —FREEA B R B R AT 2R T
H B AT S K B 81T R i T BT IR
HATHEBARARRNEMNREDETR
MEN1% » WX T EERRIBIUIFATE
ENBEREBBARRFRAN0.1% - AIZA
EARRRIBRE UL

HEREBZEREBARAT/ —T - —FFH
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22 SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

The Share Option Scheme remains in force for a period of 10
years. Under the Share Option Scheme, each option has a 10-
year exercise period unless otherwise determined by the board
of directors of the Company. The exercise price is determined
by the directors of the Company, and will not be less than the
higher of (i) the closing price of the Company’s shares on the
date of grant, (i) the average closing price of the shares for the
five business days immediately preceding the date of grant;
and (iii) the nominal value of the Company's share.

Details of the share options movement during the year are as

22 BRRETTE (2

BREF SR 0FHAERBR - RIER
P vt &l - tf‘ﬁﬁﬂx%ﬁ’]ﬁﬁﬁﬁ%10¢
BRIEANAE RTE ° ITEEBA
REAERETE \’E%HT SERAT 28
EF L O)VARRRMHPEL BHHWTE : )
R EZRE L A AT A EZ XA NFY
W fE : k(i) ARBRMDOEE °

FABBENZEBFHEHINWNT

follows:
2022 2022 5
Balance Balance
Categories Exercisable period as at Exercised as at
of {T{EH8 Exercise 1 January during 31 December
Participants Date of grant From To price 2022 the year 2022
120225 #2022
1B81H 12A31H
SHEERN WHAH :: E TR :of=1 2 FERTE of =1 2
(Note) HK$
(Hiz) BT
Directors 1 June 2020 1 June 2020 31 May 2030 0.188 12,000 - 12,000
Ex 2020568 1H 2020F6RA1H 2030%5A31H
Employees 1 June 2020 1 June 2020 31 May 2030 0.188 57,000 - 57,000
&R 2020F6H1H 2020568 1H 2030%5A31H
69,000 - 69,000
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22 SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

22 BERRETTE (2

2021 2021
Balance Balance
Exercisable period asat Exercised asat
Categories of i Exercise 1 January during 31 December
Participants Date of grant From To price 2021 the year 2021
R20214% H2021%
1A1H 128318
SEEH it B A H E 1B ot ERTTE ok
(Note) HK$
(Hi7t) BT
Directors 1June 2020 1 June 2020 31 May 2030 0.188 12,000 - 12,000
B 2020F6A18 2020F6A18 203046 5A31H
Employees 1 June 2020 1June 2020 31 May 2030 0.188 57,000 - 57,000
B8 20206 A1H 2020F6A1H 203054 31H
Non-employee 1 June 2020 1June 2020 31 May 2030 0.188 4,400 (4,400) -
FEE 2020F6A18 2020F6A18 2030465A31H
73,400 (4,400) 69,000

Note: The categories of participants represented the position of grantees as at
the date of grant.

Details of outstanding share options at the end of the year are

as follows:

Hfat : SEEERIEERARER L A PR -

RERBRITERNBREFBOT -

Number of exercisable share options

(in thousands)

Weighted average exercise price

Weighted average remaining
contractual life (years)

AiTERERERE (TH

IREFIITEE

IREF I RIERE LIHR ()

2022 2021
20225 20214
69,000 69,000

HK$0.188 HK$0.188
0.188#JT 0.18878 7T
7.4 8.4

The share options have no vesting period.

BRESERES -

HREFEREBERAR/ — T~ —F5RH
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22 SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2021, 4,400,000 shares
were issued upon exercise of 4,400,000 share options with
exercise price of HK$0.188 per shares. The net proceeds were
approximately RMB676,000.

The variables and assumptions used in computing the fair
value of the share options are based on the management'’s
best estimate. The value of an option varies with different
variables of a number of subjective assumptions. Any change
in the variables so adopted may materially affect the estimation
of the fair value of an option. The significant assumptions used
in the binomial model to derive the fair value at the date of
grant were as follows:

Expected volatility 41.606%
Expected life 10 years
Risk-free rate 0.529%
Expected dividend yield 0.00%
Early exercise multiple for directors 2.80
Early exercise multiple for employees 2.20
Early exercise multiple for non-employees 2.20
Closing share price at grant date HK$0.188
Exercise price per share HK$0.188

The expected volatility is calculated based on the historic
volatility of share prices of the Company and comparable
companies based on publicly available information. Expected
dividend yield is based on historic dividends.
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BRETE e
HE221F12A3MB IEFE . HiTE
4,400,000 B % 4 B 2 774,400,000 f% P&

ATEEAER0.1888 T ° FTi5E
A AR 676,0007T °

PR F

AAEBREAFEMANEEREBRIIE
REEBENSEGT - BEREBERET
ITBEBREROTREEMBEMTR - EMD
RAzESMIRES e HBERE

NFEZEHEEEARE - EHAR
AARFEALRESREARAFEZERR
R
B AR 18 41.606%
%E,Hﬁi,ﬁﬂ 10 FF
Ja2 e ) = 0.529%
%Eﬁéﬁﬂx SN G 0.00%
ERRFTEEH 2.80
EEREBITFEREH 2.20
FEEBIRFITERH 2.20
R BE 2 R U B 0.1887 7T
BRITEE 0.18875 7T
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23 DEFERRED INCOME TAX LIABILITIES 23 EEFIBHAE
2022 2021
2022 20214
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR®TT ARBT T
Deferred income tax liabilities EEFEHAE - 489
The movements in deferred income tax (assets)/liabilities are EIEFRSH (B E) AEEEHIT :
as follows:
Right-of-use Accelerated
assets/lease Rental tax
liabilities deposits depreciation Total
ERAEEE
HEAR HERS MEREHRE thy
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AEETT AEBTT ARETFT AEBTT
At 1 January 2021 R2021F1A18 (536) (115) 1,107 456
Charged/(credited) to s/ Gt B
profit or loss (Note 11) (fizt11) 457 99 (523) 33
At31December2021and  R2021E12 4318 R
1 January 2022 2022%1818 (79) (16) 584 439
(Credited)/charged to (FTA)/ 1k BEE
profit or loss (Note 11) (B 11) 79 16 (584) (489)
At 31 December 2022 202412 A31R - - - -

SRERZEREEGRAT / — S FFH
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23

24

AU BREM T

DEFERRED INCOME TAX LIABILITIES

(Continued)

At 31 December 2022, the Group did not recognise deferred
income tax assets of approximately RMB1,513,000 (2021:
RMB1,251,000) in respect of unutilised tax losses amounting to
approximately RMB10,086,000 (2021: RMB8,339,000) that can
be carried forward against future taxable income with expiry
within 5 years due to the unpredictability of future profit
streams.

At 31 December 2022, the Group has unrecognised deferred
tax liabilities of RMB10,234,000 (2021: RMB9,566,000) in relation
to withholding tax on undistributed profits of RMB102,341,000
(2021: RMB95,669,000) of the Group’s subsidiary in the PRC as
the Company is in a position to control the dividend policy of
this subsidiary and no distribution of such profits is expected to
be declared by them in the foreseeable future.

Except for the disclosed above, the Group does not have any
other material temporary differences at the end of the
reporting period (2021: nil).

AMOUNT DUE TO A DIRECTOR

The amount due to a director is unsecured, interest-free and
has not fixed terms of repayment.
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ELEFEHEE®w)

R2022F 12831 H - @R EETRR R R
M AR - AN B 3 R B R A DR B R
REFAE RTINS RE) A BIA
EE A AR 10,086,0007T (20214 : AR
% 8,339,000 7T ) FERIE L PRIS BB E A
FR#1,513,0007(20214F = AKR#1,251,000
JT) °

202212 A31H » REERAEBR
FEMKBRARMNERDIESFARE
102,341,000 7T (2021 4F = A R ¥ 95,669,000
TRBHHEESAEAECHBEEEAR
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25 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 25 ZEFIBIoMWERITA

2022 2021
20225 2021 4F
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®TT ARETT

Financial assets EMEE
At fair value BAFE
Financial assets at FVTPL BAFEFABENEREE 6,093 6,000
At amortised cost REEEE
Trade and other receivables B 5N E A fE KA 103,195 58,061
Bond measured at amortised cost LA SR AN ET 2 E S - 40,000
Cash and cash equivalents HERIRESEEY 55,530 68,162
158,725 166,223
164,818 172,223
Financial liabilities eRMAE
At amortised cost BREMERE
Trade and other payables 2 5 R E MR FIE 24,973 43,032
Lease liabilities HEAE 7,592 9,623
Amount due to a director BT ESERIE 2,388 -
34,953 52,655
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26 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND 26 BHAERZ KRG
BALANCES
(@) Transactions with related parties (a) EEAEEH RS
During the year, the Group entered into the following RER - REBRT AT E K B
significant related party transactions: R
2022 2021
2022 20214
RMB’'000 RMB'000

AR®TT ARETT

Repayment of principal and interest [ Bt EETE?'?H 740
element of lease payments paid to e R EED *
related parties* 653 495

Interest expenses on lease liabilities N T W E &G

charged by related parties* BRI * 21 43
Purchase of consumer goods MR RREAEE @
from shareholder - 384
* Related parties represent directors/key management personnel of * W HIERARRIESE ETEEBAEBR
the Company and their close family members. BEZEHRRE -
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26 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND 26

BALANCES (continued)

(b) Balances with related parties

Details of outstanding balances with related parties are
disclosed in the consolidated statement of financial

position and in notes 17(b) and 24.

() Key management compensation (©)
Key management includes the directors and senior

management of the Group.

Compensation of key management personnel of the
Group, including directors’ remunerations as disclosed in

(b) EEREEGETT EVAEER

HARANE H R ER A BRFER
SRR BH i 17(0) R 24 E -

Bﬁﬂ%ﬁ?&%&nﬂﬁ?(ﬁ )

R A Bt

IEEEERERASEEENEARE

TEERAEME
BE -
AEETEE

BEABHM(BRERER
SHBmRMTE 8@ P RENEEH

Note 8(a) to the consolidated financial statements, are as )
follows:
2022 2021
20225 2021 4
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥®TT ARBTT
Fees, wages and salaries and We - TEA R ©AREAERL
other allowances 4,182 3,545
Contribution to defined contribution  FEE Skt &)tk
plans 113 238
4,295 3,783

SRERZEREEGRAT / — S FFH

221



222

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continuea)
A R RE I e

27 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

27 FREBRERERMTE

(@) Cash generated from operations () KEFMELRSE
2022 2021
20225 20214
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
Bz AR®TR ARBEFIT
Loss before income tax BRETS R ATE R (1,050) (21,082)
Adjustments for: BTN RIEME L g
Depreciation of property, ME - BEREETE
plant and equipment 14 1,295 1,912
Depreciation of right-of-use CREESERE
assets 15(b) 3,558 9,658
Impairment of property, M - BEREERE
plant and equipment 14 - 16,479
Loss on disposal of property, LEME - BE&
plant and equipment REER 9 6 47
Unrealised exchange losses REIEE R 253 342
Interest income from RITHFERFEHA
bank deposits 7 (801) (762)
Interest income on bond B ARG 2R ES
measured at amortised cost SORRSEON 7 (1,274) (664)
Interest income from FEN EFF B A
loan receivables 7 (1,344) -
Interest income on HEZRSFBMA
rental deposits 7 (39) (90)
Finance costs BB AR 10 427 1,963
Gain on early termination of RELIEHEENKE
lease 7 1) (2,291)
Gain on lease modification AE sl 7 (11) -
Unrealised gain on fair value BAFEFABENSR
change of financial assets BEXNTEZEN
at FVPL REFRI (93) -
Operating profit before working — &E& 4284 E
capital changes il 926 5,512
Changes in working capital: LELESE
Trade and other receivables 2 5 I H Ath FEU IR 17,534 (15,505)
Trade and other payables B 5K E N FRIE (17,511) 16,638
Rental deposits HEZES 195 -
Amount due to a director FEfEERE 2,317 -
Cash generated from operations &&REAIR S 3,461 6,645
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27 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED 27 HZEBERERMT @
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (continued)
(b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from b) BEEHELNEEHE

financing activities

Bank Lease
borrowing liabilities
HMITE®R HEAR
RMB'000 RMB'000

ARBET T ARBETT

As at 1 January 2021 #2021¥181H 10,000 51,641
Non-cash movements: JEE S EEH :
— Recognition of lease liabilities —HRAMEEE - 526
— Adjustment arising from —REEZILHEEEENAR
early termination of lease - (27,573)
— Adjustment arising from — RS BERELNRE
lease modification - (5,721)
— Interest expenses on —HEAENFERX
lease liabilities - 1,389
— Interest expenses on — RITEFRFERXZ
bank borrowing 574 -
Net cash outflow W Fmd (10,574) (10,639)
At 31 December 2021 and #2021%F12A318 %
1 January 2022 20225£1A1H - 9,623
Non-cash movements: IS -
— Recognition of lease liabilities —ERHERE - 1,587
— Adjustment arising from early — BRI RS EANTEE
termination of lease - (39)
— Adjustment arising from — HEEWEE A
lease modification - (95)
— Interest expenses on —HEAEMNMNERS
lease liabilities - 427
Net cash outflow HeEmH - (3,911)
At 31 December 2022 7#2022%12H831H - 7,592
28 CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 28 BEAREIE
As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, the Group did not have any R2022F k202112 A31H » A&EE I
significant capital commitment. EEMERERNFLE -
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29 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND 29
RESERVE MOVEMENTS OF THE COMPANY

RRATRMBRARRREEEE

(@) Statement of financial position of the @ ARAIFERARK
company
2022 2021
20225 20214
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
Kiat AR®BTT ARET T
ASSETS EE
Non-current assets FRBHEE
Property, plant and equipment  #% - &&= NEE 1,820 -
Investments in subsidiaries AU B AT HIRE 53,551 53,509
Total non-current assets JFiEIEEEE 55,371 53,509
Current assets REEE
Other receivables Hﬁm‘éuﬁz* - 707
Amounts due from subsidiaries  fEUs i B A T FIE 7,722 -
Cash and cash equivalents HeEEBES M,\#@ 247 13,182
Total current assets mEEERE 7,969 13,889
Total assets BEHRE 63,340 67,398
EQUITY a2
Share capital i 21 8,139 7,450
Reserve i 29(b) 41,431 37,347
Total equity Bans 49,570 44,797
LIABILITIES af&
Current liabilities mENERE
Other payables and accruals HtEARIERESEA 4,994 1
Amount due to a director EREERIE 2,388 -
Amounts due to subsidiaries AL NG 6,388 22,600
Total current liabilities mEEREE 13,770 22,601
Total liabilities AfRYE 13,770 22,601
Total equity and liabilities #&R&EEE 63,340 67,398
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(Continued)

29 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND 29

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continvea

RAAPBRRERRE R B

RESERVE MOVEMENTS OF THE COMPANY (&)
(b) Reserve movements of the Company (b) ARFIFEEE
Share Other Share  Accumulated
premium reserve option losses Total
KRR 0| Tk RHER #it
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREFTL ARETT ARETT ARETTL ARETT
At 1 January 2021 R20215181A 37,763 20,09 5612 (36,530 2690
Loss and total comprenensive  ZREERZEEE
loss for the year ek - - - (2630) (2,630
Transactions with owners ~ EEEANXS
Issue of shares through share — EBRAZHLTRA
subscription (Note 21(a)i) WEXE) 12397 - - - 12,397
Issue of Shares upon exercise  RiTEBERIEMETRG
of share options (Note 22) (W) 975 - (339) - 640
At31December2021and  R2021%128318R
1 January 2022 2022%1A18 51,135 20,095 5211 (39,160) 31,341
Loss and total comprehensive  £REER2TER
expense for the year et - - - (7,701) (7,701)
Transactions with owners ~ EEFANT R
Issue of shares throughshare— EARGEEZFRD
placing (Note 21(3)() (E2E0) 11,785 - - - 11,785
At 31 December 2022 #2022%128 318 62,920 20,095 5271 (46,861) 4,431

HREFEREBERAR/ — T~ —F5RH
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30 SUBSIDIARIES
Details of the principal subsidiaries of the Company as at 31
December 2022 and 2021 are as follows. Unless otherwise
stated, they have share capital consisting solely of ordinary
shares and the proportion of ownership interests held equals
the voting rights held by the Group.

Issued and

fully paid

Place of incorporation ordinary share

Name of subsidiaries and kind of legal entity capital

HMSRR E2RTR

il VNGIEE EAERER BEHERE

30

Bt E 2 7

20224 202112 A31 A AR A8 £
EWBRRIERIIT - BRBFIEBAIN -
ZEMBARMBRANERIEL A - BAT
BREEESEIISRAEEZENRE
E o

Equity interest
attributable Principal
to the Group activities

FREmGRE EERE
2022 2021

2022 20215

Indirectly held by the Company:

FRTHERS

Guangzhou World-Link The PRC, RMB30,000,000
(Note i) limited liability company

EMREEF (M2t HE - BRAR AR

30,000,000t

Goal Rise Logistics (Egypt) Egypt, EGPS50,000
Limited limited liability company

EF R (R R)BERAR Y YN 50,0004 & 45

Notes:

(i) Unless otherwise stated, the principal place of operation of each
company is the same as its place of incorporation.

(i) The English name represents the best effort of the Group’s management

to translate its Chinese name, as the subsidiary does not have official
English name.
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100% 100% Provision of transportation,
warehousing, in-plant
logistics and
customisation services

100% 100% fRftESR - & BAMR
Rt BR

100% 100% Provision of transportation
services

100% 100% HREERRY

() BREEES BRI BEE LRI
ATt B -

(ii) F %P B A R E AR A - BTy
AEBERERESASNBEE A -



Financial Summary

BT TSR 2

A summary of the results, and of the assets and liabilities of the

ERARBENAEREMBRFENREAREER

Group for the last five financial years, as extracted from the BEHRE (HiEEC TIENEERGAPBERER)
published audited consolidated financial statements is set out below:  #5a1T :
RESULTS E
For the year ended 31 December
BE12A3MBLEE
2018 2019 2020 2021 2022
20184 20194 20204 20214 2022 %
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB’000
ARETFIT AREBTT ARETT ARETT AR®TR
Revenue Wz 211,271 209,750 185,198 211,779 179,483
(Loss)/profit before income tax B ETERIAT (E518) 30,270 15,956 7,014 (21,082) (1,050)
i )
Income tax credit/(expense) FrisfiEe,/ (Fx) (8,033) (6,635) (4,5517) 3,980 880
(Loss)/profit for the year FR(EE),HF 22,237 9,321 2,463 (17,102) (170)
Attributable to: A& RE(
— owners of the Company —AREEBA 22,237 9,321 2,463 (17,102) (170)
— non-controlling interests — JEfE R RE - - - _ _
22,237 9,321 2,463 (17,102) (170)

HEREBZEREBARAT/ —T - —FFH
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Financial Summary continueo)
B L

As at 31 December

#¥12H831H
2018 2019 2020 2021 2022
2018 4F 2019 4 20204 20214 2022 %
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETT ARETT AREBTT AR®TRT
Total assets BEAE 155,204 235,602 228,026 184,546 179,207
Total liabilities BeE (38,362) (109,439) (93,788) (53,917) (35,199)
Net assets BEFE 116,842 126,163 134,238 130,629 144,008
Equity attributable to the ZA/NCIE ZEUN
owners of the Company FE(ERERS 116,842 126,163 134,238 130,629 144,008
Note: Hiat -

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Group had first applied HKFRS 9 and
HKFRS 15. The Group has applied HKFRS 9 in accordance with the transition provisions
set out in HKFRS 9 and has not applied the requirements to instruments that have
already been derecognised as at 1 January 2018 and has applied HKFRS 15
retrospectively with the cumulative effect of initially applying this standard recognised at
the date of initial application (i.e. 1 January 2018). Accordingly, certain financial
information for the year ended 31 December 2017 as set out above may not be
comparable to the years ended 31 December 2022, 2021, 2020, 2019 and 2018 as such
comparative information was prepared under HKAS 18 and HKAS 39.

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group has applied HKFRS 16 for the first
time and has elected the applicable practical expedient for not reassess contracts which
already existed prior to the date of initial application (i.e. 1 January 2019). The financial
information as set out above for the years ended 31 December 2018 and 2017 have
therefore not been restated on initial application of HKFRS 16.
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HE2018F12A3MBILFE - FEBEGRERBEEMBMELE
AR RBAUBREERNE 5% - XAEFEBREBEFEUH
HELRF RN BERXERAE B BHRELRNEIH -
AWEiEZSRERAN2018F1 A 1ARKRILEHERNITA - I
BENERABBIMBREENFE 5% MEXERAZEINR
HEERERERBH(AN2018F 1 A1 B)#R - AL EXFr
HHE201T7F12ANBUEFENE THBEERRMSAIEEE
20224F ~ 20214F ~ 20204 ~ 2019 4F K 2018412 A31 B L F F
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